United Nations CRC/c/NZL/3-4



Distr.: General 14 June 2010

Original: English

Committee on the Rights of the Child

Consideration of reports submitted by States parties under article 44 of the Convention

Third and fourth periodic reports of States parties due in 2008

New Zealand*

[11 November 2008]

^{*} In accordance with the information transmitted to States parties regarding the processing of their reports, the present document was not formally edited before being sent to the United Nations translation services.

Minister's foreword

E ngaa mana, e ngaa reo, e ngaa karangatangamaha, tihei mauri ora!

'Naa tou rourou, naaku te rourou, ka ora te iwi' (With your contribution and my contribution the people will be sustained)

I, the Hon Nanaia Mahuta, Minister of Youth Affairs, along with my colleagues, welcome this opportunity to provide New Zealand's third (and fourth consolidated) report. It is timely to reflect on what has been achieved, through changes to legislation, policy and practice, to improve the lives of children and young people residing in New Zealand since the last report was submitted in 2000. The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child provides a valuable framework to monitor and assess progress.

The obligations that underpin this Convention are taken seriously, as they reinforce the duty that all adults and systems that interact with children and young people have – that is, to look after their best interests, treat them with respect and listen to their concerns.

We value all children and young people and place a great deal of importance on their doing well in a range of settings – and, as this report shows, this generally is the case. This has been achieved through significant and sustained investment to ensure that solid foundations are in place so all children and young people in New Zealand can achieve their full potential. Investments have been made in many areas and include:

- Education, from early childhood through to tertiary, with the provision of 20 hours per week of free early childhood care for all three to four year olds, initiatives to improve secondary school retention with a focus on improved education outcomes for Maaori and Pacific
- **Health**, through providing free access to primary health care for all under six year olds and children of low income families and lowering the cost for all others, and a range of targeted initiatives to improve health outcomes immunisation, oral health, contraception, encouraging healthy eating and healthy activity
- Care and protection, through substantive reform leading to improved responsiveness and increased professionalism
- Family support, through a comprehensive income assistance package to assist families with children (Working for Families), providing increased and enhanced parenting programmes and a range of universal and targeted support services with a particular focus on the elimination of violence in families, including removal of reasonable force as a defence for a parent or guardian correcting or disciplining their child

Government's contribution is only part of the story. Vital contributors to improved outcomes are families/whaanau, the foundation on which we rely to nurture our children and young people. This work could not be done without the contribution of the non-government sector and advocacy organisations, philanthropic organisations, and the private sector through socially responsible businesses. This contribution is valued, acknowledged and respected.

No reira teenaa koutou katoa

Contents

			Paragraphs	Page
	Mir	nister's foreword		2
I.	Intr	oduction	1–7	6
	Dev	velopment of this report	8–19	6
II.	Ger	neral measures of implementation	20–98	8
	A.	Reservations and declarations	22-50	9
	B.	Legislation (art. 4)	51-54	14
	C.	Coordination and national plans of action	55–61	17
	D.	Independent monitoring	62–68	18
	E.	Resources for children (art. 4)	69–72	19
	F.	International cooperation (art. 4)	73–78	20
	G.	Data collection	79–91	21
	H.	Training and dissemination of the Convention (arts. 42 and 44)	92–97	24
	I.	Factors and difficulties	98	25
III.	Def	inition of the child	99–112	25
	A.	Definition of the child (art. 1)	99–111	25
	B.	Factors and difficulties	112	28
IV.	General principles		113–149	28
	A.	Non-discrimination (art. 2)	113–123	28
	B.	Best interests (art. 3)	124–126	30
	C.	The right to life, survival and development (art. 6)	127	30
	D.	Respect for the views of the child (art. 12)	128–148	31
	E.	Factors and difficulties	149	34
V.	Civ	il rights and freedoms	150–187	34
	A.	Name and nationality (art. 7)	150-153	34
	B.	Preservation of identity (arts. 30 and 8)	154–162	35
	C.	Freedom of expression (art. 13)	163	36
	D.	Freedom of thought, conscience and religion (art. 14)	164	36
	E.	Freedom of association and of peaceful assembly (art. 15)	165	37
	F.	Protection of privacy (art. 16)	166–170	37
	G.	Access to appropriate information (art. 17)	171–180	38
	H.	The right not to be subjected to torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment (art. 37(a))	181–185	39
	I.	Factors and difficulties	186–187	40

VI.	Fan	nily environment and alternative care	188–257	40
	A.	Alternative care	189–197	40
	В.	Parental guidance (art. 5)	198–202	43
	C.	Parental responsibilities (art. 18)	203-211	44
	D.	Separation from parents (art. 9)	212-214	45
	E.	Family reunification (art. 10)	215–219	46
	F.	Recovery of maintenance for the child (art. 27)	220-224	47
	G.	Adoption (art. 21)	225–226	47
	H.	Illicit transfer and non-return (art. 11)	227–233	48
	I.	Abuse and neglect (art. 19), including physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration (art. 39)	234–251	49
	J.	Corporal punishment (art. 19)	252–256	52
	K.	Factors and difficulties	257	52
VII.	Bas	ic health and welfare	258–330	53
	A.	Child health	258–282	53
	B.	Adolescent health	283-301	57
	C.	Standard of living (art. 27)	302-314	61
	D.	Social security and child care services facilities (arts. 26 and 18)	315–327	63
	E.	Factors and difficulties	328-330	65
VIII.	Education, leisure and cultural activities		331–415	65
	A.	Education	331–364	65
	B.	Education, including vocational training and guidance (art. 28)	365–374	71
	C.	Aims of education (art. 29) with reference to quality of education	375–409	73
	D.	Rest, leisure, recreation and cultural activities (art. 31)	410–413	77
	E.	Factors and difficulties	414–415	78
IX.	Special protection measures		416–455	78
	A.	Children in situations of emergency (arts. 22, 38 and 39)	416–426	78
	B.	Children in conflict with the law (arts. 37, 39 and 40)	427–439	80
	C.	Children in situations of exploitation, abuse and neglect including physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration (arts. 32–36 and 39)	440–451	82
	D.	Factors and difficulties	452–455	84
X.	Disability		456–474	85
	A.	Overview	456–472	85
	B.	Factors and difficulties	473–474	88

XI.	Opt	ional Protocols to the Convention on the Rights of the Child	475–491	88
	A.	Follow-up: concluding observations on the second periodic report	475–477	88
	B.	Follow-up: concluding observations on involvement of children in armed conflict	478–491	89
Glossary				92
Annexes				95
1.	Sun	nmary demographics of children in New Zealand		95
2.	Chi	ldren and Young People: Indicators of Well-being in New Zealand		97
3.	Stat	istical information as per United Nations Guidelines		104

I. Introduction

- 1. New Zealand welcomes the opportunity to provide its consolidated third and fourth report to the Committee on the Rights of the Child. The report covers the period January 2001 to October 2008 and follows on from the second periodic report submitted in 2000 (CRC/C/93/Add.4). It should be read in light of this document and New Zealand's constructive dialogue with the Committee in September 2003 (see CRC/C/SR.896 and 897).
- 2. This report sets out the substantial and comprehensive range of measures including legislative, judicial, and administrative adopted during the review period to give effect to the provisions and underlying principles of the Convention on the Rights of the Child. The report also addresses the recommendations made following consideration of New Zealand's second report (CRC/C/15/Add.216).
- 3. Given that this report covers an eight-year reporting period, the approach taken is not to provide an exact historical record of each and every activity initiated during this time. Rather, it focuses on the most relevant and/or current initiatives being undertaken to improve outcomes for children and young people living in New Zealand.
- 4. Importantly, descriptions of all relevant steps taken to progress the lifting of New Zealand's three reservations to the Convention are provided.
- 5. The framework for implementing the recommendations of the Committee on the Rights of the Child was provided by a five-year work programme (2004–2008), adopted by government in 2004. Although not all matters identified in the New Zealand work programme have been achieved, good progress has been made.
- 6. The work programme on the Convention has also provided a focus for engagement with New Zealanders, in particular the non-government sector, and also directly with children and young people themselves. Embedded in this report are the comments and voices of children and young people who, over the last eight years, have contributed to policy development, or participated, locally in youth councils, nationally in the Youth Parliament, or internationally in the General Assembly of the United Nations.
- 7. New Zealand looks forward to being able to address, in detail, any of the matters canvassed in this report during its presentation to the Committee on the Rights of the Child.

Development of this report

- 8. This report closely follows the form and structure specified in the Committee's most recent guidelines (CRC/C/58/Rev.1). It has been prepared by the Ministry of Youth Development, the Ministry responsible for co-ordinating activity related to the Convention on the Rights of the Child. The Ministry's roles include all reporting, providing expert advice, maintaining relationships with individuals, national and international organisations with an interest in children's rights and being a portal for the dissemination of information on the Convention.
- 9. Initial preparation for this report began following receipt of the Committee's observations and 26 recommendations in October 2003. An audit was conducted, identifying where current and new government activity would respond to, or align with, the recommendations. In addition initiatives not specifically responding to recommendations, but of relevance to monitoring implementation of the Convention, were also identified. Throughout the reporting period, the government has been committed to facilitating a clear

and transparent programme of activity that would enable interested parties to better understand what was being done, facilitate participation and monitor progress.

- 10. Following the audit in 2004, the government approved an over-arching five-year work programme (2004–2008) on the Convention, which contained 28 work programme items with corresponding milestones. The work programme (along with other key Convention documents) was put on the Ministry of Youth Development's websites (www.myd.govt.nz and www.uncroc.govt.nz). Annual reporting was required under the work programme and this allowed for progress to be noted and milestones changed. The final five-year work programme had 29 work programme items, and had been reported on four times. A significant number of milestones were set and achieved.
- 11. A forum was held in mid-2006 to provide information to non-government agencies on items on the work programme for the Convention. Twenty government departments either participated in an 'expo' or presented up-to-date information on relevant initiatives in education, health, and care and protection. Over 65 non-government organisations with an interest in aspects of child and youth well-being and rights attended. Alongside this, there was a youth stream on the Convention. The forum was successful, with all participants increasing their understanding of the Convention.
- 12. The Ministry of Youth Development has also facilitated dialogue on the Convention with a group of non-government and statutory agencies with an interest in children's rights. The Convention on the Rights of the Child Advisory Group consists of the Office of the Children's Commissioner, the Human Rights Commission, UNICEF, Save the Children, Youthlaw, and members of Action for Children and Youth Aotearoa Incorporated (ACYA), a coalition of non-government organisations and individuals interested in children's rights in New Zealand. ACYA co-ordinated the non-government report to the Committee in 2003, and have started preparing the non-government report for this reporting period.
- 13. Over the last five years, the Advisory Group has met at least twice a year and more often when required, providing advice and assisting in the development of all Convention-related activity, including reporting. For instance, it collaborated on the design of the forum on the Convention as well as actively participating in the event. It has had opportunities to provide input on all the processes associated with preparing this report, including information gathering processes, consultation design and comment on preliminary drafts in April and July. Its input and feedback has been invaluable and is welcomed. The relationship has grown over the last five years and a 'no surprises' policy is a key element of the relationship. This has enabled free and frank discussions leading to improved information flow both ways.
- 14. The public launch of this report was announced in November 2007, at the celebration of the 18th birthday of the Convention, jointly hosted by UNICEF and Wellington City Council as a member of Child-Friendly Cities and Communities. Since early 2008, government and relevant statutory agencies have supplied information to the Ministry of Youth Development, which has co-ordinated all aspects of the report. Ministers considered a draft report prior to release for targeted consultation in September. At the same time, the "Children and Young People: Indicators of Wellbeing in New Zealand 2008" report, which provided supporting statistical information, was released (high-level summary in appendix 2).
- 15. Preparation for public consultation included placing information in key relevant newsletters on the consultation time frames. This provided an opportunity for interested individuals and organisations to register their interest to receive information, once released. This was done utilising both government and the non-government networks. In addition, networks of children and young people have been used to do the same this includes links

into all schools, various youth-targeted health and social service networks, and local youth councils

- 16. The report was open for public consultation for a four-week period over September and October. During this time, it was made available on the Ministry of Youth Development website, with hard copies available on request. An on-line submission form was available for use to supplement written submissions. In addition, it was acknowledged that information received through the consultation process would be supplied where relevant to ACYA, as they prepare the non-government report. Overall, the draft Convention report was well received as a comprehensive overview of government activity undertaken during the reporting period.
- 17. Submissions provided valuable feedback, which has been incorporated into the report where relevant. Many submitters used the process to highlight and raise their concerns in regard to the nature and extent of government activity. Key areas of focus were the reservations to the Convention and the incorporation of t into domestic legislation. Many provided alternative policy options, with a focus on setting firmer targets for the reduction of poverty and health and education outcomes for Mäori, Pacific and disabled children and young people. Additionally, submitters sought alternative emphasis be given to initiatives in the report, in particular, increased attention on the fact that New Zealand has removed reasonable force as a defence for a parent/guardian correcting or disciplining a child. As many of these concerns are more appropriately addressed in the non-government report, the relevant submissions have been provided to ACYA to incorporate into their process. There was some concern expressed that the period of public consultation was insufficient, although it was also recognised that organisations are able to submit their own alternative reports to the Committee itself. This procedural suggestion will be factored into the preparation of New Zealand's next periodic report.
- 18. Although children and young people's networks had opportunities to comment on the draft report, no such comments have been received. Children and young people did, however, contribute to some organisational submissions. The Auckland Region of the United Nations Youth Association of New Zealand, with the support of ACYA, submitted a comprehensive report, Youth Declaration 2008, to the Minister of Youth Affairs in April 2008, which was accepted as an early submission. Additionally, a separate consultation process is planned which seeks the views of a wide range of children and young people on their rights. The details of this process are yet to be finalised but will be jointly supported by members of the Convention on the Rights of the Child Advisory Group and the Ministry of Youth Development for submission to the Committee along with the non-government report.
- 19. Going forward, dialogue will continue with the Advisory Group and the submissions received will provide an opportunity to dialogue with a wider group of interested individuals. This will be important as in designing a revitalised work programme, there will be opportunities to look for joint work with the sector and to extend this, where possible, to include children and young people.

II. General measures of implementation

- 20. This report, in its totality, demonstrates the significant effort and commitment of the government and the public sector over the last eight years to give better effect to UNCROC and, more specifically, to address the Committee's recommendations.
- 21. Progress has also been made towards withdrawing reservations. New Zealand takes its international obligations seriously and has recently re-iterated an overall commitment to working towards the withdrawal of reservations to human rights treaties. Although progress

has been made, New Zealand is not yet in a position to withdraw the reservations to UNCROC.

A. Reservations and declarations

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 7:

In accordance with the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action of 1993, the Committee recommends that the State party:

- (a) Expedite the changes in legislation and administrative procedures necessary for the withdrawal of its general reservation and the reservations to articles 32, paragraph 2 and 37 (c);
- (b) Continue its discussions with the people of Tokelau with a view to extending the application of the Convention to their territory.
- 22. New Zealand is committed to working towards progressively withdrawing its reservations to human rights treaties as appropriate over time.

1. Children unlawfully in New Zealand (general reservation to art. 2)

- 23. Since the last report, significant work has been undertaken into analysing whether New Zealand continues to need its general reservation to the Convention. As part of this work, New Zealand has taken steps to ensure that levels of access to education align with the Convention and considers that current access to health services for both children and expectant mothers is also compliant. Consideration of levels of access to social assistance and housing is currently being undertaken.
- 24. Steps taken during the reporting period demonstrate that New Zealand is committed to protecting the rights of all children, and takes into account the particular vulnerabilities of unlawful migrant children when assessing whether there is an ongoing need for the reservation. However, there are other legitimate concerns, such as effective immigration controls and resource constraints, that also need to be taken into account. New Zealand also notes that other States have restricted the effect of the Convention in regards to children unlawfully in their territories based on similar justifications.
- 25. More certainty as to New Zealand's position will be available at the time of New Zealand's dialogue with the Committee.
- 26. In 2003, the Government agreed to lift the general reservation subject to reports from the Ministries of Health and Education setting out changes required to facilitate compliance. In 2005, the Government agreed that current eligibility settings for access to publicly funded health and disability services for children, and maternity services for pregnant women, were compatible with the Convention.
- 27. A legislative impediment to accessing education services exists under the current Immigration Act 1987, as Section 6 of that Act makes it illegal for a school to knowingly enrol a child who is unlawfully in New Zealand. This said, the offence provisions relating to the enrolment of children unlawfully in New Zealand have rarely, if ever, been exercised, and the immigration authorities do not actively target school-aged children not lawfully in New Zealand. In recognition of this impediment to accessing education, this issue was considered as part of the 2006 fundamental review of the Immigration Act 1987. New legislation, the Immigration Bill, proposes to remove the current offence provisions against education providers who allow a child (19 years and under) unlawfully in New Zealand to undertake compulsory education. This will remove a current deterrent for schools, allowing them to provide access to compulsory education to all children, regardless of their

immigration status. The Bill was before the House prior to the dissolution of Parliament on 3 October 2008.

- 28. In addition, the 2007 introduction of an electronic enrolment and tracking system for all children enrolling in schools has meant that both schools and parents/guardians, may be deterred from enrolling children whose immigration status is in question due to the requirement to provide documentation. In its first full year of operation, approximately 1,500 children have been unable to present suitable documentation, although not all of these are children unlawfully in New Zealand.
- 29. An interim measure has been put in place to address the deterrent effect of the current Immigration Act offence, and the documentation requirement under the recent electronic system. Limited Purpose Permits have been designed to enable schools to provide education to children unlawfully in New Zealand without the threat of enforcement until new Immigration legislation is passed. Limited Purpose Permits can be granted under Section 35A of the Immigration Act 1987, providing a statutory mechanism to grant a permit to a person who is unlawfully in New Zealand and not otherwise able to apply for any permit. Granting of the permit is conditional on steps being taken to regularise immigration status. New Zealand considers that this is the most cost-effective way to balance maintaining effective immigration controls, managing concerns around the protection of New Zealand's fee-paying foreign student education industry and taking into account the rights of children. The interim arrangements will no longer be required if amendments (which were part of the Immigration Bill before the House when Parliament was dissolved on 3 October 2008) are enacted in the following form:

• Compulsory education means education that is:

- (a) Provided at any primary, intermediate, composite, secondary or special school (within the meaning of the Education Act 1989), whether State, private or integrated;
- (b) Provided to a person at any time during the period beginning on the person's fifth birthday and ending on 1 January following the person's 19th birthday;
- Clause 315 (Offences by education providers) provides that:
 - (c) No person commits an offence under subsection (1) by reason of allowing, or continuing to allow, a child who is not entitled to study in New Zealand to undertake compulsory education.
- 30. Following enactment, the Ministry of Education will put in place a process to enable children unlawfully in New Zealand to be treated as domestic students for the purpose of enrolment at school.
- 31. The Government's view is that there are legitimate concerns that need to be taken into account when considering withdrawal of the reservation, such as resource implications and effective immigration controls. Steps taken to address access to education demonstrate that New Zealand is committed to protecting the rights of all children, and that it takes into account the particular vulnerabilities of unlawful migrant children when making these assessments. New Zealand also notes that other States have restricted the effect of the Convention in regards to children unlawfully in their territories based on similar objective and reasonable justifications.

2. Minimum age of access to employment (art. 32(2))

32. The Committee has recommended that New Zealand's policy and law on child labour be reviewed and that New Zealand consider ratifying ILO Convention No. 138

concerning Minimum Age for Admission to Employment.

- 33. New Zealand's consistent approach is that our existing policy and legislative framework already provides effective age thresholds for entry into work in general, and for safe work. The framework that makes up the New Zealand approach includes the:
 - Education Act 1989 which requires children to attend school until the age of 16, with limited exemptions (for attending alternative education or training). The Education Act also prohibits employers from employing children under 16 during school hours or when it would interfere with their attendance at school.
 - Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 which sets out duties to provide safe workplaces, manage workplace hazards, and ensure appropriate supervision protects the health and safety of people at work. It applies to all workers, regardless of age. The Health and Safety in Employment Regulations 1995 restrict young people under 15 from working in dangerous workplaces (such as manufacturing, construction sites, tree felling), and from doing hazardous work (such as working with machines and mobile plant, and heavy lifting). They also restrict people under 16 from night work.
 - Prostitution Reform Act 2003 decriminalises prostitution but prohibits the use of
 persons under 18 years of age in prostitution. In addition, the Act makes it an
 offence to arrange for, or to receive commercial sexual services, from a person under
 18.
 - Sale of Liquor Act 1989 bans people under 18 from selling liquor in licensed premises.
- 34. The effectiveness of New Zealand's current framework in protecting children from exploitative or excessive hours of employment was confirmed following research undertaken by the Department of Labour in 2002 and 2003. This research found that part-time employment among school-age children (which falls into the category of light work) is widespread, not harmful, and in the main, well regulated by health and safety regulations and education legislation.
- 35. Allowing children and young people to undertake paid employment is generally seen by New Zealanders as beneficial. This is the view of children and young people also, who appear not to favour restrictions by age on their ability to work. This is illustrated by comments from children in surveys such as the *Young People and Work 2003* survey by Gasson et al and Caritas Aotearoa New Zealand's 2003 survey, *Protecting Children at Work*. These surveys show that children under age 13 are working. In the *Young People and Work 2003* survey of Auckland school age children, around 20 percent of 11 year olds said they were working (on average only 5.8 hours per week in activities such as household jobs and delivering papers). Most children in this survey were against the introduction of a blanket minimum age for employment, and most of those who did suggest a minimum age suggested either their own age or younger.
- 36. The Glasson and Caritas research did find some examples of school children working unsupervised, getting injuries, working to supplement the family income, and earning very low pay. The research also found that children have a general lack of awareness about their employment rights and whether or not their employers are complying (confirmed by a more recent study of school-aged children in New Plymouth).
- 37. To remedy these issues, a comprehensive Children's Employment Work Programme was put in place in 2004. The Children's Employment Work Programme includes:
 - An information strategy for the public and for agencies who work with children to improve awareness of existing children's employment rights and protections

- Measures to improve children's ability to enforce their employment rights, and raise issues about children's employment
- Bringing children who work as contractors under the same Health and Safety in Employment regulations that apply to children as employees
- Options and recommendations on methods to monitor children's participation in work
- Reviewing the age threshold prohibiting hazardous work in the Health and Safety in Employment regulations, and whether to raise the age from 15 to 16 years
- Investigating workplace practices regarding 16 to 18 year olds, in hazardous work, particularly regarding training and supervision
- Examining ways to guarantee adequate meal and rest breaks for young people in work
- 38. Achievements to date, under the Children's Employment Work Programme include:
 - Raising awareness of regulations and rights with strategic campaigns, networking
 with youth publications and innovative ways of engaging young people. This has
 included a 'clock' heralding the introduction of the minimum wage changes, a
 comic-style fact sheet, a radio song competition, fact sheets in Mäori and Pacific
 languages, and an interactive forum on the Tearaway youth magazine website.
 Networking with schools, school publications and stakeholder groups has also taken
 place.
 - A review of the Health and Safety Regulations (currently under way). Approval was
 recently given to amend regulations to extend the age-based prohibitions on
 hazardous work to young people doing contract work. It places duties on principals
 similar to those that already apply to employers and will come into force in 2009.
 - Monitoring children in work. In mid-2007, the Department of Labour released the first of its Youth Labour Market Outcomes reports for monitoring children's participation in work and, in August 2008, produced regional specific reports.
 - Data collection to improve children's ability to enforce their rights. The Department
 of Labour has gathered information about what issues are being raised by young
 people (and those who make contact on behalf of young people).
- 39. In addition, consideration of New Zealand's ratification of ILO Convention No. 138 is ongoing and New Zealand has been engaged in an ongoing dialogue with the ILO over prospects for ratification of ILO Convention 138. As stated above, New Zealand considers that its existing policy and legislative frameworks provide effective age thresholds for entry into work and ensure that children only engage in safe work.

3. Age-mixing in detention (art. 37(c))

- 40. New Zealand has made significant progress towards removal of the reservation to article 37(c) of the Convention. In 2005, the Department of Corrections completed four specialist youth units in male prisons to ensure that there are sufficient beds to accommodate youth offenders separately from adults. The low number of female prisoners under the age of 18 makes a female youth unit facility unviable. However, females under the age of 18 are still separated from those 18 and over unless it is in their best interest to be mixed with older prisoners.
- 41. To further support alignment with article 37(c), a change to the Department of Corrections regulations in 2005 lowered the age threshold for youth from 20 to 18, with the result that young people under the age of 18 will not be mixed with older prisoners. At the

same time, a 'test of best interests' was developed to facilitate age-mixing of vulnerable 18 and 19 year olds with under 18-year olds, where this is in the best interests of the under-18 year olds. The rationale for designing this test was that for some vulnerable 18 and 19 year olds, residing in the youth unit remained in the best interests of the under-18 year olds, while also being better for the vulnerable 18 and 19 year olds, than being mixed with adults. For example, the test accommodates youth who turn 18 while in prison to remain in the youth unit providing the test continues to be met.

- 42. The 'test of best interests' was piloted during 2006/2007 in two youth units and evaluated in 2007, with some operational changes being made. It has now been rolled out to all prisons with youth units. The impact of the trial is that, although some age mixing occurs, a significant proportion of over-18 year olds are excluded and go into the adult prisons, as their presence in the youth unit is not in the best interests of the under-18 year olds. Regarding age-mixing in prisons, New Zealand is fully compliant with article 37(c).
- 43. In 2007, the Ministry of Justice undertook a comprehensive review of all the settings where young people are detained. It confirmed that New Zealand is compliant in the following areas: the Customs Service (border control), the Defence Force (imprisoning defence force personnel), and the Ministry of Health (mental health).
- 44. In addition, the Department of Corrections is currently fully compliant with article 37(c) regarding age-mixing of prisoners in transit outside prisons. This follows a directive issued by the Minister of Corrections in August 2006 that no prisoner aged 17 years or under is to be transported in the same vehicle compartment as prisoners aged 18 years and older.
- 45. Proposed amendments in the Immigration Bill, if enacted will ensure that the Department of Labour is compliant in regard to immigration-related detention. In addition, Police and the Department of Corrections are currently developing a joint protocol for the custody and transportation of young offenders.
- 46. Further work is required regarding custody settings, especially court cells (managed by the Ministry of Justice) and with Police transporting under-18 year olds to ensure full compliance with article 37(c). Both these agencies are working to achieve compliance as soon as is practicable. Using audiovisual links in court proceedings (reducing the number of prisoner/defendant transfers) and raising of the upper age to 18 years for young people, proposed in the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Amendment Bill (No. 6), which was being considered by Parliament at the time it was dissolved, are two key pieces of work that will offer opportunities to reduce age-mixing and improve compliance with the Convention.

Children should not be locked up with adults if they have committed a crime — we are worried that something bad could happen to the children — they could get hurt and be taught bad things by bad men. Children should be with other children, in a special kid's jail. Kids need a warning first and then go to a kid's jail to learn a lesson or have a home arrest so that they can still go to school and keep learning. [Room 9, Maungaraki School, (8–9 years old), education and discussion on the Convention on the Rights of the Child with UNICEF Advocacy Officer, 2007]

4. Tokelau

47. Tokelau held referenda on its political future in February 2006 and October 2007 and both times opted to retain its status as a non-self-governing territory administered by New Zealand. Consequently, New Zealand remains responsible at international law for the fulfilment of the obligations contained in treaties that it has applied to Tokelau.

- 48. The issue of the extension of the Convention to Tokelau has continued to be discussed in Tokelau and between New Zealand and Tokelau during the reporting period. However, Tokelau's primary focus has continued to be on the larger issues of its constitutional development. New Zealand continues to work with, and support, Tokelau to ensure that the provisions and protections afforded to children on the islands match as closely as possible those guaranteed to New Zealand children under the Convention. Tokelau has also adopted its own set of Human Rights Rules (2003), which provide that the individual human rights for the Tokelau people are those stated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and are reflected in the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights.
- 49. A core principle underpinning New Zealand's support for Tokelau is that the basic services available on the islands, such as healthcare and education, should be at least equivalent to those available in remote rural areas of New Zealand.
- 50. Since the referenda, Tokelau, with the full support of New Zealand, has been engaging in a period of reflection on how it can ensure its people's needs are met on each atoll through the strengthening of infrastructure and services. New Zealand and Tokelau continue to work together to strengthen and improve public services in Tokelau, including in the education sector for instance where teachers are being provided with training and information in relation to recent curriculum reform. Major work on upgrading essential infrastructure is well under way, and Tokelau continues to make progress in ensuring that each atoll is able to operate as a vibrant, forward-looking community.

B. Legislation (art. 4)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 9:

The Committee reiterates its recommendation that the State party initiate a comprehensive review of all legislation affecting children and take all necessary measures to harmonise its legislation with the principles and provisions of the Convention.

- 51. Prior to the ratification of the Convention on the Rights of the Child in 1993, New Zealand undertook a compliance assessment process to ensure consistency between existing legislation, and the principles and provisions of the Convention. The Government remains confident that there are mechanisms in place to ensure ongoing legislative reform takes full account of and, wherever possible, gives effect to the Convention. These mechanisms include the Ministry of Youth Development's role in providing advice to government on policy and legislative implications for New Zealand's commitments to, and obligations under the Convention.
- 52. All legislative reforms are also scrutinised to identify whether the proposals set out in those reforms are consistent with the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990 and the Human Rights Act 1993. Furthermore, departments are required to advise Cabinet if any of their policy proposals raise issues in terms of human rights.
- 53. Over the reporting period, efforts have been made to better align domestic legislation with the Convention, including the Care of Children Act 2004 and the Crimes (Substituted Section 59) Amendment Act 2007. Conformity with the Convention has also been an important focus for fundamental redrafting of the 1987 Immigration Act, and review of the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989, both of which resulted in Bills before the House when Parliament was dissolved on 3 October 2008.
- 54. The following table sets out legislation enacted over the reporting period that gives effect to the Convention.

Legislation	Effect
Part 2 Article 1	Marriage Amendment Act 2005 lowered the age at which people can marry without consent from 20 years to 18 years. Prior to this Act, people who were 18 and 19 needed consent to marry.
	Prostitution Reform Act 2003 decriminalises prostitution but prohibits using persons under 18 years in prostitution. It is an offence to arrange for or to receive commercial sexual services from a person under 18.
Part 3 Articles 3.1, 12, 19, 2, 7.1	Evidence Act 2006 allows witnesses under 12 years to give evidence without first having to swear an oath or make a formal affirmation. It also allows the judge to account for the witnesses' maturity when considering whether questions should be disallowed. It increases protection for children under 18 years giving evidence, and includes video-conferencing and protective screens, and restrictions on cross-examination.
	Status of Children Amendment Act 2007 introduces a new part into the Status of Children Act 1969 on the status of children conceived through certain assisted human reproductive procedures. A key purpose was to continue providing these children with certainty about their legal parents.
Parts 3 and 4 Articles 3.1, 13.1, 24.1, 8	Human Assisted Reproductive Technology Act 2004 provides for donor offspring to access donor information that is kept by the Registrar General and by providers.
Part 4 Articles 7, 13, 15, 3.1, 5, 9, 12, 12.2, 16, 17, 19, 34	Citizenship Act 1977 has new provisions that came into force on January 2006 and allow a child born in New Zealand on or after that date, to be a New Zealand citizen if at least one of his or her parents is a New Zealand citizen or is entitled to remain in New Zealand indefinitely (for example, a resident). For citizenship purposes, New Zealand includes the Cook Islands, Niue, Tokelau and the Ross Dependency.
	Corrections Act 2004 , Section 77 provides for minimum standards regarding phone calls for all prisoners, with r181(1) of the Corrections Regulations 2005, entitling a young prisoner to make one phone call per week in addition to the Section 77 entitlement.
	Care of Children Act 2004 requires that the welfare and best interests of the child must be a paramount consideration when the Family Court makes decisions and establishes seven principles for the Court to observe when making decisions about a child's welfare and best interests.
	Crimes (Intimate Covert Filming) Act 2006 creates three new offence provisions relating to making of an intimate visual recording, the possession of intimate visual recording, and the publishing, importing, exporting or selling of an intimate visual recording.
	Unsolicited Electronic Messages Act 2007 prohibits unsolicited commercial electronic messages (spam) with a New Zealand link. This will help to protect children against exposure to the kind of inappropriate material often associated with spam messages.

Legislation

Effect

Television New Zealand Act 2003 sets out a Charter for State-funded broadcasting by Television New Zealand (TVNZ). The Charter requires TVNZ to feature New Zealand and international programmes that provide for children and young people's informational, entertainment and educational needs, and participation.

Part 5

Articles 13.2, 19, 1, 27, 28.2, 37(a)

Employment Relations (Flexible Working Arrangements)

Amendment Act 2007 provides eligible employees with the right to request flexible working arrangements to enable them to care for someone, for example children and young people. Young workers who have caring responsibilities and who meet the eligibility criteria of the Act will also be able to request a flexible working arrangement.

Child Support Amendment Act 2006 Significant amendments in 2006 to the Child Support Act 1991 allowed Inland Revenue to write off some penalty debt if a liable parent entered and maintained an arrangement to pay both current child support liability and an agreed amount off liability arrears; initiate an administrative review of child support liability if it considers child support amount payable by a liable parent does not accurately reflect that parent's ability to provide financial assistance for his or her child(ren); and introduce a permanent exemption from liability for victims of sex offences and a temporary exemption for liable parents under the age of 16 years.

Crimes (Substituted Section 59) Amendment Act 2007 removes reasonable force as a defence for a parent/guardian correcting or disciplining a child.

Part 5 and 6

Article 27.1, 27.3

Social Security (Working for Families) Amendment Act 2004

provides targeted financial incentives for certain persons to enter into and stay in, employment. The reform package that sits underneath the legislation has significantly reduced the numbers of children experiencing poverty or hardship.

Part 6

Articles 27, 2

Taxation (Working for Families) Act 2004 introduced those parts of the Working for Families reform package relating to tax credits for families. The package included increased family tax credits, introducing new in-work tax credits and phasing out of the child tax credit. Changes were introduced between 1 April 2005 and 1 April 2007.

Civil Union Act 2004 and Relationship (Statutory References) Act 2005 establishes neutral laws on relationships that apply across the board, whether those relationships are marriages, civil unions, de facto relationships or same-sex relationships. A child aged 16 or 17 can enter a civil union provided they have the consent of each of his or her guardians. If consent is refused, the child can apply to the Family Court for consent. This legislation affords children whose parents/caregivers are in same-sex or de facto relationships the same legal protections

Part 8

Crimes of Torture Amendment Act 2006 establishes a sub-committee of the Committee Against Torture that will regularly visit places where people are deprived of their liberty. It also sets the framework for establishing National Preventive Mechanisms to visit and monitor

16 GE.10-42974

enjoyed by children whose parents/guardians are married.

Legislation

Effect

places of detention, such as youth units in prisons, police cells, court cells, and Child, Youth and Family residences.

Minimum Wage (New Entrants) Amendment Act 2007 abolishes the previous youth minimum wage rate and establishes a new entrant's wage. The new entrants wage provides for 16 and 17 year olds to receive 80 percent of the minimum wage for the first 200 hours of work or the first three months whichever occurs first. However, if a 16 or 17 year old is undertaking a supervisory role, they are eligible for the same minimum wage as is an adult.

C. Coordination and national plans of action

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 11:

The Committee recommends that the State party establish a permanent mechanism to co-ordinate activities by all actors and stakeholders implementing the Convention, the Agenda for Children and the Youth Development Strategy. Sufficient financial and human resources should be allocated to ensure that they are fully implemented and effectively co-ordinated.

- 55. There have been a number of changes that better align resources so as to improve outcomes for children and young people. Significant organisational changes have contributed to improved coordination between agencies, emphasising the need for collaboration and promoting a stronger focus on children's well-being in many major social policy developments. Leadership for collaboration is provided from the top, with Chief Executives from the core social agencies, Health, Education, Justice and Social Development, meeting regularly.
- 56. In late 2003, the Ministry of Youth Affairs, (created in 1998 to provide a youth perspective on government activity), became the Ministry of Youth Development, combining Youth Affairs and the youth policy functions of the Ministry of Social Development. The Ministry of Social Development provides administrative support to the new Ministry of Youth Development. This change has enabled better coordination of youth policy, while continuing to provide a voice for young people within government.
- 57. In 2006, the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services (Child, Youth and Family) became a service line of the Ministry of Social Development, improving the alignment of child care and protection and youth justice policy and operations. The Ministry of Social Development now has responsibility for delivering statutory social services to protect and help children who are being abused or neglected or exhibit problem behaviour. Prior to this, a number of functions previously undertaken by Child, Youth and Family were transferred to Family and Community Services, a new service line of the Ministry of Social Development created in 2004. Family and Community Services supports families and communities to be strong and well connected.
- 58. These changes have provided a number of benefits, including increased capacity and capability, reduced overheads and financial alignment. Being structurally and physically co-located facilitates improved collaboration and greater alignment, and improves research, policy development and service delivery. They have also improved synergy of activity regarding children and young people.

- 59. The Agenda for Children and the Youth Development Strategy Aotearoa, both published in 2002, continue to provide platforms to inform work to place children at the centre of policy-making. This work has led to better research and data gathering on the position and well-being of children and the impact of policies on them, and has also increased opportunities for young people to participate in decisions that affect them. Additionally, there has been greater involvement of child experts and children's interest groups in policy development.
- 60. The increased emphasis on collaboration extends beyond inter-agency co-ordination. In addition collaboration on policy initiatives with statutory agencies such as the Office of the Children's Commissioner, and non-government organisations, such as Barnardos, is becoming standard practice.
- 61. Recognising the important role non-government agencies play, the Government initiated Pathway to Partnership in July 2007. This is a multi-year plan to strengthen community-based family, child and youth services. It involves a significant increase in funding and encourages strong supportive working relationships between the government and the non-government sector. The plan was developed in partnership with government agencies and non-government organisations that deliver child, youth and family services.

D. Independent monitoring

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 13:

In light of its general comment No. 2 on national human rights institutions, the Committee recommends that the State party use the discussion of the Commissioner for Children's Act, which is currently before Parliament, to ensure that the Office of the Commissioner for Children and the National Human Rights Commission are equally independent and that they report to the same political body, and to define the relationship between the two institutions, including a clear division of their respective activities. In addition, the Committee urges the State party to ensure that the Office of the Commissioner for Children receives sufficient human, material and financial resources to carry out its mandate.

- 62. The Children's Commissioner Act that was before Parliament at the time of New Zealand's second periodic report was enacted in 2003. This Act has strengthened and increased resources and powers available to the Children's Commissioner. The Act sets out the Commissioner's responsibilities of raising awareness of children's interests, rights and welfare and monitoring the application of the Convention in Crown agencies' actions. This is in addition to the Commissioner's previous statutory investigative and monitoring role regarding Child, Youth and Family. Resourcing for the Office has also doubled since 2000/2001.
- 63. The Office of the Children's Commissioner and the Human Rights Commission are both classified under the Crown Entities Act 2004 as independent Crown entities where Commissioners are appointed by the Governor-General and can only be removed from office if there is just cause. This reflects the independent nature of the roles, which are free from political influence and report directly to Parliament.
- 64. The two entities have separate reporting lines but both report to Ministers of the Crown. The Children's Commissioner reports to the Minister for Social Development and Employment, while the Human Rights Commission reports to the Minister of Justice.
- 65. The functions and responsibilities of both entities are clearly set out in their respective legislation (for the Human Rights Commission; the Human Rights Act 1993, and for the Office of the Children's Commissioner, the Children's Commissioner Act 2003).

- 66. Both organisations work closely together and meet regularly. They have a number of activities of shared responsibility, such as implementing the Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (see part 5). There will be some areas of overlap as the Children's Commissioner has responsibility for issues regarding children and young people while the Human Rights Commission has responsibility for the rights of all New Zealanders.
- 67. The Children's Commissioner has offices in Wellington and Auckland and a staff establishment of around 15 people. The Office of the Children's Commissioner is funded by Parliament through Vote: Social Development. Its operating budget for the 2007/2008 financial year is \$1.938m (excluding GST), and it has net assets of \$0.704m as at 1 July 2007.
- 68. As well as the monitoring and investigative functions, the Children's Commissioner produces a wide range of resources, mostly on children's rights, as well as in-depth reports. Reports often relate to issues arising from the monitoring and investigative functions or canvas topical issues such as the recent report on child poverty 'A fair go for all children: Actions to address child poverty in New Zealand'.

E. Resources for children (art. 4)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 15:

The Committee recommends that the State party pay particular attention to the full implementation of article 4 of the Convention by prioritizing budgetary allocations to ensure implementation of the economic, social and cultural rights of children, in particular those belonging to economically disadvantaged groups, "to the maximum extent of ... available resources". The Committee further recommends that the State party gather disaggregated data on budget allocations for children and systematically assess the impact of all its economic policy initiatives on children.

- 69. Significant investment has been made during the reporting period in increasing resources for children. Examples of funding that will benefit children and young people include:
 - 2004, \$56 million to assist with youth transitions; creating additional modern apprenticeship places, boosting delivery of vocational opportunities in school, provision of youth transitions services and additional career services
 - 2004, an extra \$250 million over four years to implement the Mental Health Blueprint, improving the workforce and services
 - 2005, \$30.7 million to increase spending on assessments, and support for children with special education needs
 - 2005, \$3.23 million for Community Action on Youth and Drugs
 - 2006, \$162 million to provide 20 hours free early childhood education and care to all three and four year olds and boost the number of qualified staff
 - 2006, \$11.5 million for Family Violence Prevention initiatives
 - 2006, \$67 million for Mission On; a package of initiatives to encourage healthy eating and healthy activity in children and young people
 - 2007, \$133.4 million for 702 extra year-1 teachers to bring the teacher to pupil ratio down to 1:18 by mid 2008 with the aim of boosting foundational literacy and numeracy for younger students and progress towards a 1:15 ratio

- 2008, \$446 million to strengthen the community based child, youth and family sector
- 70. These are just a few examples of increased expenditure, and do not include other major initiatives described throughout the report such as increased funding for primary healthcare as part of the Primary Health Care Strategy, investment in Working for Families, increased salaries for primary and secondary school teachers, increased baseline funding to address the capacity and capability of Child, Youth and Family, as well as additional expenditure in education, with the provision of 20 hours free early childhood education for three and four year olds.
- 71. Government is continually monitoring expenditure to ensure that it is being effectively used, and that both old and new policy initiatives are achieving their stated aims. Assessing where money is allocated, and who benefits, is an ongoing process. The impact any policy has on different segments of society including children and young people, is always part of these considerations.
- 72. No single project has gathered disaggregated data on budget allocations for children over the reporting period. The matter was investigated but it proved too difficult to get the full picture across different government funding streams. In some areas such as Health where there has been substantial investment over the last five years specific expenditure on children and young people is difficult to quantify.

F. International cooperation (art. 4)

1. Aid and development programme

- 73. Government commissioned an independent review of New Zealand's aid programme in 2000. As a result the New Zealand Agency for International Development (NZAID) was created in September 2001. Its core focus is poverty elimination with a regional focus on the Pacific. This reflects the government's commitment to being a good international citizen and neighbour.
- 74. NZAID aims to improve quality of life by protecting and promoting human rights as set out in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and all core international human rights instruments, including the Convention on the Rights of Children.

2. Overseas development assistance

- 75. In 2007/08, NZAID's development programme budget was \$412.65 million. New Zealand is moving progressively towards the official development assistance target of 0.7 percent of gross national income (under Millennium Development Goal 8). In August 2003, the government re-affirmed this commitment to 0.7 percent as and when resources permit. In 2008, the government announced that New Zealand's aid budget would increase to 0.35 percent of Gross National Income by 2010/11 projected to be \$600 million. This represents the largest dollar increase ever for New Zealand's development assistance programmes.
- 76. New Zealand targets around 18.4 percent of its total Overseas Development Assistance to the work of the United Nations and Commonwealth agencies, the World Bank, the Asian Development Bank, and the Red Cross. NZAID's Multilateral Engagement Strategy prioritises engagement with ten agencies which have a proven track record, show strong alignment with New Zealand's policies and priorities, and provide good value for money. These agencies include the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR).

- 77. The Pacific is the key focus area for New Zealand's aid and development assistance. In addition to initiatives that fund education and health services for children and young people, recent initiatives that directly impact on children include:
 - Funding over three years of approximately \$900,000 to the Pacific Youth Stars initiative, through NZAID's strategic partnership with UNICEF. The programme focuses on building 'lifeskills' (including HIV and sexual and reproductive health issues) into education curricula.
 - Funding in the area of HIV and AIDS, for Marie Stopes International to institute large scale Condom Social Marketing Campaigns in Fiji, Tuvalu and Samoa. The initiative is youth-focused and trains young people to sell condoms in villages.
 - Contributing \$550,000 to the Talavou Youth Development Programme addressing self-esteem, community development and livelihood issues for youth in Samoa.
 - Funding a three year 'children/youth in conflict with the law' project in the Solomon Islands, through Save the Children. The project's goal is to protect children and youth in conflict with the law by strengthening the system to promote and protect children's rights.
 - Funding of \$6.4m per year for the Secretariat of the Pacific Community. A portion of this is for their Pacific Human Development Programme which is the regional mechanism for co-ordinating the Pacific Youth Strategy to 2010. NZAID actively engages with the Programme on youth issues in the region.
 - Funding of \$95,000 per year for the Commonwealth Youth Programme, which is
 used to support regional youth programmes, an office in the Solomons and youth
 participation.
 - Funding of \$2.3 million with Save the Children New Zealand towards the provision of health services, including a focus on HIV/AIDS in Papua New Guinea.
- 78. In addition, New Zealand contributes to a wide range of initiatives outside the Pacific, in partnership with non-government organisations and the United Nations agencies, such as UNICEF, with a focus on health and wellbeing of women and children through providing health and education services.

G. Data collection

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 17:

The Committee recommends that the State party develop a system of data collection that covers all areas of the Convention, paying particular attention to disaggregated data on indigenous children, and ensure that all data and indicators are used for the formulation, monitoring and evaluation of policies, programmes and projects for the effective implementation of the Convention.

- 79. Since the last report, there has been significant improvement in the availability and the accessibility of data on children and young people, with an emphasis on having in place robust frameworks for collection across a range of domains (health, social well-being, education, employment). There has also been an increase in funding for research on children and young people. Better information on the position and wellbeing of children in New Zealand is important in improving the quality of advice and decision-making on children and young people's issues.
- 80. Data provided in this report is the most up-to-date information about children in New Zealand (at the time of writing). Where possible, data provided meets the

requirements of the Convention related to disaggregation by indigenous population, sex and age. Where up-to-date data is available as standard output from the relevant data source this has been provided. Where data is not available in the required detail and format the closest alternative is provided and the population covered by the data and its breakdown are specified.

- 81. There are however, some constraints on the use and reporting of data especially with the disaggregation of data due to the size of New Zealand's population, where small differences can be magnified and trends can be misleading. It is important to maintain confidentiality with disaggregated data and minimise data volatility regarding trend reporting. This is particularly important when dealing with sensitive data requests, such as child abuse statistics and youth suicide.
- 82. A number of child and youth specific data collection initiatives have been instigated since the last report:
 - In 2001, Youth 2000, the first major survey of secondary school students' health and wellbeing, provided a wealth of information on young people's health and wellbeing. The survey of around 10,000 students aged 12 to 18 was repeated in 2007 and is scheduled to take place again in 2011.
 - In 2003 the Child Health Information Strategy was published and is an overarching plan to guide the development, collection and use of information about children and young people's health. The Strategy's primary goal is to achieve better health for children in New Zealand by making clinically useful, appropriate, up-to-date, and accurate health information available at every contact between a child and a health professional.
 - In 2004, the Ministry of Social Development published Children and Young People: Indicators of Wellbeing in New Zealand. The report focused on 35 indicators of social wellbeing, within 10 social outcome domains, from health and economic security, through to education, justice and social connectedness. An updated report with an expanded number of indicators was published in 2008.
 - Since 2004, the Ministry of Social Development has annually published the Social Report which covers many of the same indicators as the Children and Young People: Indicators of Wellbeing in New Zealand but is across all age groups.
 - In 2005, the Ministry of Education launched Education Counts, a web resource designed to increase information availability and accessibility to education statistics and research. It includes: demographic information specifically tailored for use in the education sector; various collections of statistical information including achievement data, participation, and resourcing; education information analysis, including education sector indicators and detailed examination of key education themes.
 - In mid-2007 the Department of Labour released its inaugural Youth Labour Market
 Outcomes Report which monitors young people's participation in the labour market.
 This will be a regular report published on its website www.dol.govt.nz. In 2008
 regional specific reports were produced.
 - In 2007, the Ministry of Justice started publishing an annual report on Youth Justice statistics.
- 83. The Government approved the Programme of Official Social Statistics in November 2003. It provides a coherent system of official social statistics across the government sector and is led by Statistics New Zealand. While this programme is not specifically focused on the Convention, it provides an opportunity to improve data collection on children and

expand the range of well-being indicators. The programme covers social statistics across 12 domains measuring population, knowledge and skills, paid and unpaid work, standards of living, housing, health, safety and security, culture and identity, human rights, social connectedness, leisure and recreation, and the environment. Much of this data is used for the Ministry of Social Development's annual Social Report and provides a wealth of information and the ability to monitor trends.

- 84. Statistics New Zealand continues to work on improving the quality and relevance of official statistics on Mäori. The Mäori Statistics Framework was developed to align official statistics collection and reporting with Mäori issues and concerns. It is part of a larger strategy to enable Mäori statistical needs to be met. Statistics New Zealand is developing a strategy for surveying Mäori within the Programme of Official Social Statistics including a dedicated Mäori survey. The five-yearly Census is the most comprehensive single source of Mäori statistical information. Because it is a total population count it allows trends for Mäori, and their sub-groups to be analysed with changes monitored over time.
- 85. In addition, Statistics New Zealand is currently developing a Family Survey. A 2007 Review of Official Family Statistics identified key unmet information needs for family structure and support information. The Family Survey will focus on families with children and aim to report on family, shared care child arrangements, and the nature and extent of support which occurs between family members living in different households. Much of the survey content has not been collected in New Zealand official statistics before, so there will be new information available to inform family and children-related policy, academic research, and future family statistics collections.

1. Research

- 86. Hand in hand with improved data is an increased focus on research and evaluation in order to have robust evidence to support policy development and improved service delivery. Research about children and young people is funded by government through research funding agencies, tertiary organisations, and a number of government departments.
- 87. The Social Policy Evaluation and Research Committee, convened by the Ministry of Social Development, is a cross-agency group of central government social policy departments established in 2001 to oversee and provide leadership on government's investment in social policy research and evaluation. It aims to enhance knowledge production and dissemination necessary to underpin future social policy. The Social Policy Evaluation and Research Committee hosts a conference every two years, and in 2007, had a youth research stream.

2. Research projects

- 88. Investment in child and youth-focused research has increased. A new longitudinal study (see below) was launched in 2008 and will begin collecting information about children from before their birth and over their life course. The Ministry of Research, Science and Technology provides ongoing funding for research on children and young people. This is administered through its funding agency, the Foundation for Research Science and Technology. As part of its social research output, there is a dedicated outcome focused on "Children and Young People Participating and Succeeding All children and young people have the opportunity to participate, to succeed and to make contributions that benefit themselves and others." The outcome is part of the Foundation for Research, Science and Technology and has guided research investment in this particular area since 2005.
- 89. A key project funded under this research priority is Massey University's Pathways to Resilience, which commenced in July 2008. Pathways to Resilience is a five-year

research programme that will offer a unique opportunity to generate policy and practice-relevant evidence on pathways that children and young people travel leading to involvement with the youth justice, child protection, specialist educational and community support systems. The Pathways to Resilience Programme will inform policy and practice development on key individual and ecological differences between those who overcome adversity (resilient), those who do not, and the types of service configurations that most enhance resilience.

- 90. A new longitudinal study of 7,600 children in the Auckland/Waikato region is being commissioned by the Ministry of Social Development and undertaken by a consortium of researchers led by the University of Auckland. Government has invested \$6 million in new funding over two years and \$7.416 in reprioritised funds in the study.
- 91. This study supplements the world-leading Christchurch and Dunedin longitudinal studies which began in the 1970s, and will provide valuable information for policy development by following children from before birth and across their life course. Demographics have changed significantly since the 1970s and a greater representation of Mäori, Pacific and other ethnicities is needed to reflect today's society. First results are expected in 2010. A Pacific families' study, the first longitudinal study of Pacific Island children and families, is also currently taking place and involves a thousand children born in 2000.

H. Training and dissemination of the Convention (arts. 42 and 44)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 19:

The Committee recommends that the State party:

- (a) Undertake public awareness campaigns, including through the mass media, on children's rights aimed at the general public and specifically at children;
- (b) Carry out systematic education and training on the principles and provisions of the Convention for all professionals working with and for children, in particular teachers, judges, parliamentarians, law enforcement officials, civil servants, municipal workers, personnel working in institutions and places of detention for children, health personnel, including psychologists, and social workers.

1. Dissemination

- 92. The Ministry of Youth Development is the government agency responsible for coordinating government work on the Convention on the Rights of the Child, but shares with the Human Rights Commission and the Children's Commissioner responsibility for publishing and disseminating information on children and young people's rights.
- 93. The Ministry of Youth Development has a dedicated "rights" section on its web-site, which hosts all the core Convention documents. To support web based information both the Ministry of Youth Development and the Office of the Children's Commissioner publish a range of Convention-related material, including child and youth friendly versions.
- 94. A number of other dedicated channels are used to distribute information about the Convention, including the Ministry of Youth Development's bi-monthly 12–24 magazine. The magazine has a readership of approximately 5,000 across a variety of youth work organisations, young people's networks, non-government organisations and other interested parties. Editions of the magazine have included profile-raising articles about the Convention, and information on getting involved with the public consultation on the present periodic report.

How are we supposed to stand up for our rights when we don't know what they are? [female 15, UNCROC Forum, 2006] [male, 14, youth stream, UNCROC Forum 2006]

2. Training

- 95. Education and training in human rights, in particular in avoiding discrimination, is one of the Human Rights Commission's core functions. The Commission has education facilitators based in each of its three offices, an 'Infoline' telephone information service and 'Enquiries and Complaints' service. Key education projects are identified in part 8.
- 96. There has been a marked improvement in incorporating an understanding of children and young people's rights into training across a number of professions. Where appropriate, training in how to work with children and young people includes express reference to the Convention, or an overview of the rights within the Convention. Police and Probation officers receive this training. The curriculum for primary and secondary schools includes human rights. This means that teachers will now receive human rights training, including reference to children's rights.
- 97. Youth workers, Corrections staff and all recruits in the Armed Forces receive information on the Convention. Social and Youth Justice workers, and the Judiciary receive information relevant to the rights they deal with. Army recruits also receive information on the Law on Armed Conflict and the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the involvement of children in armed conflict.

I. Factors and difficulties

98. There has been an increasing focus and higher level of investment in New Zealand's children and young people over the reporting period. The emphasis in expenditure over this time has seen significant investment in raising incomes for working families, large investments in health promotion, and early childhood education. Particular attention has been paid to improving the health and wellbeing of the most vulnerable children.

III. Definition of the child

A. Definition of the child (art. 1)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 21:

The Committee recommends that the State party review the age limits set by different legislation affecting children to ensure its conformity with the principles and provisions of the Convention. The Committee also specifically recommends that the State party:

- (a) Raise the minimum age of criminal responsibility to an internationally acceptable level and ensure that it applies for all criminal offences;
- (b) Extend the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act of 1989 to all persons under the age of 18;
 - (c) Set a minimum age or minimum ages of admission to employment.

1. Minimum age for criminal prosecution (art. 40(3)(b))

- 99. New Zealand notes the Committee's recommendation regarding the current minimum age of criminal responsibility, which is 10 years old and applies to all offences. During the reporting period, consideration was given to both the age of criminal responsibility and age of criminal prosecution.
- 100. With the exception of the offences of murder and manslaughter, children under the age of 14 cannot be prosecuted for offending. Instead, the offending may be dealt with in the Family Court as a care and protection matter if the number, nature, or magnitude of the offences is such to give serious concern for the wellbeing of the child. The offending must be proved to the criminal standard of proof, and the Court must be satisfied that the child knew the act or omission constituting the offence was wrong or that it was contrary to law. Where a child aged 10–14 is prosecuted for murder and manslaughter, the matter is dealt with in the High Court in the same manner as a charge against an adult, although the preliminary hearing takes place in the Youth Court.
- 101. New Zealand notes the Committee's ongoing concern about the presumption that a child aged 10 years may have the capacity to offend with criminal intent and the concern about the appropriateness of using the adult justice system to deal with serious offences committed by children, including testing capacity.
- 102. During the reporting period the New Zealand Government has reviewed the minimum ages of criminal responsibility and prosecution on several occasions. Following advice in 2003 and 2005, which included consideration of raising the minimum age of criminal prosecution for murder and manslaughter to 12 years of age, the government decided not to proceed with any adjustment. Instead work commenced on improving effective responses to children's offending and, where possible, using alternatives to prosecution. As a result, Police and Child, Youth and Family staff received joint training, and the Child Offenders Manual (a guide to successful interventions with child offenders) was revised.
- 103. In 2006, a Members Bill the Young Offenders (Serious Crimes) Bill was introduced to the House of Representatives. In the case of serious offences, the Bill proposed lowering the age of criminal prosecution from age 14 to 10 and to remove the current requirement that a court must be satisfied that the child knew either that the act or omission constituting the offence was wrong or that it was contrary to law before it may convict a child between the ages of 10 and 13 years. The Law and Order Select Committee considered this Bill and tabled its report in November 2007. The report did not support the proposed changes as drafted. The Select Committee noted that the proposed changes could contravene New Zealand's compliance with the Convention and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. The Bill was defeated when introduced to the House for a second reading.
- 104. In 2007 public submissions were sought on proposed updates to the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989. The proposals also canvassed opinions on lowering the age from 14 to 12 years for criminal prosecution for serious or persistent offending. The majority of submitters who commented on this issue opposed lowering the age. Current proposals in the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Amendment Bill (No. 6) that were before the House of Representatives when Parliament was dissolved on 3 October 2008, do not change the minimum age of prosecution. However, some amendments aim to provide more effective responses to child offending.

2. The Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act

105. Steps have been taken to align the definition of "young persons" under the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989 with the Convention on the Rights of the

Child. The Children, Young Persons and Their Families Amendment Bill (No. 6) proposes to include 17 year olds within the definition of "young persons", thus bringing it into line with the Convention. The Bill was before the House of Representatives when Parliament was dissolved on 3 October 2008. It may be re-instated in the next Parliamentary session, should the House resolve to do so.

3. Minimum age(s) of admission to employment

106. As identified in part 2 under the reservation on Child Labour, New Zealand has not legislated a minimum age for admission to employment as it considers that the current framework, which is governed by the Education Act and Health and Safety legislation and supporting regulations, is sufficient and complies with the Convention.

4. Age at which people can marry without consent

107. During the reporting period, the Marriage Amendment Act 2005 lowered the age at which people can marry without parental consent from 20 years to 18 years. Prior to the passage of this Act, people who were 18 and 19 needed consent to marry. The Marriage Act 1955 does not allow a person to marry until they are 16, and 16 and 17 year olds must have parental, guardian or Family Court consent before they can marry.

5. Age at which guardianship ends

108. During the reporting period, the Care of Children Act 2004 set out a new framework for resolving disputes about the care of children in New Zealand and replaced the Guardianship Act 1968. The Act provides that parenting orders (setting out day-to-day care of the child) cease when the child turns 16. No parenting orders can be made for children over 16, unless there are special circumstances. In addition, the age at which guardianship obligations end was reduced from 20 to 18 years of age, with guardianship ending sooner if a child aged 16–17 marries or enters a civil union or lives with another person as a de facto partner.

6. Age to enter prostitution

109. During the reporting period, the Prostitution Reform Act 2003 was passed, decriminalising prostitution. The Act makes it an offence to facilitate or receive payment for the commercial sexual services from a person under 18 years of age. It is also an offence to arrange or receive commercial sexual services from a person under 18. It is not an offence for persons under the age of 18 to engage in prostitution, rather, they are considered to be victims. A five year review of the Act, tabled in Parliament in May 2008, found no evidence of an increase in the numbers of underage persons used in prostitution since the Act came into force.

7. Youth minimum wage

110. During the reporting period, the youth minimum wage was abolished and replaced with a new entrant's wage. The new entrants wage provides for 16 and 17 year olds to receive 80 percent of the minimum wage for the first 200 hours of work, or the first three months, whichever occurs first. However, if the 16 or 17 year old is undertaking a supervisory role they are eligible for same minimum wage adults are entitled to.

8. Age of voluntary recruitment to the armed forces

111. During the reporting period the age of voluntary recruitment to the Navy, Army, and the Air Force was reviewed. Legislation and regulations were amended to state that "No person who is under 17 years may be appointed to, or enlisted or engaged in, the Navy, the

Army, or the Air Force." Further details are outlined in Part 10 of this report, responding to the Committees' concerns on the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child Involvement of Children in Armed Conflict.

B. Factors and difficulties

112. During the reporting period, the government considered a proposal to review minimum age inconsistencies in all New Zealand legislation, but considered there were significant concerns as to size, appropriateness and benefits of the task. New Zealand recognises the important role that minimum ages can play, but also acknowledges that evidence regarding teenage brain development shows that becoming an adult is 'stage of development' rather than an age that determines 'readiness.' The size and scope of the exercise was considered to be disproportionate to the benefit that a review could/would achieve. Furthermore, a number of age-related matters (e.g. the age of purchasing alcohol) are subject to conscience votes in the New Zealand Parliament. It is therefore considered appropriate to take a more cautious approach when reviewing definitions of children regarding age thresholds, and to do so in the context of the growing research evidence and subject matter as a whole. This ensures that all related issues are canvassed at once.

IV. General principles

A. Non-discrimination (art. 2)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, paras. 23 and 24:

The Committee recommends that the State party increase its efforts to ensure implementation of existing laws guaranteeing the principle of non-discrimination and full compliance with article 2 of the Convention, and to adopt a proactive and comprehensive strategy to eliminate discrimination on any grounds and against all vulnerable groups.

The Committee requests that specific information be included in the next periodic report on the measures and programmes relevant to the Convention on the Rights of the Child undertaken by the State party to follow up on the Declaration and Programme of Action adopted at the 2001 World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance, and taking account of general comment No. 1 on article 29, paragraph 1, of the Convention (aims of education).

1. Measures and actions taken by New Zealand to promote diversity and nondiscrimination relevant to children and young people

- 113. The New Zealand Curriculum emphasises respect for and understanding of difference. A core tenet of the Ministry of Education's work in curriculum, pedagogy and governance is that both early childhood services and schools must cater for the full range of diverse students.
- 114. The New Zealand Curriculum requires schools to develop programmes that help students to value:
 - · Diversity as found in our different cultures, languages and heritages
 - · Equity through fairness and social justice
 - Community and participation for the common good

- Integrity which involves being honest, responsible and accountable and acting ethically
- · Respecting themselves, others and human rights
- 115. The Ministry is also developing a climate survey tool for schools to assess bullying and harassment, a behaviour strategy and anti-bullying guidelines. It is also assisting schools to implement the new curriculum with its strong emphasis on values and valued behaviours.
- 116. New Zealand recognises the education system's role in fostering diversity and promoting tolerance and understanding of New Zealanders' origins. New Zealand is committed to fostering a curriculum and culture in our education system that equips children for life in a diverse society. This includes recognition of their own language, culture and beliefs, knowledge of the cultures and beliefs of others, and respect for the rights of all.
- 117. The New Zealand Action Plan for Human Rights highlighted actions required to ensure every child and young person in New Zealand has equitable access to appropriate quality education services. The key priority identified was piloting the concept of early childhood education centres and schools as human rights communities. This priority reflected the importance of having a comprehensive approach to the right to education, rather than ad hoc responses to problems and barriers to participation and achievement.
- 118. The Building Human Rights Communities in Education initiative (www.rightsined.org.nz) is a coalition of the Human Rights Commission, the Office of the Children's Commissioner, Amnesty International, the Development Resource Centre and the Peace Foundation. Its vision is that schools and early childhood centres will become communities where human rights are known, promoted and lived. As part of the initiative, a baseline study was commissioned in 2006 about human rights education in New Zealand's early childhood education centres and schools.
- 119. The initiative's 2007 publication *Building Human Rights Communities in Education: He Whakatii Tika Tangata-ä-Iwi Whänui* made recommendations to increase understanding and better integrate human right obligations across the education sector, including national guidelines and curriculum. This initiative is now established as a standalone trust with the Human Rights Commission continuing to provide funding and staff resource.
- 120. The Human Rights Commission will continue to monitor access to education especially for vulnerable groups of students such as children and young people with disabilities, from poor communities, and same-sex attracted, trans-sexual and intersex students. This will include analysing enquiries and complaints to the Commission about right to education and monitoring policy settings and initiatives that impact on their participation and achievement.
- 121. New Zealand's human rights framework also includes an independent Race Relations Commissioner, appointed to comment, provide guidance, accept complaints, monitor and promote harmonious race relations in New Zealand.

2. Youth voices research

122. The Foundation for Research, Science and Technology is funding Youth Voices: Youth Choices, a two-year project beginning in July 2008, which aims to identify the drivers and determinants of success and participation in Chinese, Pacific and Muslim youth. The project, to be run by the University of Victoria, Wellington will address two key questions:

- 1. How do these youth construct their identities and negotiate issues pertaining to cultural maintenance and participation in the wider society?
- 2. What strategies or interventions promote positive identity, integration, cultural and social connectedness, and leadership within and between ethnic/Muslim communities?
- 123. The findings will be used by a range of agencies to inform strategies and policy on social cohesion, connecting diverse communities, and strategic directions for youth and, in turn, will support New Zealand's efforts to build and sustain an inclusive society.

B. Best interests (art. 3)

- 124. New Zealand continues to affirm the principle of the best interests of the child. A key development during this reporting period was the passage of the Care of Children Act 2004 which modernises the framework for resolving disputes regarding care arrangements for children within families. The Act expressly states that the best interests of the child are a paramount consideration in all matters affecting the child.
- 125. The Act also states that decisions affecting a child should be made and carried out within a time frame that fits with the child's sense of time. It sets out some key principles that the Court must consider, where relevant, when deciding what is in the best interests of the child:
 - Parents and guardians should take the main responsibility for looking after children and making arrangements for their care, development and upbringing
 - There should be continuity in the arrangements for the child's care, development and upbringing
 - Links between the child and their whänau or other wider family group should be preserved and strengthened
 - There should be cooperation between parents, guardians and others who are involved in looking after the child
 - · The child must be kept safe and protected from all forms of violence
 - The child's identity, including their culture, language and religion, should be preserved and strengthened

126. The other key Act relating to children — the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989 — also makes the welfare and interests of the child or young person the first and paramount consideration in care and protection matters. Relevant principles are set out in sections 5, 6, 13 and 208 of the Act. These Acts provide a model for other childrelated legislation and policies in New Zealand on recognising the 'best interests of children' principle.

C. The right to life, survival and development (art. 6)

127. New Zealand aims to provide every child in New Zealand with the best start in life. From prior to birth through to five years of age, each child is entitled to an integrated programme of health care and early childhood support. Since 2001, Government has put significant resources into health, welfare, education, training and employment initiatives for children and young people. These are discussed in more detail in Parts 5, 6 and 7.

D. Respect for the views of the child (art. 12)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 26:

The Committee recommends that the State party undertake a review of legislation and regulations affecting children, including proposed legislation such as the Care of Children Bill, to ensure that they appropriately integrate and apply the right of each child to be heard and have his or her views taken into account in accordance with article 12.

128. Increasing emphasis has been placed on recognising the right of children and young people to have their voices heard in matters that impact upon them, whether in legislation, policy advice development or service and research design.

1. Involving children in judicial processes

- 129. Having a right to be heard was considered to be ground breaking when it was incorporated as a core element of the Child, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989. The Act also has important provisions for telling children what decisions have been made and actions to be taken, a duty on the Court and counsel to explain proceedings, and a duty on the Court to encourage and assist a child to participate in proceedings. Since then a number of Acts have included the right for a child to express his or her views and have them taken into account.
- 130. One of the stated purposes of the Care of Children Act 2004 is to recognise certain rights of children, including respecting their views and, in certain cases, recognising their consent or refusal to consent to medical procedures. The Act strengthens a child's involvement in Family Court proceedings recognising that decisions under the Act may have significant effects on a child's daily life and their long-term relationships with their parents. A child is given reasonable opportunities to express their views on what should happen, and have these views taken into account on matters which are important to guardianship, day-to-day care and contact.
- 131. Under the Act, the Family Court continues to appoint an independent lawyer to act for a child if a dispute affecting them seems likely to go to a Court hearing. The role of the lawyer is to:
 - Represent the child through the Court process and in any negotiations between the parents or other parties to the case
 - Find out the child's views and make the Judge aware of them
 - Make sure the child's best interests and all issues affecting their welfare are put before the Court for it to consider
 - Explain the Court process to the child and, at the end of the process, explain the Judge's decision
- 132. A child may make various applications to the Family Court, including to place themselves under the Court's guardianship, to seek review of a guardian's decision or refusal to give consent (if the child is aged over 16 years), to vary or discharge an order or to appeal a Family Court decision.
- 133. The Family Court Matters Act, passed in 2008, introduces into the Care of Children Act 2004 counselling for children and family mediation to take better account of children's views. Children will be able to speak to a counsellor, or take part in a joint session with their parents, when their parents are attending counselling. Children will also be able to take part in family mediation (at the mediator's discretion) and receive counselling to help

them take part. Where proceedings have been filed, a lawyer for the child may be appointed to take part in the mediation.

- 134. Further legislative changes that enhance a child's involvement in the judicial process were included in the Evidence Act 2006. These changes take into account the special needs and vulnerabilities of child complainants and witnesses.
 - Under section 107 it is mandatory for a court to hear an application on how all child complainants are to give their evidence in both summary and indictable proceedings. Directions given cover cross-examination as well as examination in chief of the child
 - Section 105 of the Act provides alternative ways in which a judge can direct a
 witness (including a child witness) to give their evidence so that the witness cannot
 see the accused (e.g. use of screens), from an appropriate place outside the court, or
 by a video recording made before the hearing
 - Section 79 of the Act also provides that the court can direct that a child witness be accompanied by one or more supporters when they give evidence

2. Placing children at the centre of policy-making

- 135. In 2007 the government included 'placing children at the centre of policy-making' in its work programme (2004–2008) on the Convention. A report to Cabinet in 2008 found that there has been an increase in young people's involvement in the policy process. It also noted that improving younger children's participation will require ongoing effort.
- 136. Child impact assessments were identified as a possible tool to give effect to placing children at the centre of policy-making. In 2007, the Ministry of Social Development commissioned a report on child impact assessment use and effectiveness in overseas jurisdictions. The report concluded that there may be a case for selective use of child impact assessments where there is significant impact on children. The Ministry continues to look at the merits of adopting similar approaches in New Zealand, including looking at learnings from the new health impact assessment process in New Zealand, and child impact assessments in local government policy-making.
- 137. In 2007, the Children's Commissioner also commissioned a study on child impact assessments and local authorities to examine the viability of local government agencies using a child impact assessment framework in project and policy development.

"This stuff we've been talking about looks really good on paper, but the complexity is too much for us ... sometimes the basic problems are ignored." [male, 14, youth stream, UNCROC Forum 2006]

3. Children and young people's participation in the policy process

- 138. It is important to involve children and facilitate their participation in decision-making fora and policy work and in designing and advising on research and services. Effective youth participation is an integral part of the Ministry of Youth Development's work programme and the positive youth development approach outlined in the Youth Development Strategy Aotearoa.
- 139. As part of the work arising from the Agenda for Children, tools were developed to encourage children's participation. These include: Involving Children: A Guide to Engaging Children in Decision-making (2003); a web-based tool kit for local government

- officials; and a 2006 guide for Children, Youth and Family staff on involving children and young people in decision-making.
- 140. The Ministry of Youth Development has a number of different ways of engaging with young people. These include regular fora that connect young people directly with Ministers. Recent forum topics have included transport, diversity, educational achievement and connecting young and old.
- 141. The Ministry also hosts a range of web-based channels that enable young people to network with each other as well as providing opportunities to directly engage with government decision-makers and to participate in government processes. Channels include Provoke National Youth Network, National Youth Councils Network, National Student Decision-makers Network and National Youth Health Network. The channels are actively supported through tailored youth-friendly resources, online discussion fora and regional training sessions. The Police recently used the Ministry of Youth Development networks for the Police Act Review, as did the Ministry of Education for 'Schools Plus' a new policy initiative which aims to keep young people connected to school, education or training until the age of 18.
- 142. Activate is a youth advisory group convened by the Ministry of Youth Development. It provides advice on policy initiatives and has drafted and presented submissions to Select Committees on a range of Bills including: the Sale of Liquor (Youth Alcohol Harm Reduction) Amendment Bill, Crimes (Abolition of Force as a Justification for Child Discipline) Amendment Bill, Employment Relations (Probationary Employment) Amendment Bill and Minimum Wage (Abolition of Age Discrimination) Amendment Bill.
- 143. Youth Week is an annual event organised by New Zealand Aotearoa Adolescent Health and Development, which seeks to break down negative stereotypes and celebrate youth. In 2008, there were over 200 events nationwide, many of them organised by youth for youth. The Ministry of Youth Development hosted Young Person's Question Time as part of Youth Week, to provide young people between 12 and 15 years of age with the opportunity to address questions to Ministers about issues concerning them.
- 144. In 2007, the Ministry of Youth Development hosted the fourth successful Youth Parliament (the third was held in 2004). The event had its own youth press gallery and 24 international observers from seven Pacific nations, who were learning about Youth Parliament so they could organise similar events in their own countries.
- 145. In 2007, the Ministry of Social Development facilitated a workshop with a group of young people aged between 15 and 17 with experience of the care and protection and youth justice systems. The purpose of the workshop was to seek their views on how the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act should be updated. These young people's views were considered in developing the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Amendment Bill (No. 6).
- 146. In 2007, New Zealand attended the commemorative high-level plenary meeting of the General Assembly marking the fifth anniversary of the Declaration and Plan of Action set out in the document entitled "A world fit for children". The two young New Zealanders who attended the 2002 special session of the General Assembly on children represented New Zealand again. They brought continuity to the event and were able to provide insight and guidance to youth delegates from other countries because of their previous experience. One of our young people gave a speech to the General Assembly on behalf of the New Zealand delegation (a formal document was also tabled). His speech received significant attention.

4. Local government and youth consultation

- 147. Territorial Local Authorities are very experienced in engaging with their communities. Councils use a range of mechanisms to solicit views and many have youth councils to advise them and to provide opportunities for young people to participate in, and contribute to their communities. Many councils also have youth policies and child/youth advocates or workers.
- 148. A nationwide initiative to engage children in council processes and activities is the Kids Voting project. A resource has been developed for use in schools to help young people understand how decisions are made in their communities, with the aim of increasing young people's active engagement with local government.

E. Factors and difficulties

149. Involving young people in policy development that impacts on them is becoming more commonplace at central and local government level. There has been much progress over the reporting period in providing young people opportunities to express their views, and in encouraging government agencies to listen. The challenge remains for agencies, both inside and outside government, to go beyond listening and to act on young people's concerns. Further work is required to extend such opportunities for active participation and decision-making into the wider community and the non-government sector.

V. Civil rights and freedoms

A. Name and nationality (art. 7)

1. New citizenship by birth provisions

- 150. In January 2006, new provisions of the Citizenship Act 1977 came into force. These allow a child born in New Zealand from that date to be a New Zealand citizen if at least one parent is a New Zealand citizen, or is entitled to remain in New Zealand indefinitely (for example, is a permanent resident). For citizenship purposes, New Zealand includes the Cook Islands, Niue, Tokelau and the Ross Dependency. Under the new provisions, a child born in New Zealand who is not a New Zealand citizen is deemed to hold the most favourable immigration status of either parent.
- 151. To ensure compliance with the United Nations 1961 Convention on the Reduction of Statelessness, the Citizenship Act provides that any child born in New Zealand will be a citizen at birth if he or she would otherwise be stateless. In addition, a child will be deemed to be a citizen by birth if he or she is found abandoned and investigations fail to establish the identity of at least one parent.

2. Registered births

- 152. The Births, Deaths, Marriages and Relationships Registration Amendment Act enters into force in January 2009 and requires both parents to sign the notification form when registering their child's birth. This will help improve the accuracy of the information provided and reduce claims that a person has been wrongly named as a parent.
- 153. This Act provides an exemption to allow only one parent to sign in cases where the other parent is missing, unknown, unable to sign the form because of a medical condition, has died, or where unwarranted distress would result from trying to get the second parent's signature. In most of those cases, the details of both parents can be registered but only one

parent would be required to sign the form. In cases where there is only one parent at law — for example, where the child has been conceived as a result of an assisted reproductive procedure and born to a mother who does not have a partner — only the mother's details would then be registered.

B. Preservation of identity (arts. 30 and 8)

154. New Zealand recognises the right of a child to preserve his or her identity. A wide range of legislative changes that impact on identity have been passed over the reporting period that recognise the legal, biological and cultural dimensions to identity. Encouraging and promoting the revitalisation of the Mäori language has been a vital part of enhancing the cultural heritage of Mäori young people and celebrating New Zealand's diverse ethnic, religious and cultural communities.

1. Cultural identity of Mäori

- 155. The Government is committed to fostering and protecting the cultural identity of Mäori through initiatives such as Mäori language revitalisation programmes and a dedicated Mäori television channel. This has led to an increased number of people, particularly children and young people, speaking Mäori, and also an increased awareness and positive attitude amongst Mäori and non-Mäori to using Mäori language in public.
- 156. The Mäori Language Strategy sets the direction for a whole-of-government approach to Mäori language revitalisation and a plan of action for government agencies. Government continues to monitor the health of the Mäori language with large-scale sociolinguistic surveys having been undertaken in both 2001 and 2006. This research indicates that, in that five-year period, the health of the Mäori language has improved. Mäori is increasingly used in day-to-day life in the home and community domain, not just in ceremonial settings. This is positive as it indicates potential for intergenerational transmission to occur, an important component of language revitalisation.
- 157. The Mäori language Strategy identifies broadcasting and the arts as two core functions that contribute to ongoing revitalisation of the Mäori language. Over the reporting period a number of measures have been taken in these areas, including the establishment of the Mäori Television Service in 2004. The Service broadcasts 21 hours a day with at least 60 percent of programming content in Mäori A specific function of the Service, as outlined in the Mäori Television Act 2003, is to ensure its programming has regard for the needs and preferences of children participating in Mäori immersion education.

2. Legal parenthood

158. The legal status of parent-child relationships needs to keep pace with increasing diversity in family form arising from social change and new birth technologies. In 2003, government asked the Law Commission to review the legal rules that determine parenthood. In 2004, the Commission published a report New Issues in Legal Parenthood. This report canvassed a wide range of issues and in particular noted the impact of social change and assisted human reproductive procedures on children and family forms, establishing and accessing information on genetic parentage and assigning legal parenthood. After considering the Law Commission's report, Government recognised further research on these matters was required before policy decisions could be made. The Ministry of Justice is scoping a work programme to address legal parenthood issues.

3. Human Assisted Reproductive Technology Act

- 159. In November 2004, the Human Assisted Reproductive Technology Act was passed. The Act established an advisory and an ethics committee to replace the National Ethics Committee on Assisted Human Reproduction referred to in New Zealand's previous report (CRC/C/93/Add.4).
- 160. The Advisory Committee on Assisted Reproductive Technology is guided by the following principles relevant to children and young people:
 - The health and well-being of children born as a result of performing an assisted reproductive procedure or an established procedure should be an important consideration in all decisions about that procedure
 - Donor offspring should be made aware of their genetic origins and be able to access information about those origins
 - The needs, values, and beliefs of M\u00e4ori should be considered and treated with respect
 - The different ethical, spiritual and cultural perspectives in society should be considered and treated with respect
- 161. The Act established a register (operating since 22 August 2005) so that people born from donated embryos, sperm or eggs can find out about their genetic heritage and other genetically related siblings born from the same donor. Donors, donor offspring and their guardians involved in embryo, egg or sperm donation at a fertility clinic on or after this date are automatically named on the register. Donors, offspring and guardians involved prior to 22 August 2005 can opt to have their information included on the register. Access to information held on the register is restricted. Generally, only the people named on the register, or the guardians of offspring under 18 years, can access the information. A donor offspring who is 16 or 17 can apply to the Family Court to be treated as though they were an 18 year old where they want to include their information on the Register, or access information about a donor or related donor offspring who share the same donor. Approval is only given if the Judge is satisfied it is in their best interests to provide or access Register information.
- 162. The Human Assisted Reproductive Technology Act 2004 also introduced protection against commercialising surrogacy, human embryos, sperm and eggs.

C. Freedom of expression (art. 13)

163. New Zealand recognises a child's right to freedom of expression, and the importance of ensuring children can express their views. Refer to part 4 for an outline of Government initiatives aimed at supporting children to express their opinions on matters that affect them.

D. Freedom of thought, conscience and religion (art. 14)

- 164. New Zealand's National Statement on Religious Diversity is a project of Te Ngira, the New Zealand Diversity Action Programme. It is a response to New Zealand's increased religious diversity and the wider context of regional and global conflicts involving religion. The statement was endorsed by the National Interfaith Forum in 2007 and emphasises:
 - That all faiths and beliefs should be treated equally before the law
 - The right to freedom of expression of faith and belief

- · The right to safety and security for those of all faiths and beliefs
- The need for our public services and workplaces to accommodate diverse beliefs and practices
- The importance of education in promoting understanding

E. Freedom of association and of peaceful assembly (art. 15)

165. Children and young people have the same rights as adults to assemble and protest.

F. Protection of privacy (art. 16)

1. Review of privacy law

166. The Law Commission is proceeding with a comprehensive review of issues relating to privacy in New Zealand, scheduled to be completed in 2009. In a study paper already released, the Commission noted particular issues regarding young people's privacy and has noted new issues arising from young people's increasing use of communications technologies. Government awaits the Law Commission's report with interest and will respond after the report has been tabled in Parliament. The Government has already taken steps to protect children and young people's privacy in light of concerns raised by new technologies, including legislative measures and a broadcasting code of practice.

2. The Crimes (Intimate Covert Filming) Amendment Act 2006

167. The Crimes (Intimate Covert Filming) Amendment Act 2006 applies to the intimate visual recording of all people, including young persons. The Act helps protect the interests of young persons in light of their vulnerability. It states that everyone is liable to imprisonment for a maximum of three years who intentionally or recklessly makes an intimate visual recording of another person, or who knowingly possesses such a recording and publishes, imports, exports or sells it.

3. Unsolicited Electronic Messages Act 2007

168. The Unsolicited Electronic Messages Act 2007 is New Zealand's response to the worldwide proliferation of spam. An objective of the Act is to promote a safer and more secure environment for using information and communications technologies in New Zealand. Spam is a delivery mechanism for objectionable material and fraudulent activity and it is anticipated that children and young people as major users of technology will benefit from any reduction in spam. The Department of Internal Affairs is responsible for enforcing this legislation.

4. Broadcasting Standards Authority: code of practice

169. In 2006, the privacy principles in the Broadcasting Standards Authority's code of practice were updated to provide increased protection for children and young people's privacy. The code now includes the following statement about children:

"Children's vulnerability must be a prime concern to broadcasters, even when informed consent has been obtained. Where a broadcast breaches a child's privacy, broadcasters shall satisfy themselves that the broadcast is in the child's best interests, regardless of whether consent has been obtained."

170. Under these Principles, a 'child' is defined as someone under the age of 16 years. For a person aged 16 years or over, their evolving capacity is recognised and they can give

consent to broadcasts that would otherwise breach their privacy, whereas younger children cannot consent.

G. Access to appropriate information (art. 17)

171. New Zealand recognises the importance of access to information and the valuable role it can play in promoting a child's social and educational development. With the rising use of the internet as an electronic source of information, internet safety has become increasingly important in protecting children from inappropriate information and material.

1. Internet safety

- 172. Investment has been made in developing education resources for children and young people regarding inappropriate information from electronic sources such as the internet. The most significant suite of tools is available from NetSafe, which provides cybersafety education for all New Zealanders including children, parents, schools, community organisations and businesses. NetSafe's aim is to educate all New Zealanders about safe, secure and responsible use of information and communication technology, with their website containing a wealth of information.
- 173. NetSafe provides a specific range of internet safety resources for children and schools:
 - An interactive website, **Hector's World**, which teaches children how to stay safe online through practical guidance on mitigating risks while positively reinforcing the importance of ethical and responsible behaviour. The website has a safety button that encourages them to get adult help when they feel threatened or uncomfortable with a website's content.
 - The **NetSafe Kit** for schools sets out a comprehensive programme of cybersafety for schools based on an infrastructure of policies, procedures and agreements, an effective electronic security system and a comprehensive cybersafety education programme.
- 174. The Department of Internal Affairs has the role of investigating New Zealand internet websites and newsgroups to enforce censorship legislation. It takes a proactive role in prosecuting New Zealanders who trade objectionable material via the internet. If a publication is categorised as 'objectionable' it is automatically banned by the Films, Videos and Publications Classification Act 1993. The Department of Internal Affairs has a range of information to guide and monitor safe internet use and to inform users of what constitutes objectionable material, or breaches censorship.

2. Broadcasting and children

- 175. The Television New Zealand Act 2003 sets out a Charter for State-funded broadcasting by Television New Zealand. The Charter requires Television New Zealand to feature programmes that provide for children and young people's informational, entertainment and educational needs and participation.
- 176. New Zealand's Free-to-Air Television Code was revised in December 2004. The code sets out specific guidelines for public and private free-to-air broadcasting regarding children. The guidelines relate to the appropriateness of content and the rights of children not to be exploited, humiliated or unnecessarily identified. Guidance is also provided under the revised pay-television code (2006) that "broadcasters should ensure that child viewers are protected from unsuitable content".

3. Advertising and marketing to children: health issues

- 177. The Advertising Standards Authority's Code for Advertising to Children was updated in April 2006. Under its Code for Advertising of Food, Principle 3 states that advertisements directed at children should observe a high standard of social responsibility.
- 178. The Health Select Committee presented its final report to Parliament in August 2007 on its "Inquiry into Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes in New Zealand". The Committee's report contained recommendations about advertising unhealthy foods to children and young people, setting targets for reducing advertising, marketing and promotion of unhealthy foods and the need to monitor the current self-regulation model for the advertising industry.
- 179. In anticipation of the Select Committee Inquiry's recommendations, the Ministers of Health and Broadcasting agreed to a five point plan with the New Zealand Television Broadcasters' Council aimed at promoting children's health, nutrition and exercise through regulating the food products that can be advertised during children's programming and producing programming aimed at healthy eating and exercise practice.
- 180. The new Children's Food Classification system will be phased in from 1 July 2008. It is based on the Ministry of Health's Food and Beverage Classification system which was developed as guidelines for food catering in schools.

H. The right not to be subjected to torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment (art. 37 (a))

1. Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment

- 181. New Zealand submitted its fifth periodic report (CAT/C/NZL/5) to the Committee against Torture under the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment in January 2007. This provides an outline of New Zealand's compliance with the obligation to ensure that no-one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment.
- 182. A significant development since the submission of New Zealand's fifth periodic report is that New Zealand ratified the Optional Protocol to the Convention. The Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, which came into force on 13 April 2007, is primarily concerned with preventing torture for people detained in New Zealand.
- 183. When New Zealand ratified the Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, it set up National Preventive Mechanisms to monitor places of detention. A number of bodies have specific monitoring responsibilities and have been designated as National Preventive Mechanisms under section 26 of the Crimes of Torture Act 1989, including the Office of the Children's Commissioner.
- 184. The Office of the Children's Commissioner is responsible for monitoring Child, Youth and Family residences and youth justice facilities. It has two primary functions: to examine detention conditions and treatment of children and young people, and make recommendations for improvements where necessary. The Office has completed two Optional Protocols to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment monitoring visits to Child, Youth and Family residences and has a full monitoring programme planned for the 2008/2009 financial year.

2. Detention in police cells

185. As part of the focus on young people in police custody, Child, Youth and Family convenes a regular meeting with key agencies and interested parties including the Office of the Children's Commissioner to monitor young people's length of stay in police cells. In addition to actively monitoring the data and identifying any trends, the purpose of these meetings is to remedy bottlenecks and assist in addressing any cases of concern. The impact of actively managing this process has been to reduce the length of time youth spend in cells.

I. Factors and difficulties

1. Preservation of identity

186. A wide range of legislative changes that impact on identity has been passed since last reporting. There are legal, biological and cultural dimensions to identity, and New Zealand has been doing a great deal of work to ensure young people's rights across all these dimensions. In the New Zealand context, the challenges come as much from the preservation of cultural identity as they do from assuring the child's legal or biological identity. Encouraging and promoting the revitalisation of the Mäori language has been a vital part of enhancing the cultural heritage of Mäori young people.

2. Freedom of expression and association and protection of privacy

187. Maintaining the balance between protecting young people's rights and ensuring their (and others') safety is an ongoing challenge. Governments often deal with calls from sections of the population to curtail young people's rights – particularly rights to associate. Balancing community concerns with the appropriate level of response is an issue that stimulates much debate. Enabling children and young people to explore their worlds while protecting them from exploitation and manipulation is an ongoing challenge in an increasingly sophisticated society. New Zealand continues to monitor advertising standards and internet safety and provide support to parents to improve the safety of children and young people.

VI. Family environment and alternative care

188. Families have the earliest and most lasting influence on children. All New Zealand's social policies and social legislation acknowledge family influence and are designed to build on families' strengths and to support families to do the best job they can. But there are often circumstances when families cannot look after their children, and in these situations, the State or others are required to assume responsibility for the children's care.

A. Alternative care

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 32:

The Committee recommends that the State party continue its efforts to strengthen the system of child protection by:

(a) Improving the qualifications of social workers and personnel working in the child protection system and enacting measures to retain qualified and specialized staff;

- (b) Taking effective measures to improve co-ordination between the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services and organizations delivering services to children;
- (c) Increasing the financial resources allocated to alternative care, while ensuring that institutional care is used only as a last resort;
- (d) Strengthening efforts to guarantee that all children placed in care have a periodic review of their treatment and all circumstances relative to their placement, in accordance with article 25 of the Convention.

1. Strengthening the child protection system

- 189. Each year, Child, Youth and Family interacts with thousands of children, young people and their families and seeks to achieve the best outcomes for them. It aims to help families find the support they need to care for their children and assist children needing care to find secure, long-term homes with family, whänau, caregivers or adoptive parents. If possible, a child will be kept with his or her parents, and a support plan developed drawing on both extended family and/or community resources.
- 190. Child, Youth and Family has developed a number of initiatives to better meet the needs of children and their families. These have been developed to facilitate an overall more responsive and effective service, which seeks to move, as much as possible, to a preventative model with interventions occurring as and when they are needed. Improved capacity and capability following the baseline review and merger with the Ministry of Social Development has enabled a stronger focus on its core business of care and protection and youth justice services.
- 191. Government directed the 'First Principles Baseline Review' of the former Department of Child, Youth and Family Services in 2002. This review was in response to ongoing concerns with the Department's ability to meet the care and protection needs of New Zealand children despite increases in baseline funding from \$206.70 million at the end of 1999 to \$314.90 million at the end of 2002.
- 192. As a result of this review, the following steps have been taken to improve care and protection services by:
 - Establishing Family and Community Services, as a service line within the Ministry
 of Social Development with responsibility for funding family and community
 support initiatives, allowing Child, Youth and Family to focus on its core business
 of care and protection and youth justice
 - Directing early intervention supports to families before care issues escalate to crisis level
 - Developing a differential response model that provides additional response options to better meet families' needs and assist them to access services and supports
 - Introducing a health and education assessment framework to support collaboration between health services, schools and other education agencies and care and protection services to ensure the health and education needs of children and young people coming into care are identified and addressed to the greatest extent possible
 - Introducing a permanency policy, designed to support staff and caregivers in achieving good quality enduring placement outcomes for children in care, preferably within the family or family group of origin where this is consistent with the best interests of the child

- Improving capacity and capability through Child, Youth and Family becoming a service line of the Ministry of Social Development coupled with additional funding of \$412 million in 2008/2009, increasing care and protection services 100 percent since 1999
- Developing a joint Ministerial Statement outlining government expectations of how health, education and social service agencies will collaborate to meet the holistic needs of children and young people in state care
- Introducing a Service Charter providing all those coming into contact with Child Youth and Family a clear understanding of their rights, and an enhanced complaints processes

"We have the right to be placed in a caregiver placement that is safe, stable, supportive and caring. Please make sure that you choose caregivers and our placements well. If you do, we have more of a chance to blossom" [Kenneth, 17, youth presenter from Care to Independence Youth Council at the Australasian Conference on Child Abuse and Neglect, Wellington 2006]

2. Children's rights in State care

193. Child, Youth and Family has developed a Children's Charter to encourage children in state care to understand their rights and know what to do if they have a complaint. This builds on the Children's Charter for all children in New Zealand which was developed by the Children's Commissioner to provide a simpler, more accessible version of the Convention on the Rights of the Child.

194. All children in the care of the Chief Executive of the Ministry of Social Development have received a copy of the Children's Charter, as have social workers in Child, Youth and Family, and Child, Youth and Family caregivers.

3. Improving social workers' qualifications

195. The Social Workers Registration Act was enacted in 2003 and came into force in 2004. Since then, Child, Youth and Family has progressively rolled out social work registration among its staff to ensure it has a qualified and skilled workforce.

196. There is deep commitment across Child, Youth and Family to support workforce professionalism and provide for greater public safety and accountability. This includes backing registration and putting practices in place to ensure social workers are competent to practice and are professionally accountable. Registration is incorporated into training, supervision and professional development for all social work staff. Individual staff are provided with targeted support to complete registration, and policy is in place to ensure registration is an expectation of professional practice.

197. Between October 2004 and 30 May 2008, Child, Youth and Family have registered a total of 1,072 social workers. The recruitment, retention and support of qualified staff to undertake registration has also been a key focus within the organisation. An internal pathway has been established for staff completing qualifications as Child, Youth and Family employees. This pathway approach provides individualised study plans, support with assignments and case work, funding to attend external courses, and a planned transition to an external degree-level course. Awards are available to assist with the costs of study.

"Every young person you give your attention and support to become resilient, the stronger out society will become" [Janelle, 16, youth presenter from Care to Independence Youth Council at the Australasian Conference on Child Abuse and Neglect, Wellington 2006]

B. Parental guidance (art. 5)

198. Over the reporting period, the New Zealand Government has made a strong commitment to better support families to provide for their children, recognising the critical role and influence the family has in the life of a child. This has been achieved by legislative and institutional change and policy and practice integration across health, education and social services known to be effective in improving outcomes. There has been a particular focus on addressing the needs of families with children under the age of six, in light of the critical developmental needs of children of this age, and the importance of intervening early.

199. The early intervention approach is based on: providing a co-ordinated continuum of support depending on the needs of the families; integrated assessment and planning; and families and communities identifying their own needs and developing solutions. The range of services provided include: universal services such as antenatal services and early childhood education; targeted services such as services for teenage parents and their children; parental support services such as Strategies with Kids-Information for Parents; intensive home-based visiting services such as Family Start and Early Start; and statutory care and protection services. Some of these services are described below.

200. Family and Community Services, a service line of the Ministry of Social Development, was established in July 2004 to lead and co-ordinate government and non-government actions to support families and communities. Family and Community Services focuses on prevention and early intervention to build the capability and resilience of families and communities, and to reduce the number of families who are affected by family violence. Family and Community Services has a range of programmes which aim to support families through parental support initiatives. These include:

- SKIP Strategies with Kids Information for Parents: The SKIP vision is that all
 children will be raised in a positive way. This involves parents loving and nurturing
 their children, as well as setting boundaries to guide and teach them. SKIP supports
 parents to bring up their children in a positive way by:
 - Funding and supporting community organisations to develop collaborative projects that support and inform parents
 - Developing resources for parents and the organisations that support them
 - Working in partnership with national organisations to build their capacity to support parents
- Family Start was established in 1998 as part of a wider strategy to strengthen
 families. It provides intensive, home-based support services for families with high
 needs, to ensure that their children have the best possible start in life.
- Toddlers Without Tears is an early intervention initiative being piloted by Family and Community Services and Well Child providers. This project is officially known as 'Parent Support to Complement Well Child' The programme provides free support to parents, beginning before their babies become toddlers. The aim is to help parents to understand and manage toddler behaviour well, so as to reduce the possibility of behavioural problems developing as children grow.

• Strengthening Families is a cross-sectoral, whole-of-government initiative which uses a structured process of government agencies and community organisations working together to improve outcomes for vulnerable families. Strengthening Families provides co-ordinated support for families/whänau with children under 17, who are working with two or more government or community agencies. The agencies work together with the family to provide support and develop joint solutions to issues, rather than each agency dealing with one part of the problem and never seeing the bigger picture.

Families Commission

201. The Families Commission provides an example of a further institutional support for families. Established in 2004, it provides a voice for New Zealand families and whānau. The Families Commission undertakes research, provides policy advice, consults the public and provides information to families and those who work with them. The Families Commission is an Autonomous Crown Entity under the Crown Entities Act 2004 with its role established under the Families Commission Act 2003.

202. The specific functions under the Families Commission Act 2003 are to:

- · Encourage informed debate about families
- Increase public awareness and promote better understanding of matters regarding the interests of families
- Play a part in shaping government policies that promote or serve the interests of families
- Consider any matter regarding the interests of families referred to it by any Minister of the Crown
- Stimulate research into families, for example by funding and undertaking research
- · Consult with, or refer matters to, other official bodies or statutory agencies

C. Parental responsibilities (art. 18)

- 203. The Care of Children Act 2004 defines a child's guardian as someone who legally has essentially all the same duties, rights, responsibilities and powers as a parent has in bringing up that child. Although most parents will be guardians of their children, others can be guardians too.
- 204. The inclusion of parental responsibilities is new and underscores one of the Act's aims of encouraging ongoing co-operation between parents following separation. When parents have separated, both should continue to have a significant role in their children's upbringing, even if one of them is no longer living with the children.
- 205. The words used in the new Act reflect this change. Instead of 'custody' of their children, the Act provides for parents or other caregivers to have day-to-day care of their children, and replaces custody orders and access orders with parenting orders. Parents or guardians may share day-to-day care, splitting the time in a way that works best for the children and the family's circumstances.
- 206. An application for a parenting order must include a statement about whether and how the order can and should provide for any other person or persons to have the role of providing day-to-day care for, or contact with, the child. If the Court proposes to make a parenting order that does not give a parent the role of providing day-to-day care for a child,

the Court must consider whether and how the order can and should provide for the parent to have contact with the child.

207. The Act also recognises different arrangements for caring for children. Children in New Zealand are brought up in many types of family arrangements. For example, children may be cared for by both their parents, by members of their whānau or wider family group, or by same-sex partners. The Act makes it clear that it is important for children to keep and strengthen their links with their wider family, including whānau, hapū, iwi and other family groups. It also encourages members of whānau and other wider family groups to participate in the care and upbringing of children.

208. In addition, a person who is not a parent can become a guardian by being appointed by the Family Court. This might be a family member, for example, a grandparent. The Court can appoint a guardian after being asked by someone to do so, or it can do so at the same time as it decides to remove a guardian. Anyone can apply to the Court asking it to appoint a guardian. In particular, the Act expressly provides for circumstances in which a new partner of a parent may be appointed as a guardian of a child.

Supporting working parents to meet their responsibilities

209. Balancing work and caring for children are issues faced by many working parents. To help people live, care and work in ways that suit them, and to help attract and retain staff, many employers and unions are working to create workplaces that support parents and carers. Government initiatives have included:

- · Expanding early childhood education and out-of-school services
- Introducing government-funded paid parental leave and extending entitlement for working parents up to 14 weeks when they take leave from their job(s) after the birth or adoption of a child

210. In August 2006, the Government launched a major initiative 'Choices for Living, Caring and Working' recognising the importance of enabling parents and other carers to make choices about their caring roles and work. This initiative's vision is of a society that provides parents and carers with real choices for living, caring and working that suit their needs and to:

- · Achieve quality outcomes for children, families and others who require care
- Achieve greater fairness in opportunities for men and women to participate in highquality work
- · Enable people to balance their work and other aspects of their lives
- · Increase productivity and economic growth

211. The Employment Relations (Flexible Working Arrangements) Amendment Act 2007 provides eligible employees with the right to request flexible working arrangements to enable them to care for someone, for example children and young people. Young workers who have caring responsibilities and who meet the eligibility criteria of the Act will also be able to request a flexible working arrangement.

D. Separation from parents (art. 9)

1. Children's contact with parents who are in prison

212. All new prisoners are asked whether they are financially or custodially responsible for any children so as to determine whether there is a need for care and protection services because of the parent's prison admission. As at 27 February 2007, 14 percent of male

prisoners and 30 percent of female prisoners had indicated on admission to prison that they were caring for at least one child before being imprisoned.

213. The Corrections (Mothers with Babies) Amendment Act 2008 raises the age limit for babies allowed to be accommodated in prisons with their mothers from six to 24 months. This applies to all female prisoners regardless of their security classifications, or whether or not they have been convicted or sentenced.

2. Children separated from their parents and placed in care and protection

214. Child, Youth and Family is guided by the objectives and principles of the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989, and the Care of Children Act 2004, which emphasise the need to protect and strengthen connections between children, young people and their families, whänau, hapü, iwi and other family groups. In New Zealand there has been a relatively steady increase in the number of children and young people in care. There is an increasing proportion of care placements with family or whänau (kinship care), rather than with unrelated foster families, as this generally enhances permanency and stability for the young person.

E. Family reunification (art. 10)

215. In 2001, the Department of Labour introduced the Dependent Child Policy, which provides for parents who are either New Zealand citizens or residents to apply for residence for dependent children. In 2007, the government agreed that this policy would no longer form part of the general residence quota and that the Department grant priority to any such applications. This removed the limitation on the total number of children who could join their New Zealand citizen or resident parent in New Zealand.

1. Transitional immigration policy

216. Government's transitional immigration policy that came into effect in October 2000 enabled some well-settled overstayers and their immediate families to regularise their immigration status prior to new immigration laws coming into effect. Overstayers had from 1 October 2000 until 30 March 2001 to lodge an application for a two-year work permit. A total of 12,588 applications have been decided, of which 10,938 were approved. Of these, 1,917 were decisions applicable to people aged up to 19 years of age, with 1,645 gaining approval.

2. The Refugee Family Support Category

- 217. The Refugee Family Support Category became operational from 1 October 2007. It facilitates family reunification for refugees with extended family members (who do not have to be refugees themselves). The Refugee Family Support Category replaces the 2002 Refugee Family Quota category which used a ballot system.
- 218. The Refugee Family Support Category, which has 300 places available annually, provides a clearer prioritisation mechanism for applications. It uses a two-tiered registration system: Tier One prioritises and queues sponsorship applications for eligible close family members of refugees who are alone: Tier Two deals with other applications and it fills residual places (if any) by ballot.
- 219. Tier One sponsors can also now apply to sponsor a family under the Refugee Family Support Category from the time the sponsor is granted residence in New Zealand. Previously the Refugee Family Quota policy required a three-year waiting period.

F. Recovery of maintenance for the child (art. 27)

- 220. Inland Revenue administers the child support scheme. Significant amendments to the Child Support Act 1991 in 2006:
 - Allowed Inland Revenue to write off some penalty debt if a liable parent entered and maintained an arrangement to pay both current child support liability and an agreed amount of arrears of liability
 - Allowed Inland Revenue to initiate an administrative review of child support liability if it considers that the amount of child support payable by a liable parent does not accurately reflect that parent's ability to provide financial assistance for his or her child(ren)
 - Introduced a permanent exemption from liability for victims of sex offences and a temporary exemption for liable parents under the age of 16 years

International arrangements

- 221. New Zealand and Australia reached a formal agreement to exchange child support cases for enforcement effective 1 July 2000, an important development in light of the movement of citizens between our two countries. The reciprocal agreement applies when one party lives in each country. The country where the custodian resides assesses the child support obligation and refers it to the other for enforcement when necessary.
- 222. In the calendar year 2007, New Zealand sent Australia 1,497 cases for enforcement bringing the number of cases which they enforce under the reciprocal agreement to 8,500. Australia sent New Zealand 1,185 cases for enforcement, bringing the number of cases New Zealand enforces to 5,000.
- 223. New Zealand also administers about 200 court orders under two other international child support provisions the Convention on the International Recovery of Maintenance and the Commonwealth Scheme.
- 224. The Convention on the International Recovery of Child Support and Other Forms of Family Maintenance was concluded in the Netherlands in November 2007. When the explanatory note to this Convention has been finalised, New Zealand officials will undertake a national interest analysis and identify any legislative changes required for New Zealand to ratify.

G. Adoption (art. 21)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 34:

In considering the reform of its legislation on adoption, the Committee recommends that the State party pay particular attention to article 12 and the right of children to express their views and have those views be given due weight in accordance with the age and maturity of the child. In particular, the Committee recommends that the State party:

- (a) Require that children of a certain age consent to their adoption;
- (b) Ensure the right of adopted children to access, as far as possible, information about their biological parents;
- (c) Ensure the right of children, as far as possible, to maintain one of their original first names.

225. The Government has begun the process for a comprehensive reform of adoption laws with the Ministry of Justice conducting targeted consultation in 2003. A key objective in reviewing adoption legislation is to update the legal frameworks to better align with modern adoption practices, contemporary society structures, and values and obligations contained in international instruments. Due to other work programme priorities, the review was placed on hold for a period. Work on the reform recommenced in 2006. A considered and comprehensive approach is being taken to reviewing these complex issues.

Inter-country adoption

226. Over the reporting period, new adoption agreements, that operate in accordance with the Hague Convention on Protection of Children and Cooperation in respect of Intercountry Adoption, have been formed with Lithuania and Chile. The Ministry of Social Development has also accredited two private agencies to facilitate placements as per the Hague Convention standards.

H. Illicit transfer and non-return (art. 11)

1. The Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction

- 227. As set out in the previous report, New Zealand acceded to the Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction (the Hague Convention) on 31 May 1991. The Convention is implemented through the Care of Children Act 2004. The Central Authority is the Secretary for Justice.
- 228. To secure and protect children pending the outcome of an application, the Ministry of Justice ensures that all applications are processed expeditiously. This includes legal assistance to make an application and provide documents required by overseas states. The Central Authority also appoints and funds senior counsel to represent the Central Authority, and liaises with other agencies such as Police, including Interpol, and Child, Youth and Family. Legal aid may also be available in some cases.
- 229. It is also possible to apply for an order or a warrant preventing wrongful removal of children from New Zealand under section 77 of the Care of Children Act 2004 where there are reasonable grounds to believe a child is about to be taken out of New Zealand.

2. The United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime

230. On 19 July 2002, New Zealand ratified the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime, as well as its related Protocols: the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children and the Protocol against the Smuggling of Migrants by Land, Sea and Air. The Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, complements the Hague Convention by providing additional protection to victims of trafficking and assisting in their recovery from trauma.

3. Trafficking in New Zealand

- 231. New Zealand has legislation prohibiting trafficking that carries severe penalties, for example a prison term not exceeding 20 years, or a fine not exceeding \$500,000, or both. Other legislative changes have broadened and increased the penalties for a range of associated immigration and passport offences. Police powers have been increased to prosecute those guilty of trafficking, while protecting the rights of the trafficked people.
- 232. The Department of Labour is to develop a 'Plan of Action to Prevent People Trafficking' by March 2009 and released a discussion document entitled 'Consultation on a

Plan of Action to Prevent People Trafficking' in 2008. The discussion document highlighted government's anti-trafficking work, and sought input from interested parties on the plan's proposed approach, development and implementation.

233. New Zealand's border security and immigration efforts incorporate stringent antitrafficking objectives and operations. These measures have been stepped up over the past year with a number of immigration investigations having been carried out to specifically identify whether trafficking offences have occurred. Still no evidence of trafficking has been found. All immigration compliance staff have received additional training in trafficking identification, witness protection processes and victim interviewing skills.

I. Abuse and neglect (art. 19), including physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration (art. 39)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 28:

The Committee recommends that the State party:

- (a) Expand services and programmes aimed at assisting victims of abuse, and ensure that they are provided in a child-sensitive manner which respects the privacy of the victim;
- (b) Increase programmes and services aimed at the prevention of child abuse in the home, schools and institutions and ensure that there are sufficient numbers of adequately qualified and trained staff to provide these services;
- (c) Continue to improve the coordination of services for vulnerable families and victims of abuse.

1. Ill-treatment and the abuse of children

- 234. The government is committed to protecting children and young people from all forms of exploitation, abuse and neglect and has put considerable resources and effort into safeguarding them through policy platforms and initiatives and domestic legislation. However, notifications of suspected child abuse or neglect have increased since 2004, as have the number of substantiated cases. What is not clear is whether this trend reflects population growth, higher actual levels of child abuse or a lower tolerance of child abuse among the community, and a greater willingness to report suspected abuse.
- 235. Over the reporting period, measures have been taken to improve service coordination for child victims of ill-treatment and abuse, including:
 - Differential response providing a wider range of options than available previously for responding to Care and Protection reports, and enabling closer collaboration with community service providers
 - Family Violence Inter-Agency Response System co-ordinating Women's Refuge, Police and Child, Youth and Family responses to family violence and ensuring appropriate responses to both victims and offenders
 - Family Safety Teams created to strengthen the criminal justice response to family violence and encourage better use of services such as protection orders, counselling, income, housing, education and health support, by matching family needs to locally available services
 - Health and education assessment and planning frameworks for use with all children and young people when they enter care

- Government has invested in a range of services for children who witness family violence, it is an initiative that focuses on ensuring children's safety and well-being, that children are well supported and able to access child-focused services
- 236. In addition to the above national services, Puäwaitahi was established in November 2002 to service New Zealand's largest metropolitan area, Auckland. Puäwaitahi is an interagency, multi-disciplinary partnership, committed to providing a co-ordinated and effective response to the abuse and neglect of children and young people. The key components of Puäwaitahi are child protection; health; policing; mental health; and therapeutic services. There is also a liaison position, working across all the services and building collaborative internal and external relationships. Recently, the Auckland District Health Board family violence co-ordinator and specialist trainers have co-located to this site. Also located within the centre is a Child, Youth and Family social worker jointly funded by the Auckland District Health Board and Child, Youth and Family to assist in the interface between the two organisations.

2. Family violence

- 237. Family violence is a complex social issue that occurs between family members of all cultures, classes, backgrounds and socio-economic circumstances. The government is committed to eliminating family violence and recognises that this is a long-term goal that requires a co-ordinated and sustained effort from government, non-government, communities and individuals.
- 238. Work towards a steady and significant reduction in levels of family violence builds on earlier work outlined in the government strategy Te Rito New Zealand Family Violence Prevention Strategy, released in February 2002. It set out key goals and objectives and a framework to work towards the vision of families living free from violence.
- 239. In the 2004 Budget, the government expanded its family violence prevention programme with a new service within the Ministry of Social Development to support case managers working with clients who disclose family violence. The programme includes processes for screening clients for family violence and referring to community service providers as appropriate.
- 240. Each year, from 2003 to 2007, the government has announced increased funding and new initiatives in the family violence area. Many of these initiatives are outlined in the New Zealand Family violence clearing house website. For further information, please see www.nzfvc.org.nz.
- 241. Despite this progress, the Government's 2004 Opportunity for All New Zealanders report identified family violence as a critical social issue requiring sustained inter-agency attention. As a consequence the Family Violence Ministerial Team, consisting of six Cabinet Ministers and the Chairperson of the Open Hearing into the Prevention of Violence against Women and Children, was established. Its role is to provide leadership across the state sector, promote public debate, and demonstrate the government commitment to addressing this critical social issue.
- 242. In June 2005, the Taskforce for Action on Violence within Families was established to advise the Family Violence Ministerial Team on how to make improvements to the way family violence is addressed, and how to eliminate family violence in New Zealand. The Taskforce consists of Chief Executives, decision-makers from the government and non-government sectors, the judiciary and Crown agencies. The Taskforce supersedes and builds on the vision and progress made under the Te Rito Strategy.

- 243. The Taskforce members are significantly committed to working together to provide leadership to end family violence and promote stable, healthy families. This cross-sectoral approach is particularly unique because of the judiciary's presence in the group.
- 244. The Taskforce published its First Report in July 2006, setting out its vision and programme of action for 2006/2007 and beyond. Its vision is that "All families and whänau have healthy, respectful, stable relationships, free from violence". The Taskforce launched its Ongoing Programme of Action in February 2008. This sets out the Taskforce work programme for 2007/2008 and beyond, and builds on the same principles outlined in the First Report.
- 245. The Taskforce is also placing a great deal of emphasis on prevention and early intervention. Quality intervention services that support young children and their families can significantly improve health, education and social outcomes. They can help all children, particularly those who are vulnerable, to reach their full potential and to live lives free from abuse, neglect, violence or non-accidental injury.
- 246. A key focus of work for the Taskforce in 2008–2009 is on child abuse within the family setting. This work is being led through the Programme of Action on the Prevention of Child Maltreatment.
- 247. To ensure that our actions are culturally relevant for Mäori and Pacific peoples and to develop specific programmes of action for Mäori and Pacific peoples, the Mäori Reference Group and the Pacific Advisory Group (established by the Ministry of Social Development) have worked with the Taskforce to develop specific programmes of action for Mäori and Pacific peoples.
- 248. The nationwide Campaign for Action on Family Violence, launched in September 2007 and led by the Ministry of Social Development and the Families Commission, is one of the Taskforce's most visible initiatives. The campaign promotes the message that family violence is not OK, but it is OK to ask for help.
- 249. The results of a reach and retention survey on the effectiveness of the advertising campaign show that it has been extremely effective to date in engaging with all New Zealanders (including Mäori and Pacific communities). Based on a survey conducted in March–April 2008, 89 percent of those surveyed recall the TV adverts, with one in five of those people reporting taking action as a result. This is consistent with the survey results from the December 2007 survey. In addition, Police statistics released in April 2008 show a 31.5 percent increase in reported domestic violence, indicating that efforts to encourage people to report family violence are effective.

3. Domestic Violence Act 1995

250. In 2005, the Ministry of Justice undertook an issues-based review of the Domestic Violence Act 1995 to determine if amendments were required to improve its effectiveness. A discussion document was released for public consultation in December 2007 and considered possible amendments to the Domestic Violence Act 1995 and the Care of Children Act 2004. The possible amendments that relate to children are:

- Improving access to programmes for respondents, protected persons and their children
- Ensuring further consistency between the Domestic Violence Act and the Care of Children Act 2004 in regard to dealing with psychological abuse
- · The use of lawyers for the children
- Increasing the definition of the age of a child to 18 years

- Reviewing contact issues when temporary protection orders are made
- 251. Legislation is currently being drafted to give effect to these proposals.

J. Corporal punishment (art. 19)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 30:

The Committee recommends that the State party:

- (a) Amend legislation to prohibit corporal punishment in the home;
- (b) Strengthen public education campaigns and activities aimed at promoting positive, non-violent forms of discipline and respect for children's right to human dignity and physical integrity, while raising awareness about the negative consequences of corporal punishment.
- 252. The Committee has previously expressed concern with Section 59 of the Crimes Act 1961 that allows physical force against children as a punishment within the family setting provided the force is reasonable in the circumstances.
- 253. Section 59 of the Crimes Act 1961 was repealed in June 2007 and was replaced with section 59(1), abolishing the legal use of parental force for the purposes of correction. This legislative change meets the Committee's previous recommendation that New Zealand review this piece of legislation as a means of effectively banning all forms of physical or mental violence, injury or abuse within the family setting.
- 254. Under the new section 59, Police have the discretion not to prosecute complaints against a parent of a child, or person in the place of a parent of a child, regarding an offence involving the use of force against a child. This discretion is used in circumstances where the offence is considered to be inconsequential and there is no public interest in proceeding with a prosecution.
- 255. As indicated earlier, the Government has in place a large number of positive parenting programmes and services available many delivered by non-government organisations, including Mäori and Pacific providers. Increased funding has been provided to these programmes and services over the last few years. This is in addition to services provided by the non-government sector in its own right.
- 256. Organisations like the Office of the Children's Commissioner provide information and guidance on good parenting practice. In addition, District Health Boards and local authorities provide information to parents such as 'parent packs' that provide them with information on where to seek advice.

K. Factors and difficulties

257. Ensuring the safety and enhancing the well-being of children in state care has been a major focus for Child, Youth and Family over the reporting period. There have been considerable challenges. The increasing level of identified child abuse has stretched the service's resources and there have been some high profile systems failures. In response, the Government has consolidated Child, Youth and Family into the Ministry of Social Development and has increased funding for the service by 100 percent since 1999. Systems are in place to ensure that relevant and robust information is gathered to help improve services to keep children and young people safe. Workforce training and increased professionalism has been given high priority. However, building up such expertise and

capability takes time, particularly in an environment where there has been considerable change at both an operational and strategic level over a period of time.

VII. Basic health and welfare

A. Child health

258. New Zealand aims to provide every child in New Zealand with the best start in life. From conception through to five years of age, each child is entitled to an integrated programme of health care and early childhood support as set out in the Well Child Tamariki Ora Framework. A growing network of school and community-based youth health services provide support for adolescents' developmental needs. There are particular programmes — such as Family Start — that deliver additional support to children and families in less-advantaged communities. Over the period since the last report, government has initiated a range of policies designed to reduce inequalities and improve the health and wellbeing of young New Zealanders. As was noted earlier, 70 per cent of children under six now have access to free health care and all children are entitled to free hospital care.

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 36:

The Committee recommends that the State party:

- (a) Allocate sufficient human and financial resources to implement the Child Health Strategy;
- (b) Take all necessary measures to ensure universal immunization coverage and develop preventive health care and guidance for parents and families that effectively address the relatively high rates of infant mortality and injuries;
- (c) Take all necessary measures to address disparities in health indicators between ethnic communities, in particular the Mäori population.

1. Child and youth health strategies

- 259. The Ministry of Health's 2004 Child and Youth Health Tool kit builds on the 1998 Child Health Strategy. It is aimed at District Health Board funders and planners, doctors, nurses, managers, primary health organisations, community providers, and other individuals and groups wanting to improve child and youth health. The tool kit provides up-to-date evidence-based information and guidance on:
 - The best way to reduce inequalities between different groups of children, and to achieve health gains for all children
 - A range of indicators for measuring progress in improving the health of all children
 - Useful tools and directions for District Health Boards, managers, clinicians and primary health organisations

260. In 2007, the Minister of Health introduced ten health targets for District Health Boards to focus on. Five of these relate to child and adolescent health:

- · Increase in immunisation coverage
- · Increase in infants fully and exclusively breastfed
- Reduction in admission to hospital for preventable illnesses (children under five)
- · Improvement in adolescent oral health

- Increase the number of Year Ten students who have never smoked
- 261. Youth Health: A guide to action was published in 2002 following extensive consultation with the youth health sector and with young people. The plan set out practical steps that need to be taken to improve young people's physical and mental health and to build up knowledge and expertise around young people's health and well-being. District Health Boards are expected to use this guide to draw up their own youth health plans.

2. Resources for child health

- 262. In 2001, Government introduced one of its flagship policies: the Primary Health Care Strategy. The Strategy is designed to refocus the health sector's attention and resources on 'getting ahead' of illness. It has delivered a considerably increased proportion of funding into primary health care. Between 2002 and 2008, an additional \$2.2 billion (a 20 percent increase in the total Health vote) has been directed into lowering the cost of visiting the doctor and into providing more innovative approaches to health care, particularly for children under 6, and communities with higher health needs.
- 263. The most recent New Zealand Health Survey (2006/2007) reports that less than 1 percent of children were unable to see a general practitioner because of cost, and there has been a significant decline in the number of children attending accident and emergency departments in hospitals.
- 264. The Well Child Tamariki Ora Framework was introduced in 2002 to co-ordinate previously fragmented services for young children and their families. Well Child services provide a screening, education and support service to all New Zealand children and their families or whänau from birth to five years. Well Child services are provided by registered nurses and community health workers (kaiäwhina) with specific training in child health. Well Child includes 12 health checks, with first-time parents offered additional support.
- 265. A 'B4 School' check for all new entrants to primary school has been phased in from February 2008. This is aimed at ensuring children are adequately prepared for school entry. The check includes vision, hearing, growth and development assessment, as well as assessment of personal and social issues, and the child's ability to learn and communicate. Families with four year olds will be contacted and invited to have a free B4 School check from a registered nurse with training in child health.
- 266. New Zealand children's health is benefiting from investment in programmes that focus on better nutrition and greater levels of physical activity. For school-aged children, healthier eating habits are being encouraged through school canteen policies, social marketing strategies and a range of other school-based programmes. This includes the 'Fruit in Schools' scheme which provides fresh fruit each day to students in disadvantaged neighbourhoods. The latest New Zealand Health Survey found that between 2002 and 2006/2007 there was no increase in the proportion of New Zealand school-aged obese children.
- 267. The Ministry of Health has developed a work programme targeted at encouraging breastfeeding among new mothers and increasing the proportion of infants exclusively and fully breastfed for at least six months.

3. Measures to reduce infant mortality rates

268. In 2001, the Government established a National Child and Youth Mortality Review Committee to systematically review all deaths of children and youth (six weeks to 24 years of age). The Committee reports annually to the Minister of Health and publishes a report with recommendations to help inform policy and planning to reduce child death.

- 269. In its most recent report, the Committee notes that infant mortality rates have remained largely static over the past 10 years. Infections and Sudden Unexplained Deaths in Infancy (SUDI) account for the majority of deaths. The Committee has recommended that the Ministry of Health evaluate its current SUDI prevention messages and consider ways that effective health promotion about baby-safe environments can be implemented, particularly on safe sleeping practices and smoking during pregnancy. As the Committee points out, these strategies need to be effective in Mäori and Pacific communities.
- 270. The Ministry of Health is currently reviewing the Well Child Framework to see whether it is meeting the needs of children in the most vulnerable families, and if better linkages can be made between maternity services and other primary health care providers.
- 271. A review of maternity service provision is also currently under way. While most New Zealand women report being satisfied with current maternity care, a small but growing minority of expectant mothers is having difficulty finding a Lead Maternity Carer as a result of workforce shortages combined with an unexpected rise in the birth rate. The Ministry of Health has developed a Maternity Action Plan to address key issues with maternity services and will seek public feedback to assist with the development of an implementation plan.

4. Immunisation initiatives

- 272. In 2007, the Ministry of Health set specific targets to focus resources and improve health, including increasing immunisation coverage. The national target for immunisation is for 95 percent of two year olds to be fully immunised. The figure is currently around 71 percent, but immunisation rates tend to be lower among Mäori and Pacific infants. A National Immunisation Register has been developed and is now being used to monitor immunisation coverage and follow up. Particular challenges include keeping track of infants whose families move between districts. Better linkages between Primary Health Care Organisations are being encouraged in order to address this issue.
- 273. In 2004, a mass immunisation programme campaign was implemented to protect New Zealanders under 20 years old from the New Zealand-specific strain that causes the most cases of meningococcal disease. That programme ended in 2006, although the vaccine continued to be offered to pre-schoolers until 2008 and is still available for people considered to be at heightened risk of contracting meningococcal disease. During the programme, more than 1.1 million young New Zealanders received the MeNZBTM vaccine.
- 274. New Zealand girls aged 12 to 18 years are now offered a free vaccine to prevent the most common infections that can lead to cervical cancer. New Zealand's HPV (human papillomavirus) Immunisation Programme started in September 2008. The HPV vaccine will be administered through nurses in schools, or family doctors for girls no longer at school.

5. HIV/AIDS antenatal screening

275. New Zealand was one of the first countries in the world to experience a decline in HIV and AIDS incidence. Between 1999 and 2007, 12 children were born HIV-positive in New Zealand. Government guidelines recommend universal screening of pregnant women for HIV. Universal screening is carried out in the Waikato District Health Board and a further 11 health boards plan to start screening in early 2009.

6. Measures to prevent deaths from injury

276. Mortality rates in the one to four year age group continue to decline, but the number of deaths by drowning and motor vehicle accidents remain high. In light of these concerns,

strategies to reduce drowning and effective messages about water safety continue to be promoted.

277. Nearly half the Police Youth Education Service's activity is devoted to school road safety education. One strategy is the operation of the School Traffic Safety Teams which provide safe places for children to cross roads to and from school. Police operate Road Safe Series programmes in all schools. They are a co-ordinated and integrated series of programmes throughout primary and secondary school that teach young people appropriate road safety skills at each level of their schooling. Police have also developed a resource that provides parents and caregivers with practical things they can teach their children to keep them safe on the road. The resource is available in Chinese, Samoan, Tongan and Korean languages.

278. The 'Speed Kills Kids' campaigns were launched on 7 February 2006 in an effort to reduce the road toll among school children. Police launched a road safety campaign with the aim of getting drivers to slow down near schools, thus reducing the risk of collisions occurring.

7. Measures to reduce inequalities in child health

279. More Mäori than non-Mäori children in New Zealand experience relatively poorer health and grow up in deprived areas. Targeted programmes to address these disparities are ongoing and an improvement and a reduction in disparity has been shown in some Mäori child health indicators, including infant mortality and smoking rates.

280. The second Mäori health action plan, Whakatätaka Tuärua: Mäori Health Action Plan 2006–2011, has been published. Priority areas for attention include:

- · Building quality data and monitoring Mäori health
- · Developing models based on whänau ora
- Ensuring Mäori participation, workforce development and governance
- · Improving primary health care

281. Ngä Käwai: Implementing Whakatätaka 2002–2005 outlines milestones and achievements, at both the Ministry of Health and District Health Board level, in the initial three years following the introduction of Whakatātaka Tuarua. These milestones included:

- District Health Boards setting funding targets for investment in Mäori health and disability
- District Health Boards reporting on targets for their regions to increase funding for M\u00e4ori initiatives
- · Including targets in Crown funding agreements
- Including M\u00e4ori health and wh\u00e4nau ora as key criteria in District Health Board prioritisation, resource allocation and disincentives decisions
- District Health Boards working with their local M\u00e4ori health partners and M\u00e4ori communities to design monitoring and audit tools to evaluate progress on M\u00e4ori health objectives
- Developing a Monitoring Framework to assess progress towards whānau ora, following consultation with Mäori

282. Pacific children also experience significant disparities in health. The burden of disease among these children is illustrated by their comparatively higher rates of hospital admission and obesity. The Ministry of Health and the Ministry of Pacific Island Affairs

have developed a joint Pacific Health Action Plan to address the immediate health issues and the broader social factors affecting Pacific people's health. These include prioritising actions for Pacific children in the Well Child and B4 School checks, as well as tackling issues such as quality housing for Pacific families and training more Pacific people in the health workforce.

B. Adolescent health

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 38:

The Committee recommends that the State party:

- (a) Take all necessary measures to address youth suicide, especially among Mäori youth, inter alia by strengthening the Youth Suicide Prevention Programme;
- (b) Undertake effective measures to reduce the rate of teenage pregnancies through, inter alia, making health education, including sex education, part of the school curriculum, and strengthening the campaign of information on the use of contraceptives;
- (c) Undertake effective preventive and other measures to address the rise in alcohol consumption by adolescents and increase the availability and accessibility of counselling and support services, in particular for Mäori children;
- (d) Strengthen mental health and counselling services, ensuring that they are accessible to, and appropriate for, all adolescents, including Mäori children and those in rural areas and in residential institutions.

1. Addressing youth suicide

- 283. The Government is committed to reducing rates of youth suicide and recognises that this is an ongoing concern. Positive improvements have been seen over the reporting period through a national action plan on preventing suicide, targeted programmes and awareness-raising campaigns. The rate (three year moving average) of suicide among 15 to 19 year olds peaked during 1996–1998 but has since declined by 33.9 percent from 24.5 to 16.2 deaths per 100,000 in the 2003–2005 period.
- 284. Research has been undertaken through the Ministry of Health to explore a range of determinants of suicide and review effective intervention practices. In 2008, the Ministry of Health began funding a number of new research projects as part of a new Suicide Prevention Research Fund.
- 285. In 1998 New Zealand was amongst the first countries in the world to develop a national youth suicide prevention strategy. In 2006, Government released a new strategy, the New Zealand Suicide Prevention Strategy 2006–2016, to address suicide across all age groups, not just youth. The New Zealand Suicide Prevention Action Plan 2008–2012 was published in March 2008. The Action Plan provides details about how the goals of the Strategy 2006–2016 will be achieved over the next five years. It also describes the types of actions required across the range of sectors involved in suicide prevention.
- 286. Some additional recent developments include:
 - A national campaign about depression to encourage people to seek help (including a
 website, a free phoneline offering help and information, and radio and TV ads),
 which includes a specific focus on young people through an interactive website
 providing information about depression, online and text-based support from trained

counsellors, and video clips of young people talking about their experience of depression

- The "Towards Wellbeing" programme aims to protect Child, Youth and Family service clients who are at highest risk of suicide
- School programmes to promote mental health and wellbeing in secondary schools
- · Consideration of how to address youth access to primary health care
- New initiatives to support the management of people with common mental health problems seen in primary health care settings
- A new service to support people bereaved by a suicide, and to support communities where a suicide cluster is occurring
- Implementation of guidelines for emergency departments on the assessment and management of people who are admitted for a suicide attempt
- · Establishment of a suicide prevention research fund
- Pilot suicide prevention co-ordinators in five district health boards to facilitate the establishment of regional suicide prevention plans

"More support places that are designed for young people. Places where we can talk about things anonymously and get help from people IN PERSON! Young people need to know that there ARE people out there who do care about your feelings and opinion. Things need to be advertised more. You could send flyers to every household addressed "to the children of the household", or something similar." [Female 14, Agenda for Children consultation, 2002]

2. Measures to reduce the rate of teenage pregnancies

287. Since 2002, the birth rate for 15-19 year olds has increased slightly to 28.1 births per 1,000 women in 2006. The recent increase in the birth rate among young women has prompted a renewed focus in this area. Young people under 22 years have access to free sexual health care including contraceptive advice, STI checks, cervical screening and pregnancy tests in many general practices and Family Planning clinics across the country. The Ministry of Health is leading a cross-government Programme of Action to reduce unwanted pregnancies among young people and to support young parents. This brings together a range of initiatives across education, health and other social services.

3. Sexual health and sexuality education

288. Government's Sexual and Reproductive Health Strategy (2001) and the associated action plan (2003) provide a framework for planning and investment in sexual and reproductive health by New Zealand's District Health Boards. Through the national network of Family Planning clinics (non government organisations) and some general practices, young people under the age of 22 have access to free sexual health care including contraceptive advice, checks for sexually transmitted diseases, cervical screening and pregnancy tests. Planning is also under way for a sustained social marketing campaign designed to encourage New Zealanders to think about sexual health issues.

289. Sexuality education in New Zealand is part of the Health and Physical Education Curriculum. An Education Review Office evaluation in August 2007 highlighted that many programmes were not meeting students' needs effectively. A Ministry of Education lead work programme seeks to address these concerns through:

A stocktake and evaluation of sexuality education resources

- Identifying best-practice and developing guidelines for sexuality education in schools
- · Developing a policy framework for contracting sexuality education
- Investigating the adequacy and effectiveness of professional development for teachers of sexuality education

"Teenage pregnancy is an issue that needs to be looked at more closely. We, the students, need to be educated from the age of 13 on sexual intercourse. The teenagers of today do not realise what drugs and alcohol can do to their bodies." [Female, 14, Agenda for Children consultation, 2002]

4. Measures to address the rise in alcohol consumption among young people

- 290. In late 2007, a review was completed of the sale and supply of liquor to under-18 year-olds. The outcome of the review are a set of targeted proposals to reduce alcohol-related harm to minors, alongside initiatives that provide for more community involvement in the planning of where alcohol can be sold and are included in the Sale and Supply of Liquor and Liquor Enforcement Bill which was drafted but not tabled prior to the dissolution of Parliament. Additionally, the Law Commission has been commissioned to undertake a first principles review of the Sale of Liquor Act.
- 291. Since 2004, the New Zealand Police have been working in partnership with the District Licensing Authorities and Public Health Units in 'Controlled Purchase Operations'. Controlled Purchase Operations test whether licensed premises are complying with laws that prevent selling alcohol to minors. This is done by organising for under-age volunteers to attempt to purchase alcohol from licensed premises under Police supervision. The operations give premises an opportunity to test their procedures for preventing the sale of alcohol to minors and to tighten up their systems where necessary.
- 292. Police can issue Liquor Infringement Notices to minors under the Sale of Liquor Act 1989. These Notices provide an efficient administrative tool to deal with infractions by minors, as an alternative to prosecution through the courts. Liquor Infringement Notices can be issued to under-18 year olds who purchase liquor, are in a restricted and supervised area of a licensed premise, and/or are drinking or possess liquor in a public place.
- 293. The Government has also initiated a wide-ranging review of the self-regulatory system that controls the advertising and promotion of alcohol. Several recommendations have been made, some of which are aimed at minimising overall exposure of alcohol advertising to children and young people under the minimum legal purchasing age. The government will consider the recommendations when the second review on the sale and supply of alcohol is completed.

"The ads on TV make drinking look like a fun thing – like adults play with alcohol and kids play with dolls" [Male, 14, member of Activate (Ministry of Youth Development-youth reference group), discussion on raising the age of drinking, 2007]

5. Measures to increase the availability and accessibility of alcohol and drug counselling and support services, particularly for Mäori children

294. An increase in drug-related school suspensions, especially among Mäori, was one of the driving forces behind the creation of Community Action on Youth and Drugs projects.

These projects respond to youth alcohol and drug issues at a local level, with a focus on collaboration between community organisations, local agencies and researchers. The aim is to strengthen community action and overall well-being, particularly through a kaupapa Mäori approach to reducing drug-related harm to youth. There are now 24 Community Action on Youth and Drugs projects operating in selected communities throughout New Zealand. The Centre for Social and Health Outcomes Research and Evaluation and Te Röpu Whäriki recently conducted an evaluation that found evidence of progress in most sites, although these projects are still in an early stage of development.

6. Measures to strengthen mental health and counselling services for adolescents

- 295. Significant progress has been achieved in the range and coverage of child and adolescent mental health services in New Zealand. All 21 District Health Boards now have specialist Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, with more than one service funded in the larger centres. District Health Boards also provide outreach services to rural communities.
- 296. Government recognises the ongoing challenge of growing the size and capability of the child and adolescent mental health workforce. In 2003, the Ministry of Health established the Werry Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health Workforce Development to support District Health Boards and the health sector to address this challenge. Steady growth has been seen over the reporting period with the funded clinical full-time equivalent workforce increasing from 540 in 1999/2000 to 799.4 full-time equivalents in 2003/2004.
- 297. In 2000/2001, the Mental Health Information National Collection (MHINC) was established and has collected and monitored data on access to specialist Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service.
- 298. Te Tähuhu Improving Mental Health 2005–2015 and Te Kökiri: The Mental Health and Addiction Action Plan 2006–2015 provide the policy foundation for child and youth mental health and alcohol and other drug service provision.
- 299. A project is under way to address the inconsistent provision of mental health services for young people in Child, Youth and Family residences. It is anticipated that by 1 July 2009, all health services for children in care will be provided on site, and be funded by the Ministry of Health.

7. Measures to reduce adolescent smoking

- 300. Cigarette smoking in the youth age group has fallen significantly over the reporting period from 28.6 percent in 1999, to 12.8 percent in 2007. However, Mäori females and Pacific males have the highest rates for cigarette smoking in this age group.
- 301. The Government has led a range of initiatives to reduce smoking rates in New Zealand. These include:
 - · Prohibiting smoking in indoor workplaces including bars and restaurants
 - · Banning tobacco advertising and sponsorships
 - · Subsidising nicotine replacement therapy
 - Providing an additional \$32 million over the next four years to make even greater reductions in smoking rates, and in the number of teens taking up smoking

C. Standard of living (art. 27)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 42:

In accordance with article 27.3 of the Convention, the Committee recommends that the State party take appropriate measures to assist parents, in particular single parents, and others responsible for the child to implement the child's right to an adequate standard of living. In this regard, the Committee recommends that the State party ensure that assistance provided to Mäori and Pacific Island families respects and supports their traditional extended family structures.

1. Measures taken to improve living standards

- 302. Over the reporting period, a number of significant measures have been taken to improve the living standards of New Zealand families. One of the most important of these is the Working for Families package rolled out in stages between October 2004 and April 2007. This is a key part of the government's programme to make work pay and reduce child poverty through an integrated programme of initiatives to lift incomes, strengthen work incentives and make housing and child care more affordable.
- 303. The Working for Families package aims to achieve long-term, sustained, substantial reduction in child poverty by improving income adequacy and encouraging and assisting people into paid work. The Working for Families package implementation has had a significant effect on families' incomes (including Mäori and Pacific families) across New Zealand.
- 304. The Working for Families package addressed the costs of raising children through increases to family support (now known as family tax credit), accommodation costs through changes to the accommodation supplement, and child care costs through changes to the childcare subsidy and out-of-school care and recreation subsidy.
- 305. Working for Families tax credits are paid to qualifying families with children aged 18 years or under to help with the cost of raising a family. The amount that a person can earn and still receive through Working for Families tax credits varies on the age and number of children. Other components include an in-work tax credit (formerly in-work payment) and minimum family tax credit (formerly Family Tax Credit).
- 306. Supporting initiatives that complement the Working For Families package include:
 - Primary health care comprehensive investment that includes reducing the cost of visits to doctors
 - Labour market raising minimum wage, providing and expanding paid parental leave and flexible working hours
 - Education subsidising cost of early childhood care and expanding provision of after-school-care
 - Social security a comprehensive package of initiatives to facilitate personalised and smoother transitions from social security into work
 - Housing increasing the provision of affordable housing; this is in addition to increasing access to the accommodation supplement which is a component of Working for Families

2. Monitoring and evaluation

307. The Working for Families Evaluation Team is a collaborative cross-agency team that monitors the impact of Working for Families. The reports that have been produced to

date provide information on the national uptake of the main components of Working for Families, specifically tax credits, accommodation supplement and child care assistance. In addition, the evaluation has produced a wealth of quantitative and qualitative data. This enables detailed reporting on the effects Working for Families has had on families, focusing on the impact on net incomes, income poverty and living standards, especially for low and middle-income families with dependent children.

308. Over the long term, the evaluation will track employment (regarding earnings, wages and hours worked) and examine how effectively the Working for Families components are working together to support employment. Much of this work will follow from observing families prior to, and following, the introduction of the in-work tax credit.

3. Impact of Working for Families package

- 309. Since 2004, Working for Families has significantly increased incomes for low and middle income New Zealanders, especially families with children. When the full impact of the Working for Families package is more completely captured, further reductions in child poverty rates are expected.
- 310. While it is still too early to determine the final outcome, a recent report on Household Incomes in New Zealand shows that on all measures, the poverty rates for children (regardless of household type) declined from 2004 to 2007. This is the first time in two decades that child poverty rates fell on all the standard poverty measures at the same time.
- 311. Statistics show that over the period 2001–2007 child poverty fell from 29 percent in 2001 to 16 percent in 2007 using the fixed-line measure used in the Social Report. This represents a total of 130,000 fewer children in households with incomes below the poverty line in 2007 compared with 2001. The child poverty rate also fell from 2004 to 2007 using relative or moving-line poverty measures. This reverses the upward trend that began in the late 1990s, and places New Zealand at the European Union median, using a 60 percent moving line measure in 2007.
- 312. Reduction in the child poverty rate has been achieved because of three things:
 - Extra help to families with children through the Working for Families package
 - The strong economy, with high employment and low unemployment
 - The fall in numbers of children in families whose main source of income is a benefit (40,000 fewer in 2007 compared with 2004)
- 313. Over the same period, income inequality reduced for the first time since it began to rise in the late 1980s. Incomes for low to middle-income households grew much more rapidly than for above-average-income households this is mainly attributed to the Working for Families package.
- 314. Working for Families has created a strong financial incentive for work-ready sole parents to move into work. Since the Working for Families package began, numbers receiving the Domestic Purposes Benefit has fallen by over 12,000 in other words 60 percent of the decrease in these numbers over the past ten years has occurred in the three years since the Working for Families changes were first started.

D. Social security and childcare services facilities (arts. 26 and 18)

1. Social security paid for, or on behalf of, a child

315. New Zealand recognises a child's right to benefit from social security in a number of ways. The social security system primarily provides for a child's needs through payment to their parents or caregivers on their behalf (principally, the Domestic Purposes Benefit, Orphan's Benefit/Unsupported Child's Benefit, and Independent Youth Benefit). The key means of providing social protection are social security benefits for income support, tax credits and other payments. The benefit rates are adjusted annually to take account of cost of living increases. The principal support for children, however, is provided through Working for Families tax credits under the Income Tax Act 2007, rather than through the social security system.

316. In 2005, the 'child component' amount of main benefits was removed at the same time as the Working for Families tax credit (then called 'family support') rates were increased. In all cases the increase in family tax credit more than offset the removal of the child component.

2. Domestic Purposes Benefit

- 317. The Domestic Purposes Benefit for sole parents provides income support for sole parents with one or more dependent children. Income abatement effectively restricts its availability to those who are not working or only working limited hours.
- 318. Following review of the Domestic Purposes Benefit in 2002, a personal development and employment planning requirement was introduced to encourage sole parents to plan for and develop life skills, social, educational or employment-related skills. These skills will assist the recipient to enter paid employment as this is seen to offer the best opportunity for people to achieve social and economic well-being. This requirement, coupled with an in-work tax credit and additional child care assistance introduced as part of the Working for Families Package, has had strong success in moving work-ready sole parents (predominantly women) into work.

3. Foster Care Allowance, Unsupported Child's Benefit, and Orphan's Benefit

319. The Working for Families package also includes increased assistance for people who care for children who are not their own. The Orphan's Benefit, Unsupported Child's Benefit and Foster Care Allowance rates were increased in 2005 as part of a package of enhancements. The Orphan's Benefit and Unsupported Child's Benefit rates were also increased a further \$10 in 2007. These increases provide enhanced support for caregivers and recognise the support they provide to children whose parents are unable to care for them.

4. Independent Youth Benefit

- 320. The Youth Benefit under the Social Security Act 1964 is available to young people aged 16 or 17 years who have lost their parents' support through a breakdown in the relationship or other good reason. Significant changes to the support and services offered to young people between the ages of 16 and 19 came from the 2007 Working New Zealand initiative.
- 321. The shared Government and Mayors' Taskforce for Jobs goal is to have all 15 to 19 year olds engaged in employment, training, education activities or productive activities in their communities. In recognition of this goal, a new activity requirement replaced the work test for young people on the Independent Youth Benefit. Under this new activity requirement, young people may be eligible for an Independent Youth Benefit if they are in

secondary education, or employment-related training, looking for work, are sick, injured, disabled, pregnant or have lost their parents' support. This change recognises the importance of education and training for young people.

5. Accommodation supplement

- 322. The Working for Families package included a number of changes to the Accommodation Supplement to improve housing affordability and strengthen work incentives for families and working people, including:
 - Families on the benefit were able to earn income from October 2004 without having their Accommodation Supplement reduced. Changes were also made increasing the amount able to be earned before their assistance was reduced.
 - The entry threshold (the amount people must pay in housing costs before becoming eligible for the Accommodation Supplement) was lowered to align with that applicable to an Unemployment Benefit beneficiary. This increased the assistance available to non-beneficiary families.
 - Changes were made to Accommodation Supplement areas from 1 April 2005, to recognise the higher costs of housing in different parts of New Zealand, and the number of areas and maximum rates were also increased.
- 323. Families, as well as those without children, benefited from these changes. It was estimated at the time that an extra 15,000 people would be eligible for the Accommodation Supplement and a further 100,000 would have their Accommodation Supplement increased by an average of \$19 a week.

6. Childcare assistance

324. In the period since 2001, a number of changes have been made to assist people with dependent children to undertake paid work by making childcare more affordable. In 2004, the Working for Families package increased the Out-of-School Care and Recreation subsidy rates, with a further 10 percent increase in 2005. The income thresholds used to determine subsidy eligibility were also raised, making more families eligible for the subsidies.

7. Out-of-School Services

- 325. Recent increases in government funding, both to providers of Out-of-School Services and to low and middle-income families using these services has seen significant growth in the sector. Between 2004 and 2006, the number of approved Out-of-School Service providers and the number of families receiving an Out-of-School Services Subsidy, doubled.
- 326. In 2006, the Government approved a Five-Year Action Plan for Out of School Services to 'enable parents of school-aged children to access age-appropriate services which are available, affordable, accessible and of good quality'. The Five-Year Action Plan identifies 12 initiatives to improve the supply of quality Out-of-School Services to help families access services so they can take up and stay in work. These initiatives also widen the focus of Out-of-School Services from care and recreation to include the health, education and general well-being of children, young people, families and communities.
- 327. One of the initiatives is to establish 12 activity-based Out-of-School Services programmes in urban, low-decile school sites by 2010. The first four of these Extended Services began operating in February 2008.

E. Factors and difficulties

- 328. Good health in childhood and adolescence is important for children and families, and is vital for good health in adulthood. Poor child health and development also have an adverse impact on broader social outcomes, including family violence, crime and unemployment. Many of these conditions are intergenerational and, if they are unrecognised and untreated, many child victims will go on to repeat the cycles of disadvantage and illness in their own lives and those of their children.
- 329. Good progress has been made towards improving the health status of children in New Zealand. However, there are still disparities to be addressed. Tamariki Mäori, Pacific children and children from low-income families and whänau experience comparatively poorer health outcomes than the overall child population. New Zealand is committed to implementing focused policies and initiatives to address these particular concerns.
- 330. In June and July 2008, the Human Rights Review Tribunal heard submission on one of the first proceedings under Part 1A of the Human Rights Act: Child Poverty Action Group Incorporated v Attorney-General. The plaintiff (a non-governmental organisation) alleges that the provision for an in-work tax credit to low to middle income families discriminates on the ground of 'employment status', as recipients of income-tested benefits are ineligible for the credit. A decision in the case is pending, but not expected until later in 2008.

VIII. Education, leisure and cultural activities

A. Education

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 44:

The Committee recommends that the State party:

- (a) Ensure that all children in the State party have access to free primary education;
- (b) Enforce legislation on compulsory education and prohibit exclusions on arbitrary grounds such as pregnancy, and ensure that students of the age of compulsory education who have legitimately been excluded from a school are enrolled elsewhere;
- (c) Take effective measures to address disparities in enrolment and dropout rates between ethnic groups, including by strengthening programmes for bilingual education:
- (d) Take all necessary measures, including the provision of quality counselling programmes in schools, to address behavioural problems of students while respecting their right to privacy
- 331. There have been a large number of changes across the whole education sector since the last report, from early childhood education and care (see part 8) to compulsory (primary and secondary) and tertiary education. The aim of the changes has been to ensure all New Zealanders have the opportunity to access and receive quality education that is sensitive and responsive to cultural diversity and delivered in a manner appropriate to an individual student's learning needs and ability.

- 332. The changes recognise the important role education plays in enabling every child to achieve their full potential and the positive contribution it makes to their social and economic well-being. These changes include:
 - Investing in the workforce through increasing remuneration and providing ongoing professional development
 - · Implementing a new and innovative curriculum and achievement system
 - Implementing a range of strategies to improve educational outcomes for all, with a focus on Mäori, Pacific and those with learning difficulties
 - Creating a new organisation (the Tertiary Education Commission) to plan, fund and monitor the tertiary sector with a mandate to ensure relevant and quality provision, alongside initiatives that reduce student's costs

1. Access to education

- 333. The situation remains unchanged from that previously reported. Section 3 of the Education Act 1989 provides that "every person who is not a foreign student is entitled to free enrolment and free education at any state school during the period beginning on the person's fifth birthday and ending on 1 January after the person's 19th birthday". Therefore, all children from the ages of five to 19 are entitled to receive a free education at a New Zealand state-run primary or secondary school. This includes alternative education, teen parent units and correspondence school. International students are charged fees to attend school, as are students attending some integrated (mainly schools with a religious focus) and private schools. Integrated and private schools also receive state funding, as do parents home schooling their children.
- 334. Legal access to free education has been extended to children illegally in New Zealand (and whose parents are seeking to regularise their immigration status) under the Limited Purpose Permit regime in 2007, as noted in part 2.
- 335. State-run schools are able to seek fees from parents and do so for a variety of reasons. However, as set down in legislation, non-payment of fees cannot deny an enrolled student access to education.

2. Teenage parents

- 336. The Ministry of Education is unaware of any student excluded or expelled because of pregnancy, and there are a number of options encouraging teen parents to continue their education or to re-engage following the birth of their child. Options include enrolment in Correspondence School while still maintaining enrolment at their local school, or attending one of 17 Teenage Parent Units nationwide. These units include childcare facilities and pastoral care for both the parent(s) and the child.
- 337. A number of additional supports are in place for teenage parents. For example, the Ministry of Social Development provides eight teen parent co-ordinators throughout the country in areas that have high numbers of teen parents. They ensure that teen parents are aware of the supports available and connect them with the appropriate health, social services and education. Teen parents can access dedicated social assistance, including day-to-day living costs, additional resources to facilitate engagement or re-engagement with education, and costs such as child care, books and travel.

"It's really unfair that you should have to leave school just because you're pregnant, because it's a bad look for the school" [Female, 15, youth stream, UNCROC Forum 2006]

3. Enrolment

338. It is compulsory for a student between the ages of six and 16 to be enrolled at and attend school. In 2007, the Ministry of Education implemented a national web-based enrolment register to track individual student enrolments within the school system (ENROL). ENROL also automates the transfer of student information when a student changes school. The Ministry expects to build on the ENROL infrastructure to improve information quality and quantity during students' time at school. ENROL is already helping to faster identify students who have not re-enrolled, allowing them to be located and supported in their return to a suitable education setting earlier.

4. Truancy

339. The Education Act 1989 provides the power to prosecute parents for not ensuring their children are attending school. These powers have been actively used as part of the Student Engagement Initiative, with the aim of reinforcing to parents/guardians their obligations to ensure their children attend school. The Ministry of Education contracts truancy services to locate individual students who are either not enrolled or who are truant and to support them to return to school. Police Youth Aid Officers are also involved as partners in local truancy prevention initiatives to work with truants and their families.

5. School exclusions, stand downs and suspensions

- 340. As the Committee noted in 2003, concern exists in the high number of students disengaging from school early, either through stand down, suspension, exclusion, expulsion, truancy, or non-enrolment. This problem has disproportionately affected Mäori and, more recently, Pacific Island children and young people.
- 341. The Education Act 1989 requires a school to notify the Secretary of Education when students are excluded (students under 16) or expelled (students over 16). The Secretary must find a school in which an excluded student can be re-enrolled and has powers to direct the re-enrolment of a student who has been expelled.

6. Early leaving exemptions

342. Early leaving exemptions are approved by the Ministry of Education and enable students under 16 to leave school legally. Since 2007, the Ministry of Education has actively managed the issuing of early leaving exemptions, reducing the number of those approved by 50 percent from 4,000 to 2,000.

7. Student Engagement Initiative

- 343. Since 2001, concerted effort and resources have been dedicated to reducing the numbers of students disengaging from school early, with a particular focus on Mäori. A range of approaches and actions have been initiated under the Student Engagement Initiative to specifically address this issue, including the Suspension Reduction Initiative and an active use of enforcement provisions under the Education Act 1989 to reduce truancy. Initially, 65 schools with high Mäori suspension rates, high numbers of early leaving exemptions, or high rates of truancy were targeted. An additional 78 schools became part of the initiative from 2002 to 2007, including some primary schools, while others that successfully reduced and maintained a low suspension rate moved out of the initiative. In 2007, 91 schools were actively involved.
- 344. The Ministry of Education annually monitors these initiatives in partnership with schools. Targeted initiatives under the Student Engagement Strategy have had a significant impact in reducing students' early disengagement from school, with 2007 figures showing reductions in the rates of suspensions, stand downs, exemptions and truancy. However,

Mäori continue to be disproportionately represented in all categories of disengagement. Complementary strategies are being applied to ensure improved retention and achievement for Mäori; these are discussed below.

8. Schools Plus

345. In April this year, government announced a new initiative called Schools Plus, which seeks to ensure that all students remain engaged either in school or in some other form of training or education until the age of 18. Currently up to 30 percent of students leave before the age of 17, many without attaining a NCEA Level 1 qualification. Mäori students leave school earlier than other students, and are less likely to leave with qualifications.

346. The initiative actively seeks to reduce student disengagement numbers by creating a range of alternative learning pathways, including vocational learning at an earlier age (youth apprenticeships), and/or training and education opportunities to under 18 year olds in full-time work. National consultation on Schools Plus has just been completed, and included seeking young people's views. Government is now considering a range of responses including legislative changes, professional development of teachers and improved pathways for students.

"Make [school] work more fun so that students will want to do it." [Male, 16, Schools Plus Consultation, group meetings hosted by the Ministry of Youth Development, 2008]

9. Initiatives to encourage Mäori

347. Increasing the success of Mäori in all aspects of education, from early childhood to life-long learning remains a key priority for Government. This is to be achieved through a range of initiatives that include lifting Mäori participation in quality early childhood education, compulsory and tertiary education, improving the capability of schools to better meet the needs of Mäori students, supporting Mäori language teaching in schools in bilingual and immersion settings and recruiting more Mäori teachers through increasing the availability of scholarships (TeachNZ).

348. Over the reporting period a number of significant initiatives have been put in place, the most recent being the 2008 launch of Ka Hikitia – Managing for Success, a strategy for Mäori education for 2008–2012 (see below). Mäori students (160,660 students) comprise around 22 percent of the total student population. By 2020, it is estimated that approximately 40 percent of all primary school children and 35 percent of all secondary school children will be of Mäori and/or Pacific descent.

349. There is evidence that a number of previously negative indicators (including retention and achievement) are starting to change. A number of highlights include:

- Between 1995 and 2006 the proportion of M\u00e4ori 16 year olds still in secondary school rose from 72.4 percent to 80.6 percent
- The proportion of M\u00e4ori students leaving school with no qualifications fell from 33.4 percent in 1999 to 21.8 percent in 2006
- The proportion of M\u00e4ori school-leavers who left school without achieving NCEA Level 1 qualification dropped from 44 percent in 2006 to 35 percent in 2007
- The percentage of M\u00e4ori students entering directly into formal tertiary education from high school rose from 31 percent of school leavers in 1998 to 51.2 percent in 2005

- The percentage of Mäori school leavers with a university entrance qualification doubled between 2001 and 2006, from 7.4 percent to 14.8 percent
- 350. The Ministry of Education's comprehensive Ngā Haeata Mätauranga the Annual Report on Mäori Education, 2006/07 sets out in detail significant statistical profiles of Mäori participation and achievement in education, with data covering most of the reporting period. Kura kaupapa Mäori (and kura teina) are schools that teach using Te Reo Mäori. In 2006 there were 6,125 Mäori students attending these schools.
- 351. The initiative Whakaaro Mätauranga seeks to encourage a more positive image of Mäori in education through a public information campaign Te Mana Ki te Taumata, (Get There with Learning). The initiative aims to increase expectations of educational success and achievement among Mäori, the community and education providers by modelling success and achievement, and highlighting career choices available through education.

"I feel that we need to keep our thinking caps on in creating strategies to make sure children can succeed in education by giving the right tools, the right funding as well as the professional support so that more students can attend school." (Te Kerei Moka (17 and 23 years old), New Zealand representative at the special session of the General Assembly on children in 2002 and at the commemorative high-level plenary meeting of the General Assembly in 2007)

10. Ka Hikitia – Mäori Education Strategy

- 352. Ka Hikitia Managing for Success: The Mäori Education Strategy (2008–2012) was developed to focus government, school and teacher practice on lifting the achievement of Mäori students through an evidence-based, outcome-focused approach.
- 353. Ka Hikitia sets out priorities, goals, actions, targets and outcomes for Mäori students over the next five years, and draws together evidence of successful approaches to Mäori education. The key elements of the strategy include better supporting the professional learning and capability of educators, responsible and accountable professional leadership, high-quality Mäori language education, family, whänau and iwi engagement in education, and government agencies working together.

11. Pacific students

- 354. New Zealand has a significant and growing Pacific population with its own particular educational needs. Pacific students now constitute 9.3 percent of the New Zealand school population, an increase from 7.6 percent in 1997. New Zealand has developed a Pacific Education Plan to ensure the success of Pacific peoples' education. The Plan is designed to help ensure that Pacific children and students receive a high-quality education from early childhood to tertiary education. Focusing on the long term, the plan offers a co-ordinated approach compared to past ad hoc initiatives. The Plan recognises that Pacific peoples must be supported to take charge of solving many of the problems themselves, in partnership with government and education providers.
- 355. Between 1998 and 2006, the percentage of Pacific students leaving with little or no formal achievement fell from 27.4 percent to 12.2 percent. The proportion of Pacific students leaving school qualified to attend university increased from 11 percent in 1998 to 16.8 percent in 2006, although this is still below the overall rate of 36.3 percent for all school leavers.

12. Addressing behavioural problems

- 356. Schools and families can call on special education services for children and young people with severe behaviour difficulties. The Government has focused on ensuring special education services are better co-ordinated and responsive to the needs of students and families. Special education provides extra assistance, adapted programmes or learning environments, and specialised equipment or materials to support children and young people and help them participate in education. Special education support includes specialist teachers, health professionals and Ministry of Education specialists. All schools receive a grant called the Special Education Grant and access school-based resource teachers called Resource Teachers: Learning and Behaviour.
- 357. School settings available to students with special education needs include mainstream classrooms, special schools and special education classes within mainstream schools. A child's parent or caregiver has the right to choose which school setting their child attends.
- 358. The National Education Guidelines require schools to provide a safe physical and emotional environment. Schools develop behaviour-management policies and procedures to be followed by staff and students. The new Curriculum was launched late in 2007 and includes core competencies such as Managing Self and Relating to Others.
- 359. Schools are responsible for managing low-level disruption and "moderate" behaviour which impacts on learning. There is additional funding and support available for teachers including over 700 resource teachers who can assist with students who have learning and behavioural difficulties. In 2007, the Ministry of Education launched the Interim Response Fund and a website which provides up-to-date information and resources on behaviour issues including bullying. Additional initiatives to combat bullying were announced in July 2008.
- 360. There are three national residential schools for children with severe behaviour problems and two residential schools for students with severe learning, behavioural and/or emotional needs. These schools provide programmes that have a consistent approach to behaviour across the school and residential services. Students are not enrolled at these schools for their entire schools career the aim is to reintegrate each student back into his or her local school and community as soon as is feasible.

13. Counselling in schools

361. Counsellors are available in some secondary schools and a number of primary and secondary schools have a range of support services, including health, social workers, youth workers and other such professionals. They are all bound by their professional code of ethics or professional association rules, which include maintaining confidentiality (except if abuse is suspected).

14. Conduct disorder/severe antisocial behaviour

362. In 2007, government published the Inter-agency Plan for Conduct Disorder/Severe Antisocial Behaviour, managed by the Ministry of Social Development. This plan outlines action areas for a comprehensive and effective approach to managing and treating behavioural difficulties. Over the next four years the focus will be on ensuring existing services are evidence-based and follow best-practice interventions. A comprehensive behavioural service for three to seven year olds will be established. A group of experts has been set up to advise on best practice in these areas. An inter-agency group will consider the recommendations, review current provisions and propose new and upgraded interventions by the end of 2009. Indicators to monitor the overall effectiveness of the Inter-agency Plan are being established.

15. Education – General

363. The New Zealand education system provides for diversity in schooling options and includes public, private and integrated schools. Further diversity of schooling is provided in certain areas by 73 Kura Kaupapa Mäori schools (compared with 59 in 1999). Kura Kaupapa Mäori are state schools in which Mäori language, culture and values predominate and in which the principal language of instruction is Mäori. Forty-six state special schools provide specialist education services for children with special education needs. Home schooling is available to parents who want to educate their children at home, provided they maintain a standard of education equivalent to that of a registered school.

16. Early childhood education

- 364. Participation in education and training from an early age is important for children and young people, and New Zealand invests significantly in ensuring that children and young people have maximum opportunities to participate. Most under-fives are enrolled in some form of early childhood education, or childcare, and participation has increased significantly in recent years. Over 94 percent of children attend early childhood education before beginning school (up from 92 percent in 2002 when this data began). Initiatives to increase participation include:
 - Twenty hours of free early childhood education was introduced for three and four year olds in July 2007. These hours are available to all parents regardless of income.
 - The Early Childhood Discretionary Grant Scheme is an annual allocation of grants to eligible community-based groups. The scheme accords priority to those communities with significantly lower early childhood education participation rates than the national average Funding for this initiative has risen from \$0.5 million in 200/2001 to \$6.2 million in 2007/2008.
 - The Ministry of Education's Promoting Participation Project also targets communities with low early childhood education participation and facilitates access to quality services. The project was developed in 2000 and first implemented in 2001 with ongoing funding of \$2.8 million per annum.

B. Education, including vocational training and guidance (art. 28)

365. New Zealand recognises education in its broadest sense. Over the reporting period, there has been increased recognition of the importance of all levels of education and training, and that vocational pathways are as important as formal academic training. This is reflected in the time and money the Government is investing in initiatives aimed at encouraging young people to participate in education and training and assisting them to make a successful transition from these into work.

1. Vocational initiatives

366. Since 2000, there has been a focus on improving vocational opportunities for young people to reduce their risk of 'dropping out', make better links with employment opportunities and encourage those already disengaged from school to re-enter school or an alternative form of training. In addition there has been a significant investment in career guidance, including new initiatives to improve students' and families' access to information so that they can make informed choices about further education and training.

367. Youth Training offers foundation-level training to young people under 18 who have left school with few or no qualifications. It is a fully funded, full-time programme (up to 52 weeks) administered by the Tertiary Education Commission and mainly provided by

Private Training Establishments. Trainees are expected to be able to progress on to further education or into employment within two months of completing the courses. There were 11,350 youth trainees in 2006, 46 percent of whom were Mäori.

- 368. The Gateway project is delivered to students at secondary school and is a vocational-based initiative designed for students interested in a particular industry. Students spend one day a week in their workplace where they are assessed and can obtain credits that count towards an industry qualification. In the year to 31 December 2006, approximately 6,680 young people, of whom 2,068 were Mäori, participated in Gateway.
- 369. A new initiative called Modern Apprenticeships was introduced in 2000 and expanded over the following years. It involves work-based learning for young people involved in industry and enables them to gain a qualification. Employers receive support from a coordinator to help manage the apprenticeship. The programme is targeted at 16 to 21 year olds who are able to meet the industry's entry requirements and are ready to start working towards a NCEA Level 3 or 4 qualification. As at July 2006 there were 5,490 under 18 year olds involved in the programme.
- 370. Youth Apprenticeships is a vocational training programme aimed to assist young people, with low or no secondary school qualifications, to continue with further education or move into work. Youth apprenticeships is being trialled in 20 schools in 2008 and rolled out to a further 100 schools in 2009. The Tertiary Education Commission is also piloting a post-placement support programme for trainees who have undergone Youth Training.

2. Designing Careers

- 371. Designing Careers was an initial step towards improving career planning for all schools, ending in 2006. Designing Careers laid the groundwork for 'Creating Pathways and Building Lives', or CPaBL, a new programme led by the Ministry of Education and supported by Career Services. CPaBL was initiated in 2007 in 100 secondary schools nationwide, and \$7.6 million over two years has been allocated for its implementation.
- 372. CPaBL supports schools to work with their own young people and provide them with comprehensive and holistic careers advice and guidance. Each school has a 'school team' tasked with developing and implementing an effective school-wide career education plan that is recognised in the school's governance and reporting arrangements. The school team includes the Principal, any careers staff, a Career Services representative and an advisor from School Support Services (a unit of the Ministry of Education responsible for promoting teachers' professional development). School teams are linked to local Youth Transition Services, the Tertiary Education Commission and the New Zealand Qualifications Authority.

3. Youth Transition Services

373. The Youth Transition Services is funded by the Ministry of Social Development and implemented in partnership with the Mayors' Taskforce for Jobs. It is designed to connect with young people and encourage and support them in thinking about their futures. The goal is to have all 15 to 19 year olds in work, education or training, or other activities that contribute to their long-term economic independence and well-being. Youth Transition Service works with local providers giving support to young people through further education, training or other activities. Many of the young people who have used the service have been supported into quality career and training opportunities, returning to school or tertiary education.

4. The Mayors' Task Force

374. The Mayors' Task Force initiative provides government funds for collaboration between central and local government aimed at providing one-year projects with training, education and work outcomes for youth, in particular those aged between 15 and 19. These projects predominantly involve local government cadetships and vocational mentoring as well as transitional services.

C. Aims of education (art. 29) with reference to quality of education

375. Government has provided significant additional investment into education, through increasing teachers' salaries (across the board) and providing for ongoing professional development. In addition they have invested in more teachers so that classroom sizes can be reduced. This includes recent funding being invested to ensure that all new entrant classes have a teacher-pupil ratio of no more than one to fifteen. This investment is considered essential so that new entrants can be given the best start, and their learning needs attended to immediately, with appropriate supports put around children who may need additional assistance such as reading recovery.

1. International benchmarks

376. Participation in international studies provides New Zealand with benchmarks for comparing our system with those of other countries, and is also a rich source of evidence for developing education policy. The programme of international assessment (PISA) is undertaken every three years and New Zealand is one of 57 countries taking part in this cycle which focuses on scientific literacy but also assesses reading and mathematical literacy. The results of the 2006 survey were released in December 2007 and New Zealand students were ranked seventh out of the 57 countries taking part.

377. Overall reports indicate that New Zealand is performing as well as, or better than, many other countries in education. The State of Education in New Zealand (2007) which pulls together indictors on participation, achievement, effective teaching, labour market outcomes and resource levels shows that New Zealand is making good progress.

2. Curriculum

378. In November 2007, a new curriculum for primary and secondary schools was released providing guidance for schools as they design and review their curriculum delivery. The curriculum complements the new assessment framework for secondary schools.

379. The new curriculum is outcome focused and moves away from detailed subject prescription. It sets out a comprehensive and positive vision for children and young people's learning. The vision is underpinned by five key competencies (thinking, using language, symbols and texts, managing self, relating to others, participating and contributing) to support eight learning areas (English, the arts, health and physical education, learning languages, mathematics and statistics, science, social sciences and technology). There is a parallel document, Te Mätauranga ö Aotearoa, providing the same guidance and framework for Mäori-medium schools. Although they come from different perspectives, both start with visions of young people who will develop the competencies they need for study, work and lifelong learning and go on to realise their potential.

380. The curriculum was developed following a 2000 review of the 1992 curriculum and substantive consultation that included discussions with over 15,000 people including students, teachers, parents and the wider community. Over 10,000 written submissions were received on the draft in 2006. Implementation of the curriculum enables schools and wider

communities to tailor education delivery to reflect the interest and needs of students and their wider community and students. Delivery is supported with ongoing professional development for teachers.

3. National Certificate of Educational Attainment (NCEA)

- 381. Another significant change in the education sector during the reporting period has been the introduction of the National Certificate of Educational Attainment (NCEA) for students in Year 11 to Year 13. NCEA can be gained in three levels; students usually work towards NCEA Level 1 in Year 11, Level 2 in Year 12, and Level 3 in Year 13. However, NCEA is very flexible and students may study at a mix of levels during a year.
- 382. NCEA is about assessing what students know. Students are assessed against pre-set standards. These standards stipulate what a student must be able to demonstrate in order to meet the standard. This means NCEA assessment results explain what a student can do.
- 383. In the past, assessment was based on ranking students, where a set proportion of the more highly ranked students passed. After ranking and scaling, there was no guarantee that those who passed knew the subject in sufficient depth, nor that those who failed did not, rather it showed that some students knew more than others did.
- 384. Standards are assessed through internal or external assessment. Internal assessment is undertaken at school through different tasks, for example, essays, exams set by teachers, and experiments.
- 385. External assessment is undertaken once a year, through national exams sat in November and December. A few externally assessed standards, such as graphics, require each student to submit a folio or collection of work.

"If you don't get NCEA [at school] then at least you have another chance to get qualifications." [unknown], Schools Plus Consultation, group meetings hosted by the Ministry of Youth Development, 2008]

4. Gifted children

- 386. Responsibility to meet the needs of gifted students lies with individual schools. In 2005, government amended the National Education Guidelines to require schools to demonstrate how they are meeting the needs of their gifted and talented learners, as they are required to do for students who are not achieving, who are at risk of not achieving, and who have special needs.
- 387. To support this change, a range of professional supports has been put in place:
 - (a) in-depth professional development through School Support Services advisors;
- (b) a handbook Gifted and Talented Students: Meeting their Needs in New Zealand Schools:
- (c) a range of online and hard-copy materials, including resources on Te Kete Ipurangi and the Ministry of Education website;
- (d) research into effective approaches to meeting the needs of gifted and talented learners.
- 388. The Funding Pool for Developing Gifted and Talented Students takes applications from clusters of schools, and not-for-profit community groups and national organisations who are working to facilitate the learning needs of groups of students who exhibit characteristics of giftedness or talent.

5. The Literacy and Numeracy Strategy

- 389. Government has a number of initiatives in place to improve child and adult literacy. These are organized under the Ministry of Education's Literacy and Numeracy Strategy. The Literacy and Numeracy Strategy sits alongside the Ministry's Adult Literacy Strategy, Pacific Literacy Strategy and Te Reo literacy strategy.
- 390. The Literacy and Numeracy Strategy does not comprise a single, discrete literacy project. Instead, the strategy acts as a device to provide alignment and consistency for a range of policies, programmes and projects all focused on improving literacy achievement.
- 391. The strategy provides a common set of evidence-based principles to underpin policies and practice. Three key themes have been used as an organising framework. They are:
 - · Raising expectations for learners' progress and achievement
 - Lifting professional capability throughout the system so that everyone plays their
 part in ensuring that the interaction between teacher and learner is as effective as
 possible
 - Developing community capability encouraging and supporting family, whānau and others to help learners
- 392. The emphasis of the strategy is on both:
 - Improving first practice, because the most appropriate and effective literacy programme for most learners is an everyday classroom programme that purposefully integrates all aspects of literacy learning
 - Ensuring that specific interventions for learners with specific, well-identified needs beyond the classroom are timely, appropriate, and well-supported back in the classroom programme
- 393. The Literacy Professional Development Project (LPDP) began in March 2004. The LPDP has a focus on improving teacher content knowledge in literacy, pedagogy and practice, and building effective professional learning communities. The project provides schools with an evidence-based professional development programme which aims to improve student learning and achievement in literacy.
- 394. The project provides schools with an evidence-based professional development programme which aims to improve student learning and achievement in literacy. A total of 288 schools (3,288 teachers) have participated in the project to date. Schools work within the project for two years.
- 395. An independent evaluation of LPDP was commissioned and undertaken by the New Zealand Council for Educational Research (NZCER) in collaboration with the University of Canterbury. The final evaluation report was received by the Ministry in August 2007. Overall, the evaluation finds that the gains in reading and writing achievement by students from schools in the LPDP were greater than those that could be expected without the intervention.

6. The Pacific Literacy Initiative

396. The Pacific Literacy Initiative, launched in December 2000, is focused on achieving the goals of the Pacific Education plan across the school sector and is an integral part of the Literacy and Numeracy Strategy.

- 397. While it was initially targeted at raising Pacific student achievement, schools involved in the programme have been able to involve other ethnic/language communities in co-operative, collaborative partnerships.
- 398. Given the success of the programme the original folder of materials has been redesigned as an inclusive model for all schools to use in developing and strengthening the Home-school partnership programme described below.

7. The Home-School Partnership Programme

- 399. The Home-School Partnership programme aims to raise students' achievement, in the context of the New Zealand curriculum, by training teams of teachers and parents to deliver sessions for parents and families that will empower them to help their children to develop their language and learning skills. All members of the school community are kept informed and are involved with the programme. This helps to develop a mutually beneficial partnership between home and school.
- 400. The teachers learn about the children's language and culture and how to incorporate this prior learning in school programmes. The parents learn the school culture, its processes and expectations.
- 401. The programme was evaluated by the New Zealand Council for Educational Research. The focus of the evaluation was concerned with four key aspects of the Homeschooled partnership programme:
 - How schools went about implementing the programme
 - The nature of the partnerships between parents/whänau and schools that have evolved as a result of the programme
 - The literacy impacts of the programme on students, parents' understandings, and teachers' literacy programmes
 - Issues concerning sustainability of home-school partnerships in schools that have completed the programme
- 402. The successes of the programme on literacy were:
 - Eighty percent of schools reported parental involvement had a positive impact on children's opportunities to learn
 - Approximately three quarters of the surveyed schools reported that it had a minor positive impact on students' engagement, attitudes, confidence and literacy achievement
- 403. In spite of the promising findings, there are still some challenges within the programme to bring about greater literacy impacts. These were identified as:
 - Increasing parents' confidence to engage with session leaders about their home literacy practices
 - Shifting teachers' thinking so they realise the importance of learning from parents about children's home literacy experiences and practices
 - Increasing teachers' abilities to incorporate students' out-of-school literacy experiences into classroom programmes and practices

8. Te Tere Auraki – Mäori in mainstream

404. Te Tere Auraki — Mäori in Mainstream — captures the wider development of evidenced-based frameworks that explore, and make explicit, the key dimensions of quality

teaching for diverse students. This research and professional development strategy is focused on improving teaching and learning for Mäori students in mainstream schools.

- 405. The four discrete but overlapping professional development strands of work coordinated by the strategy are:
 - Te Mana Körero professional development packages and workshops facilitated through School Support Services
 - Te Kotahitanga Years 9 and 10 research and professional development project
 - Te Kauhua Mäori in Mainstream professional development project
 - Te Hiringa i te Mahara developing Mäori secondary teacher capability and addressing workload

9. Education Review Office

- 406. The Education Review Office is a government department whose purpose is to evaluate and report publicly on the education and care of students in schools and early childhood services. It is an integral part of the steps taken to ensure the delivery of quality education for all children.
- 407. The Education Review Office findings inform decisions and choices made by parents, teachers, managers, trustees and others, at the individual school and early childhood level and at the national government level. It carries out different types of reviews education reviews of individual schools, home school reviews, cluster reviews of education institutions and services, and national evaluations of education issues. It also provides contract evaluation services. Findings are made widely available.
- 408. In addition to regular, local level reviewing of individual schools, a number of reviews have national implications and inform policy development. Examples over the reporting period include reviews on the effectiveness of teaching (and learning) for teen parents in teen parent units, Mäori (in mainstream schools), Pacific Island and home schooled students. Curriculum topics that have been reviewed and require further consideration as a result, include the effectiveness of sex and drug education in schools.
- 409. Student participation in school decision making was reviewed with recommendations that schools have more formal processes in place to facilitate more, and a wider range of student participation. All secondary school boards of trustees are now required to have a student representative.

D. Rest, leisure, recreation and cultural activities (art. 31)

1. Rest, leisure and recreation

- 410. Sports and recreation facilities are provided by schools and in community settings where they are managed by either local authorities or charitable organisations. A number of local councils have developed specific policies aimed at children and young persons and are involved in projects that focus on providing social and recreational activities for youth. Youth information networks have also been initiated by some councils to provide information about events, opportunities, funding and support for young people.
- 411. Sport and Recreation New Zealand (SPARC) is the Crown Entity responsible for sport and recreation. SPARC was established on 1 January 2003 under the Sport and Recreation New Zealand Act 2002. The previous functions of the Hillary Commission, the New Zealand Sports Foundation and the policy arm of the Office of Tourism and Sport were incorporated into the new organisation.

- 412. SPARC provides leadership in research and policy development and implementation. It provides advice, guidance, and support to schools and sporting organizations and nurtures talented individuals. It has recently run a successful social marketing campaign, 'Push Play', to encourage physical activity and participation. SPARC is also a substantial contributor to Mission-On a broad-based package of initiatives which give young New Zealanders and their families the tools to improve their nutrition and increase physical activity.
- 413. The Department of Conservation encourages New Zealanders to participate in conservation activity and use the facilities they provide to enjoy the outdoors. From July 2008, hut and campsite fees for children and young people aged under 18 are free on New Zealand's nine Great Walks, reducing the cost for families wanting to walk New Zealand's National Parks. This initiative improves access to the outdoors, and implements the Government's wider work to tackle obesity, foster recreation and tourism, and enhance the time working people have to spend with their families.

E. Factors and difficulties

- 414. International studies show that New Zealand students continue to perform well when compared with students in other countries. However, there is a group of students who continue to under-achieve compared with their peers: 22 percent of Mäori still leave school with little or no formal attainment. The government recognises this ongoing challenge, and as detailed above is committed to addressing the education needs of Mäori students and their families.
- 415. Although most New Zealand school students are actively engaged in their learning, educators are challenged by the need to engage all students, including disruptive, truant and gifted students, as well as those with serious behavioural issues and special needs.

IX. Special protection measures

A. Children in situations of emergency (arts. 22, 38 and 39)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 46:

The Committee recommends that the State party continue its efforts to integrate refugee children into society and undertake an evaluation of current programmes, in particular language training, with a view to improving their effectiveness.

1. Measures to support the integration of refugee children into New Zealand society

- 416. The Department of Labour (Immigration) is reviewing aspects of the refugee resettlement policy as a work item under the New Zealand Settlement National Action Plan. The review's purpose is to provide a common direction (at national level) to support ongoing collaboration by government agencies, local government, non-government organisations and communities, in refugee resettlement. It also aims to progress better refugee resettlement outcomes. The review recognises the absence of end-to-end sector coordination, leadership and accountability, and an inconsistent approach amongst stakeholders to refugee resettlement in New Zealand. It seeks to address these issues by improving service provision, co-ordination and administrative efficiencies.
- 417. The review recognises that refugee youth and children can face additional resettlement challenges to those faced by adult counterparts, to which policy and services

must be responsive. Unaccompanied children resettled under the refugee quota programme are placed under the care of Child, Youth and Family.

- 418. A Settlement Interdepartmental Committee (IDC) of senior officials was convened in 2006/2007 and provides a forum for government agencies to co-ordinate refugee (and other migrants) policies and service delivery on a quarterly basis.
- 419. The Department of Labour's Workforce Research and Evaluation team is undertaking a programme of research on migrant and refugee youth settlement and social inclusion. This programme aims to build a picture of migrant and refugee youth in New Zealand and to identify factors which facilitate or act as barriers to settlement and social inclusion. Two projects in this research programme have recently been completed. The first is an annotated bibliography of New Zealand literature on migrant and refugee youth, summarising the themes emerging from the research and identifying main gaps. The second report is entitled "The Experiences of Migrant Youth: a 'Generational Analysis'" and is part of the larger International Comparative Study of Ethno-cultural Youth. This report provides a generational analysis of migrant youth experiences and, where appropriate, comparisons between migrant and national youth.
- 420. In 2003/2004, the Government initiative 'Settling In' was announced in response to longstanding issues inhibiting good settlement outcomes in New Zealand, as identified by refugee and migrant communities. The project aims to assess refugee and migrant communities' social needs and lead inter-sectoral work to address those issues based on a rights and strengths-based approach. It works directly with members of the refugee and migrant community to help them find solutions to their own needs by building knowledge and capacity. In focusing on the interface between the migrant and refugee and host communities it draws on expertise of local co-ordinators.
- 421. 'Settling In' operates in eight New Zealand regions, providing flexibility to deal with the unique regional settlement needs, given differing community demographics, existing opportunities, and networks and services within those areas. This is achieved by harnessing existing resources, supporting relationships across all sectors and supporting communities to participate in a more meaningful way. A number of the regions have youth-focused projects or projects that involve children within the context of their families.
- 422. The principal focus of the project is on refugees and migrants and the interface between their communities and the wider host community. It draws on expertise of the local co-ordinators who have a broad knowledge of community development and excellent intersectoral networks and relationships.

Language training

423. In 2004, the level of English as a Second Language (ESOL) funding for students from migrant and refugee backgrounds significantly increased, from \$14.274 million in 2004/5 to \$24.242 million in 2007/8. During the reporting period, a five-year entitlement to ESOL support has been phased in for all migrant and refugee students. These increased funding levels recognises the importance of more intensive language training provision for migrant and refugee students in their first years in New Zealand schools. The longer period of eligibility recognises research findings that consolidating the necessary language for learning may take at least five years. Higher rates of funding for secondary school students acknowledges the added challenges of learning new skills across a range of curriculum areas.

2. Children in armed conflicts (art. 38), including physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration (art. 39)

Age of recruitment into the armed services

424. It is prohibited by statute for any person younger than 17 years of age to be recruited into the Armed forces. Section 33(1) of the Defence Act 1990 was amended in 2001 and states: 'No person who is under 17 years may be appointed to, or enlisted or engaged in, the Navy, the Army or the Air Force'. Further detail is provided in part 10.

International commitments

- 425. New Zealand has been at the forefront of international efforts to negotiate a new convention that would prohibit cluster munitions that cause unacceptable harm to civilians, within the framework known as the Oslo Process. Children are disproportionately represented among cluster munitions victims, as they are more likely to be attracted to the often colourful and interesting design of the unexploded sub-munitions. According to the United Nations, children on average make up 40 percent of all civilians killed or injured by cluster munitions.
- 426. Reflecting the humanitarian concerns that we have with cluster munitions, New Zealand hosted an international conference of the Oslo Process in February 2008, which succeeded in advancing discussions on a draft convention text. The key outcome of that Conference was the Wellington Declaration, which reinforced the political commitment to negotiating a new convention. Negotiations for a new convention were finalised in Dublin at the Diplomatic Conference for the Adoption of a Convention on Cluster Munitions on 30 May 2008.

B. Children in conflict with the law (arts. 37, 39 and 40)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 50:

The Committee reiterates its recommendation contained in paragraph 21, and further recommends that the State party:

- (a) Ensure the full implementation of juvenile justice standards, in particular articles 37, 39 and 40 of the Convention as well the United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for the Administration of Juvenile Justice (the Beijing Rules) and the United Nations Guidelines for the Prevention of Juvenile Delinquency (the Riyadh Guidelines), and in the light of the Committee's discussion day on the administration of juvenile justice in 1995 (CRC/C/69);
- (b) Ensure the availability of sufficient youth facilities so that all juveniles in conflict with the law are held separately from adults in pre- and post-trial detention;
- (c) Undertake a systematic evaluation of the use of family group conferencing in juvenile justice.

1. The administration of juvenile justice (art. 40)

The rights of children alleged to have, or recognised as having, committed an offence

427. In response to the new Evidence Act 2006, Police have developed guidelines for officers questioning young people, to ensure their rights are upheld. All officers have also been issued with an updated 'rights' card that advises young people of their rights. A new information sheet has also been prepared for the adult that the youth nominates to accompany them in any interview.

Rehabilitation

- 428. Youth units (see below for more information) are purpose-built to cater for the special needs of youth in prisons, providing a structured and supportive environment, which is normalised as much as is possible in a prison setting.
- 429. Prison Services have specific operating policies and procedures for staff working in a youth unit, which are subject to audit and review. The policies and procedures aim to reduce re-offending amongst youth by providing access to a range of educational, vocational, psychological and recreational activities.
- 430. Non-core programmes and activities (for example parenting skills, life skills, art, music) are available as appropriate to the prisoners' needs, local conditions and available funding. The units provide various vocational training across the sites such as joinery, motor mechanics, catering and other work skills. Units provide physical fitness training at no cost. Youth units meet the Department of Corrections responsibilities under the Education Act 1989 requiring all under 16 year olds to be involved in full-time education. Sixteen to 19 year olds may also undertake secondary education if they so choose.

Enhancing provision of Family Group Conferences

- 431. Family Group Conferences are a crucial element of Child, Youth and Family practice. Strategies to enhance practice and performance in this area are ongoing.
- 432. In early 2007, reporting lines for the Family Group Conference Co-ordinators changed, bringing them into the mainstream management line. This was designed to enhance the youth justice practice and process by removing barriers to collaboration, enhancing joint decision-making and improving integration across staff. Changes are also underway to establish a central co-ordinating point for complaints from those participating in Family Group Conferences. This will provide a clearer picture of gaps in the system and opportunities for improvements.
- 433. Given that victims' voices are a central component of the Youth Justice Family Group Conference, it is important to ensure victims feel able to attend. The Children, Young Persons and Their Families Amendment Bill (No. 6) seeks greater consideration of victims' needs in the Family Group Conference process.

Research

- 434. New Zealand's second periodic report referred to planned pieces of research focusing on measuring outcomes for young offenders. The completed research [appended] is as follows:
 - Police Youth Diversion: Final Report. This research describes Police processes in
 different New Zealand locations and analyses the effect of aspects such as offence
 characteristics, offending history and age on the type of diversion they receive
 (Family Group Conference, diversion or warning).
 - The Impact of Police Responses to Young Offenders with a Particular Focus on Diversion. This report provides a summary of research on Police diversion in New Zealand, including information about re-offending levels after different types of intervention, as well as interviews with young people about their experiences of Police diversion. Overall the report shows that intervening lower in the system leads to less re-offending.
 - Diversionary Policing of Young People in New Zealand. A Restorative Approach. This report gives figures for the number of young people dealt exclusively by the

Police, and the number referred to court or Family Group Conference and focuses on warnings and developing a diversionary plan over a 10-year period.

• Achieving Effective Outcomes in Youth Justice. This cross-departmental research project identified factors associated with effective outcomes in the youth justice system and assessing the extent to which the goals of the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989 were being met. The research confirmed the importance of providing early interventions, building positive relationships in both the school and family environment; diverting young people from appearing in the Youth Court; keeping the severity of outcomes at the lowest level possible; and undertaking family group conferences.

2. Children deprived of their liberty, including any form of detention, imprisonment or placement in custodial settings (art. 37)

- 435. Charges against those aged between 14 and 17 are laid in the Youth Court. Most young people will then be dealt with under the youth justice system, which cannot impose sentences of imprisonment. Only under-17s who are charged with murder or manslaughter (who are automatically transferred to the adult jurisdiction) and others who have been transferred from the youth jurisdiction for other serious offending, can be imprisoned in facilities for adults. The majority of youth offenders under the age of 17 are accommodated under measures provided for in the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989.
- 436. Children and young people can be admitted to a Child, Youth and Family residence when they have been: arrested by the Police; remanded in custody by the Court; ordered by the Youth Court placing them in a residence for three months (Supervision with Residence Order), or sentenced to imprisonment. The majority (912) spent fewer than 99 days in a residence. The average length of stay for this group was 43 days.
- 437. The Department of Corrections runs four specialist units for young offenders within four men's prisons across the country. In general, all men under the age of 18 are held in these units, as are 18 and 19 year-old men who are vulnerable and do not pose a risk to the under-18 year olds. Where prisoners are at risk of self-harm, they are placed in an At-Risk Unit. Remand prisoners are also sometimes housed temporarily in other prisons where Court appearances require it.
- 438. Because there are so few women prisoners under the age of 18 in custody at any one time (there are typically fewer than five), there are no specialist facilities for young women prisoners. All women under the age of 18 are carefully assessed for vulnerability and either placed with the older women or, if the risk of mixing outweighs the isolating effects of separation, kept separate from the older women.
- 439. As discussed earlier, New Zealand is a party to the United Nations Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment and therefore does not practise Capital Punishment.

C. Children in situations of exploitation, abuse and neglect including physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration (arts. 32–36 and 39)

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 48:

The Committee recommends that the State party expedite the ongoing process of reviewing and strengthening legislation protecting all persons under the age of 18 who are employed, and encourages the State party to ratify ILO Convention No. 138.

1. Economic exploitation, including child labour (art. 32)

440. New Zealand's existing policy and legislative framework provides for effective age thresholds for entry into safe work (see part 2).

2. Drug abuse (art. 33)

- 441. The Police have been active in developing and promoting drug education programmes aimed at school children, young people, their schools and parents/caregivers. Drug education programmes are subject to independent evaluation and then re-written to incorporate evaluation recommendations. The latest to be evaluated was the Choice (pre-user) programme evaluated by Victoria University in 2007.
- 442. The Christchurch Youth Drug Court offers an example of therapeutic jurisprudence which aims to facilitate better service delivery to young people to reduce offending, including treatment for their alcohol and other drug dependency. The scheme has:
 - Facilitated early identification of young offenders with alcohol and other drug dependency that contributes to their offending
 - · Reduced time delays in service delivery and facilitated immediacy of response
 - · Facilitated more effective inter-agency co-ordination
 - Monitored young people more closely to facilitate their treatment process
- 443. While the evaluation of the Christchurch Drug Court showed that re-offending was reduced, similar outcomes were achieved by young people subject to normal Youth Court processes.

3. Sexual exploitation and sexual abuse (art. 34)

Child prostitution

- 444. The Prostitution Reform Act 2003 decriminalised prostitution in New Zealand and continued and expanded the criminal sanctions for using children and young people in prostitution. Sections 20–23 of the Act prohibit under-18 year olds from being used in prostitution. Any offence in breach of these provisions is punishable by a term of imprisonment.
- 445. Child, Youth and Family works closely with the Police in situations where young people under 17 years are identified or suspected of engaging in underage prostitution and will address care and protection concerns.

Sexual abuse images on the internet

446. The Censorship Compliance Unit in the Department of Internal Affairs proactively investigates the distribution of images of child sexual abuse on the internet. Information is provided to other jurisdictions through multilateral and bilateral arrangements for prosecuting offenders and identifying and rescuing victims.

4. Sale, trafficking and abduction (art. 35)

447. On 19 July 2002, New Zealand ratified the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime and its supplementary Protocols: the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children; and the Protocol against the Smuggling of Migrants by Land, Sea and Air.

- 448. New Zealand enforcement authorities have yet to uncover any evidence or indication of people trafficking despite a number of investigations by both Police and Immigration officials. However, New Zealand continues to develop a plan of action to prevent people trafficking. It aims to develop and enhance international and domestic processes for prosecuting people traffickers and assisting trafficking victims. This work is being led by an inter-agency working group.
- 449. New Zealand has amended the Crimes Act 1961 to prohibit and criminalise sexual exploitation and related trafficking and to impose a maximum penalty of up to 20 years imprisonment, a fine not exceeding \$500,000, or both. Further provisions criminalise dealing in people under the age of 18 years for sexual exploitation, removal of body parts or engagement in forced labour. These provisions came into force on 14 June 2006.

5. Children living or working on the street

- 450. Although there are thought to be some homeless children on the street, there is very little evidence of the numbers concerned, and research has been commissioned recently on young people at risk of homelessness. Reception centres are available to protect children without a safe place to go. These centres provide safe, short-term accommodation for children and young people in the youth justice system and/or in need of care and protection who are picked up by the Police after-hours and at the weekend. The centres supervise children and young people until their family is located and/or the home situation is made safe, or until a longer-term placement can be found.
- 451. Access to income for under 18 year olds may be available through income support, such as the Independent Youth Benefit, Invalids Benefit or Emergency Maintenance Benefit if they meet the criteria.

D. Factors and difficulties

- 452. Offending by young people is of great concern to New Zealanders, and there is perception that serious and violent offending by young people is increasing. Latest Ministry of Justice statistics on youth offending point to an increase in violent offending by 14 to 16 year olds but crime rates have decreased overall for this group. Despite the decrease in offending, crime rates remain too high and there is more that can be done to bring offending rates down further. The Government remains committed to ensuring our young people who come in contact with the justice system, and their families, are supported to help them stop further re-offending and to achieve positive outcomes for them and their families.
- 453. A collaborative approach is already underway across several government initiatives and projects to assist young people to turn their lives around. Improving outcomes for young people is, however, difficult and time-consuming work that requires significant, long-term investment and collaboration across a range of groups and government agencies. It needs to include action across all life stages and in all domains of the young person's life, including their family members and the wider community.
- 454. As New Zealand's population ages, there will be an increasing demand placed on the youth population to provide both economic and social support. Ensuring our young people are well-placed to contribute positively in the economic and social life of New Zealand is vital.
- 455. Issues of youth offending are linked to wider social concerns such as poverty, disengagement from school, inadequate housing, unemployment, lack of social and coping skills, family violence and substance abuse. By reducing risk factors and building protective factors to help children resist risky and anti-social behaviour we are emphasising a strengths-based approach. This approach includes a range of services and activities. Some

of these are family-focused, participatory (eg. holiday activities, after-school activities, community projects, mentoring and volunteering), empowering, educative, and focused on problem-solving. Many of the interventions to address the risk factors and strengthen the protective factors are already happening through, for example, Family Start and Social Workers in Schools.

X. Disability

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 40:

The Committee recommends that the State party ensure that adequate human and financial resources are allocated to implement the New Zealand Disability Strategy, in particular those aspects relating to the integration of children with disabilities into mainstream education and other aspects of society.

A. Overview

- 456. New Zealand considers that it is more appropriate to deal with the issues relating to children with a disability in one place in this report.
- 457. Considerable progress has been made with implementing the New Zealand Disability Strategy in the period since the last report. Agencies are required to report annually on their achievements to progressively realise the vision of the Strategy that New Zealand is a society "that highly values our [people with impairments] lives and continually enhances our full participation". Implementing the Disability Strategy has led to a shift away from associating disability with ill-health to a focus on what persons with a disability can do.
- 458. A number of important achievements should be noted that contribute to young persons with disabilities' lives. Some of these achievements include:
 - A dedicated Minister for Disability Issues (2000) and an Office for Disability Issues (2002) that operate within the Ministry of Social Development.
 - New Zealand ratified the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in September 2008.
 - In October 2006, the last of the institutions for people with physical and intellectual disabilities was closed, meaning that persons with disabilities live in the community like other New Zealanders.
 - The Disabled Persons Employment Promotion Act was repealed in 2007, giving disabled people access to the same employment conditions, rights and entitlements as other New Zealanders.
 - In 2006 sign language became an official language of New Zealand under the New Zealand Sign Language Act (the Act). This Act recognises the language and culture of the Deaf community and gives Deaf people a right to use New Zealand Sign Language in legal proceedings giving Deaf people better access to the justice system and other government processes.****
 - Deaf, hearing-impaired and speech-impaired New Zealanders can now use standard telephone services. In 2004, the Telecommunications Relay Service was set up nationally to provide a service based around text phones and relay assistants to complete calls. Work is now under way to trial a video component to this service so

that deaf people will be able to make telephone calls using New Zealand Sign Language, with the services of an interpreter.

- 459. Objective 13 of the New Zealand Disability Strategy focuses specifically on enabling "disabled children and youth to lead full and active lives". It outlines the actions that agencies will take to ensure that children and young people with disabilities are integrated into society as a whole. This objective reflects the view that disabled children achieve better outcomes when they attend mainstream schools and are integrated with their non-disabled peers.
- 460. Since the 2001 Disability Survey, the proportion of children participating in mainstream classes has increased significantly between 2001 to 2006. Eighty-eight percent of children with disabilities, aged five to fourteen years, attended only mainstream classes in 2006, compared to 74 percent in 2001.
- 461. The following activities by the Ministry of Education are contributing to the achievement of objective 13:
 - Better Information to Address Barriers to Learning seeks to help children
 achieve improved learning outcomes (including social and cultural outcomes) by
 providing classroom resources to enable teachers to identify and address barriers to
 learning.
 - Resources for parents, carers, and teachers to improve learning for children
 and young people with Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) this includes an
 evidence-based Guideline for Autism Spectrum Disorder, emphasis on early
 interventions, information and education for parents and carers, and ongoing
 professional development for teachers and other professionals.
 - Better Outcomes for Children Action Plan 2006–2011 to raise achievement and improve services for children eligible for special services through Group Special Education.
 - Professional development of the Special Education workforce to enhance capacity and capability of the workforce, including study awards, workforce planning and contracts to ensure training is accessible.
 - Improving access to Out-of-School Services for disabled children by developing a
 five-year action plan to ensure these services are reliable, conveniently located and
 accessible. Improving access to such services will increase disabled children's
 opportunities for participation and social inclusion, and increase support and choices
 for their families.

1. Education initiatives – supporting children and young people into mainstream education

462. The Education Act 1989 gives people who have special educational needs the same rights to enrol and receive education at State schools as people who do not have such needs. In 2000, a new system of resourcing special education in schools was fully implemented. This is based on the principle of allocating equivalent resourcing for the similar levels of need, regardless of disability type or educational setting. Since 2000, resourcing for special education has increased by \$448 million (or a 50 percent increase) as the system is refined and improved. Every school receives a special education grant as part of its operational funding. This is to be used to support children's and young people's special education needs within the school.

- 463. The Ongoing and Reviewable Resourcing Schemes (ORRS) provide specific resources for the small group of school students throughout New Zealand who have the highest need for special education. This resource is additional to standard staffing allocations and operational grants.
- 464. Some students require intervention from specialists and specialist teachers to adapt the New Zealand Curriculum content because of their rate and/or style of learning. Other students simply need equipment/technology (e.g. hearing aids) and/or specialised teaching strategies (e.g. signing).
- 465. The Ministry of Education requires all students receiving ORRS funding to have an Individual Education Plan (IEP). An IEP sets out the student's individual learning programme and the cycle of assessment, planning, provision and evaluation surrounding a student's learning. The Ministry strongly recommends that all other special education needs students have an IEP.
- 466. There are established services to support teachers who have students with vision impairment. These services include Resource Teachers Vision, Developmental Orientation and Mobility specialists, Ministry of Education special education teams and associations that will assist in providing information and resources.
- 467. Most Deaf and hearing impaired students are in regular early childhood education centres and local schools. There are support services and equipment available to help these students access the curriculum. Guidelines on using New Zealand Sign Language in the New Zealand Curriculum were released by the Ministry of Education in 2007. They set the direction for teaching and learning New Zealand Sign Language.
- 468. Attention has also been paid to addressing the needs of students with disabilities in transitioning from education to employment. Sixty-five organisations have been contracted from 2008 to provide transition services for disabled young people from over 300 secondary schools around the country. Eligibility for transition funding for very-high-needs students has been lowered from age 21 to the minimum school leaving age (16) so that students can make the transition to the adult world at an age which is appropriate to them.

2. Review of long-term disability support

469. An interdepartmental review of support available to people with disabilities was prompted in 2007 by concerns about inequities in support for disabled people. In March 2008, the government endorsed the review's recommendations, which sought greater emphasis on holistic approaches to disabled people's needs, and more effective tailoring of services to meet those needs. It also emphasised the importance of early support for families with disabled infants and children.

3. Children in care

- 470. Most children or young people in New Zealand who have a disability are able to live with their parents or, failing that, in an alternative family setting. Even if a child or young person with a disability is in the custody of the Chief Executive of the Ministry of Social Development, in most cases they would not be put into 'residential care', but instead placed into an alternative family setting. There are very few children or young people with disabilities in New Zealand who are in an institutional setting because of their disability.
- 471. Agreements for out-of-home care of disabled children are governed by the Children Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989. The Act provides for agreements to be a maximum of two years, but may be extended by a family group conference agreement. There are proposals to reduce the maximum length of an agreement to one year to provide for a more regular review of these placements.

472. These agreements are funded through the Ministry of Health's Needs Assessment and Service Co-ordination service (NASC). Disability support provision follows on from the NASC assessment, and is reviewed six monthly.

B. Factors and difficulties

- 473. Significant progress has been made to integrate children and young people with disabilities into the education system and for their health needs to be more adequately met. There will always been issues around sufficient resources and their effective and fair allocation. There has been a significant increase in funding for special education services in recognition that costs are high and that rules associated with some more specialised funds do not sufficiently address or meet the users' needs.
- 474. Mainstreaming and deinstitutionalisation have been major milestones in New Zealand's history. Reporting on, and monitoring of, the Disability Strategy has facilitated positive and noticeable changes across a range of areas; however, there will always be room to improve. Evidence is clear that children and young people with disabilities face additional challenges at various transition points. Ensuring that children and young people with disabilities receive all the opportunities accorded others, are matters that need to be continually monitored and addressed.

XI. Optional Protocols to the Convention on the Rights of the Child

A. Follow-up: concluding observations on the second periodic report

CRC/C/15/Add.216, para. 52:

The Committee recommends that the State party ratify the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography.

- 475. New Zealand has signed the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Sale of Children, Child Prostitution and Child Pornography and has taken significant steps towards ratification over the reporting period. A number of legislative amendments have been made or are planned to enable ratification of the Protocol.
- 476. The Films, Videos and Publications Classification Amendment Act 2005 came into effect on 22 February 2005. Offences and penalties under the Act will assist compliance with the Protocol's requirements regarding child pornography. The Crimes Amendment Act 2005 implemented the necessary legislation to ratify the Protocol's requirements regarding child prostitution and the sale of children. The Evidence Act 2006 has drawn together the statutory provisions and common law rules of evidence into one comprehensive Act, providing better protections for children giving evidence in sexual abuse cases.
- 477. One further legislative amendment is required before the Optional Protocol can be ratified which is the addition of a new offence of improperly inducing consent, as an intermediary, for the adoption of a child. This is intended to be progressed as part of a broader review of adoption laws.

B. Follow-up: concluding observations on involvement of children in armed conflict

1. Use in hostilities

CRC/C/OPAC/CO/1, para. 5:

The Committee recommends that the State party amend the Defence Force Order to expressly prohibit active service in and outside of New Zealand by soldiers under the age of 18.

478. The Defence Force Orders for Personnel Administration (DFO 4) have been amended to expressly prohibit active service, both within and outside New Zealand, by members of the Armed Forces who are under the age of 18 years. Specifically, paragraph 2.11 of DFO 4 states:

"Service members are not to be posted on active service unless they have reached the age of 18 years. In addition, Service members under 18 years of age are not to be posted on operational service outside New Zealand."

479. In addition, section 37 of the Defence Act 1990 has been amended by deleting the word 'overseas' from the heading and now states that no person serving in the Armed Forces who is under 18 years is liable for active service.

480. The effect of these amendments is to ensure that members of the New Zealand Defence Force (NZDF) who have not reached the age of 18 years do not take a direct part in any hostilities, irrespective of whether the deployment meets the definition of active service or not.

2. Voluntary recruitment

CRC/C/OPAC/CO/1, paras. 7 and 8:

The Committee recommends that the State party amend the Defence Act and the Guardianship Act to specify a minimum age of voluntary recruitment of 17 years for all persons. The Committee further recommends that the State party consider the possibility of increasing the minimum age for voluntary recruitment to 18 years.

With regard to incentives for recruitment, and in light of the fact that a significant proportion of new recruits in the armed forces come from the cadet forces, the Committee requests the State party in its next report to include information on the cadet forces, in particular on how the activities of the cadet forces accord with the aims of education as recognized in article 29 of the Convention and in the Committee's general comment No. 1, and on recruitment activities undertaken by the armed forces within the cadet forces.

481. In 2001, Section 33(1) of the Defence Act 1990 was amended and sets the minimum age of appointment, enlistment or engagement at 17. A minimum age of recruitment of 17 years has also been provided for in the Care of Children Act 2004 (which replaces the repealed Guardianship Act 1968). This prohibits the recruitment of any person under 17 years of age into the Armed forces.

482. The possibility of increasing the age of recruitment to 18 has been considered and rejected for the reasons given to the Committee in New Zealand's initial report of 15 July 2003. In reviewing the age of recruitment, the New Zealand Defence Force has determined that the age of voluntary recruitment should remain at 17. In coming to this decision, the following factors where taken into account:

- Recruitment in the Armed Forces has offered young people, particularly from lower socio-economic groups, the opportunity to succeed in an environment where all recruits start on an equal footing. Ground level entry and skill development provided by the Armed Forces is often not readily available on the same level elsewhere in New Zealand.
- Raising the minimum age to 18 years could disadvantage school leavers who wish to take up indentured trades within the Armed Forces, therefore preventing minors from having a right to pursue the career of their choice. There is therefore the risk of losing those school leavers to other areas of employment or study which do not impose age restrictions.
- Since 2002, over 1,700 under 18 year olds have enlisted in the regular forces. A
 move to restrict recruiting to those aged 18 years or older would prevent an average
 of 24% of potential recruits from joining the Armed Forces.
- 483. In maintaining the minimum age of recruitment at 17 years, the New Zealand Defence Force has worked to strengthen the safeguards that ensure such recruitment is not forced or coerced. As well as stating the minimum age for recruits. Chapter 2 of Defence Force Orders for Personal Administration requires that:
 - · Reliable proof of age be provided
 - · Recruitment be genuinely voluntary
 - Personnel under the age of 18 be fully informed of the duties involved in military service
 - Service members are not to be posted on active service until they have reached the age of 18 years
 - Service members are not to be posted on operation service outside New Zealand until they have reached the age of 18 years
- 484. The New Zealand Cadet Forces (NZCF) is a voluntary youth training organisation. It is not part of the NZDF, but is directed by the Chief of the Defence Force (CDF) on behalf of the Minister of Defence and is supported by the NZDF in partnership with the community. The organisation aims are to:
 - Foster a spirit of adventure and teamwork, and to develop those qualities of mind and body essential for good citizens and leaders
 - Provide challenging and disciplined training activities, which will be useful in either service or civilian life; and
 - Promote an awareness of the Armed Forces and the role they play in the community
- 485. These aims are accomplished by activity and practically based training programmes undertaken in a secure and safe environment which emphasises personal development through acquiring skills and achieving goals. While the NZCF is not an educational organisation, or provider of education per se, the aims and values of the organisation and the Code of Behaviour under which all cadet activities and training are conducted is entirely consistent with and in accordance with the principles of Article 29 of the Convention.
- 486. The suggestion that a significant portion of recruits into the Armed Forces are from the NZCF is an overstatement, but unfortunately statistics are not available to quantify the statement either way. Anecdotally, the figure is around the 20% level. While a number of cadets do go on to join one of the Services, recruitment for the NZDF is not one of the aims of the NZCF. However, Armed Forces recruiters do, when requested by cadet units, visit when in the local area to provide presentations and information on careers available in the Services.

3. Assistance for physical and psychological recovery

CRC/C/OPAC/CO/1, para. 9:

The Committee requests the State party to provide information in its next report on refugee and migrant children within its jurisdiction who may have been involved in hostilities in their home countries and on the assistance provided for their physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration.

487. Refer to part 9 on refugee and migrant children for services the Government provides for them.

4. Training/dissemination of the Optional Protocol

CRC/C/OPAC/CO/1, para. 10.

The Committee recommends that the State party undertake systematic education and training on the provisions of the Convention for all relevant professional groups, in particular military personnel. In addition, the Committee recommends that the State party make the provisions of the Optional Protocol widely known to children, through, inter alia, school curricula.

488. Leaders and managers in the New Zealand Cadet Forces go through a training module specifically on the Convention on the Rights of the Child during the Advanced Leaders Course. In addition, the Cadet Forces and the NZDF's Directorate of Legal Services are in the final stages of developing a detailed training module for all cadets on the Laws of Armed Conflict, the Convention and the Optional Protocol on the involvement of children in armed conflict. Specific information on the Optional Protocol is not generally provided to children, however information on rights are.

489. All personnel in the Armed Forces are instructed and assessed on the Laws of Armed Conflict. This training syllabus includes sections on the Convention and child soldiers. All personnel are required to pass assessment, which is one of the prerequisites to completing basic training.

5. Dissemination of documentation

CRC/C/OPAC/CO/1, para. 11:

In light of article 6, paragraph 2, of the Optional Protocol, the Committee recommends that the initial report and written replies submitted by the State party be made widely available to the public at large and that the State party consider publishing the report, along with the relevant summary records and concluding observations adopted by the Committee. Such a document should be widely distributed in order to generate debate and awareness of the Optional Protocol, its implementation and monitoring within the Government, the Parliament and the general public, including concerned non-governmental organisations.

- 490. Full copies of the Convention, its Optional Protocol on the involvement of children in armed conflict, all received copies of the Committee comments and concerns and all New Zealand reports are available on the Ministry of Youth Development website. These can be accessed through www.myd.govt.nz and www.uncroc.govt.nz.
- 491. A list of interested non-government organisations and individuals are given hard copies on request and when new information comes available, including receipt of Committee reports. In addition NZDF personnel receive copies of relevant material during training on the Laws of Armed Conflict as do New Zealand Cadet Forces.

Glossary

Asian (ethnic group): people who identify with an Asian ethnicity (for example, Chinese, Indian, Korean), with or without other ethnicities. An ethnic Indian who was born and raised in Fiji will usually be classified as Asian, unless self-reported as Pacific.

Benefit: a non-repayable grant given paid the state to individuals, usually at regular intervals, to provide them with financial support. Examples are the Unemployment Benefit, for job-seekers, and the Domestic Purposes Benefit, for those who are unable to work due to caregiving responsibilities for children or other dependents. Most benefits in New Zealand are paid through Work and Income.

Census: a five-yearly survey of every individual and every household in New Zealand collecting a range of demographic and indicator data.

Diversion: Diversion is a scheme which provides an opportunity for New Zealand Police to deal with some offences and/or offenders without going through formal court prosecution. Diversion involves an offender agreeing to fulfil certain conditions in exchange for the charges being withdrawn. The charges are withdrawn only once the conditions have been fulfilled. The benefit of this scheme is that it provides an incentive for non-recidivist offenders involved with low level offending to be punished and take responsibility for their actions without receiving a conviction.

Early Leaving Exemption: an exemption from compulsory schooling (usually mandatory to age 16) on the grounds of emotional or behavioural problems, granted by the Ministry of Education to parents or guardians of students aged 15 years and over. The applicant is required to give details about training programmes or employment that the student would move on to in the event of the exemption being granted.

Employed: working for pay (salary or wages) for at least one hour per week.

English to speakers of other languages (ESOL): learners who are identified as still in the process of acquiring English as a second language; they may not speak English at all or, at least, do not speak, understand, and write English with the same facility as their classmates because they did not grow up speaking English.

Ethnicity: an ethnic group is made up of people who have some or all of the following characteristics:

- · A common proper name
- One or more elements of common culture that need not be specified, but may include religion, customs or language
- · Unique community of interests, feelings and actions
- · A shared sense of common origins or ancestry
- · A common geographic origin

This definition is based on the work of A Smith (1986) *The Ethnic Origins of Nations*. Ethnicity is self-perceived and people can belong to more than one ethnic group. People can identify with an ethnicity even though they may not be descended from ancestors with that ethnicity. Conversely, people may choose to not identify with an ethnicity even though they are descended from ancestors with that ethnicity. In Census data, ethnicity is identified by the person completing the census form. In the case of births and deaths, ethnicity is identified by the person completing the registration form. For births this is usually the

parents, while for deaths this is most likely to be the funeral director (on the advice of a family member).

European (ethnic group): people who identify with a European ethnicity (for example, New Zealand European, English, Dutch), with or without other ethnicities.

General Practitioner (GP): the doctor that you would see first for non-emergency medical care, usually at a local health-care centre.

Hapü: A hapü is a division of a Mäori iwi often translated as 'subtribe'. Membership is determined by genealogical descent; a hapü is made up of a number of whänau (extended family) groups.

Inactivity (Not in Employment, Education or Training or NEET): "not engaged in employment, formal or informal education, training or caregiving duties". There are many ways of characterising inactivity, and some identify at-risk young people better than others. The nature of young people's transitions between education and employment, and between different jobs in the early part of a career, means that at any one time, a proportion of the youth population will be "inactive". Inactivity only becomes a risk factor for long-term negative outcomes when it is prolonged or when the inactive young person is not well-prepared to engage in employment, education or training.

Iwi: The traditional Mäori tribal hierarchy and social order made up of hapu and whänau with a founding ancestor and territorial (tribal) boundaries. Iwi are the largest everyday social units in Mäori populations.

Kaiäwhina: Helper or worker

Kaupapa Mäori: has a specific Mäori theme or focus.

Kura: School.

Kura Kaupapa Mäori: are state schools in which Mäori language, culture and values predominate and in which the principal language of instruction is Mäori.

Kura Teina: An applicant school accepted into the preparation and assessment process for establishment as a Section 155 (of the Education Act) kura kaupapa Mäori. Each kura is an off-site satellite unit of, and is mentored by, an existing kura Kaupapa Mäori called a kura tuakana.

Lead Maternity Carer: has overall professional and clinical responsibility for a woman's primary maternity care and is expected to provide continuity-of-care to the woman. The woman can choose the Lead Maternity Carer who can be either a midwife, general practitioner or an obstetrician. The Lead Maternity Caregiver is responsible for providing or co-ordinating care throughout pregnancy, labour, birth and for six weeks after the birth.

Low income household: a household with real disposable (after-tax) income less than 60 percent of the national median, benchmarked at 2001, adjusted for inflation and equivalised for household size and composition, with 25 percent deducted for average housing costs.

Mäori: (n) the indigenous people of New Zealand; (adj) of or pertaining to these people.

Mäori (ethnic group): People who identify with the Mäori ethnicity with or without other ethnicities.

Middle Eastern, Latin American and African (MELAA) (ethnic group): people who identify with Middle Eastern, Latin American or African ethnicities, with or without other ethnicities.

National Certificate of Educational Achievement (NCEA): the main national qualification toward which young people first earn credits as part of their compulsory

schooling. Level 1 of the NCEA represents the first qualification earned by most young people, being assessed in Year 11 of their compulsory schooling (age about 15).

New Zealander (ethnic group): people who identify their ethnicity as New Zealander, with or without other ethnicities. On Census forms, a "New Zealander" ethnicity is not included as a tick-box option, but individuals can choose to tick "other" and manually specify "New Zealander" as their ethnic group.

Other Ethnic Group: people who identify with Middle Eastern, Latin American or African ethnicities, with or without other ethnicities.

Pacific peoples/Pacific Islander/Pasifika/Polynesian: terms used to describe or identify people living in New Zealand who have migrated from the Pacific Islands or who identify with the Pacific Islands because of ancestry or heritage. There is no officially sanctioned term to describe this group of people. It is important to note that Statistics New Zealand categorises a person based on their ethnic origin rather than nationality, so a Fijian of Indian ethnic origin, but born in Fiji, would be categorised as Asian.

Päkehä: the Mäori name, in common usage, for New Zealanders of European heritage (often used as a blanket term to refer to fair-skinned New Zealanders).

Primary Health Organisations: Primary Health Organisations are the local structures for delivering and co-ordinating primary health care services. They bring together doctors, nurses and other health professionals (such as Mäori health workers, health promotion workers, dieticians, pharmacists, physiotherapists, psychologists and midwives) in the community to serve the needs of their enrolled populations.

Private Training Establishments: non-state-owned tertiary institutions offering a wide range of academic and, in particular, vocational studies, many of which are registered to provide qualifications on the National Qualifications Framework.

Tamariki Mäori: Mäori children.

Te Reo: the Mäori language.

Unemployed: not employed, but actively seeking and available for paid work. Those who are "Not In the Labour Force" (e.g. students, people with chronic illnesses that prevent them from working, or those caring for infants) are not counted as unemployed.

Wänanga: Mäori tertiary training institutions.

Whänau: Whänau is a wider concept than just an immediate family made up of parents and siblings - it links people of one family to a common tupuna or ancestor. However it is commonly used in many contexts as the Mäori term for family or extended family.

Youth / young person: are those aged 12–24, but where available statistics used for the purpose of this report are for those aged 12–18 years.

Annexes

Annex 1

Summary demographics of children in New Zealand

At the time of the 2006 Census, there were 1.05 million children under 18 years living in New Zealand. These young New Zealanders made up over a quarter (26 percent) of the total New Zealand population.

The population under 18 years increased by 6 percent in the 10 years between 1996 and 2006 and is expected to continue increasing until 2021, when it will reach just over 1.1 million, then reducing to just under 1.1 million in 2026.

While their number may be growing, children and young people represent a steadily shrinking proportion of the New Zealand population: in 1996, 27 percent of New Zealanders were aged under 18 years; by 2026, this share will have fallen to around 22 percent as shown in Table 1.

Table 1 **Historical and projected number of children and young people, by age group, 1991–2026**

	Historical (Census)		Projected (2006-base)				
Age group (years)	1996	2001	2006	2011	2016	2021	2026
0–4	279 603	270 801	275 076	308 000	299 240	296 720	296 750
5–9	288 291	286 200	286 488	290 210	312 450	303 700	301 200
10–14	264 186	290 739	306 006	296 390	294 960	317 180	308 480
15–17	158 535	160 641	186 102	187 490	181 470	183 510	192 970
Total under 18	990 615	1 008 381	1 053 672	1 082 090	1 088 120	1 101 110	1 099 400
Total NZ population	3 618 300	3 737 280	4 027 947	4 393 200	4 588 700	4 770 800	4 939 400
% of total under 25	27.4	27.0	26.2	24.6	23.7	23.1	22.3

Source: Statistics New Zealand, New Zealand Census of Population and Dwellings, usually resident population; Resident population projections (2006-base), Series 5, assuming medium fertility, medium mortality and long-term migration gain of 10,000 (total population). Base is June 2006 population estimates.

A slight predominance of males persists among children under 18 (51 percent), a pattern that has been stable since 1991. Just over half of all newborn babies are male (52 percent in 2007).

Children and young people are becoming a more ethnically diverse population with declining proportions identifying as European and growing proportions identifying as Asian, Pacific and other ethnic groups. In the under 18 age group the proportion of Mäori changed little between 1996 and 2006, remaining at around 24 percent. The proportion identifying with Pacific ethnic groups increased from 10 percent to 12 percent over this period while those belonging to Asian ethnic groups increased from just over 6 percent to almost 10 percent. Those in other ethnic groups — Middle Eastern, African and Latin American — have a small but growing presence (Table 2).

Table 2	
Ethnic distribution of children and young people,	1996-2006

0–17 years	1996	2001	2006
European	77.0	74.3	72.4
Mäori	24.1	24.0	23.7
Pacific	10.0	11.0	12.1
Asian	6.3	7.4	9.7
Other	0.7	0.9	1.2

Source: Statistics New Zealand, five-year ethnic population estimates.

Notes:

- (1) People identified with more than one ethnic group are counted once in each group reported.
- (2) To maintain consistency over time, those identified as 'New Zealander' in 2006 have been included in the European ethnic group.

The trend of increasing ethnic diversity among children and young people is expected to continue. Medium population projections based on 2006 data suggest that by 2026 the proportion of the population identifying as European will have fallen to 65 percent in the under 18 age group. Also it is projected that 28 percent will be Mäori, 18 percent will be of Asian ethnicity and the same proportion (18 percent) will identify with Pacific ethnic groups.

An increasing proportion of children living in New Zealand were born overseas. At the time of the 2006 Census,172,668 or 16% of children aged under 18 years were recorded as overseas born.

The share of children in the population varies by region. In 2006, the Gisborne region had the highest concentration of children under 18 (31 percent) and Otago the lowest (22 percent).

The majority of children and young people live in major urban centres with populations of 30,000 or more – 71 percent of those aged under 18 years in 2006. Another 14 percent lived in secondary urban areas (population of 10,000–29,999) or minor urban areas (1,000–9,999). Only 15 percent of children aged under 18 years lived in rural areas of New Zealand in 2006. Overall, children under 18 years (85 percent) are about as urbanised as the population as a whole (86 percent).

Ethnic diversity also varies by region. In 2006, Mäori children made up a relatively high proportion of children and young people under the age of 18 in Gisborne (61 percent), Northland (48 percent), Bay of Plenty (42 percent) and Hawkes Bay (36 percent), but less than 20 percent of this age group in South Island regions. In the Auckland region under 18 year olds were more likely to be of Pacific or Asian ethnicity (23 percent and 19 percent respectively) than Mäori (17 percent).

Annex 2

Children and	Young People:	Indicators of	f Well-being i	n New
Zealand			_	

Children and Young People: Indicators of Well-being in New Zealand 2008

Summary table of indicators

ISBN 978-0-478-33506-4 (Print) ISBN 978-0-478-33507-1 (Online)

The other sections and the appendices of the Children and Young People: Indicators of Wellbeing in New Zealand 2008 can be found at www.msd.govt.nz

Indicator	Most recent level	Trend □ better □ same □ worse ⊘ not updated ⊖ not comparable	Variation within the population	International comparison □ better □ same □ worse ⊖ not comparable
Health				
Low birth weight births	5.8 percent of live births weighed less than 2,500 grams (2006)	☐ Little change between 1993 and 2006	Higher for Mäori; regional differences	☐ Lower than OECD median
Infant mortality	5.1 infant deaths per 1,000 live births (2006)	☐ More than halved since 1988	Higher for Mäori, Pacific infants; those in deprived areas; regional differences	☐ Higher than OECD median
Immunisation	71 percent of children fully immunised at age two (2007)	☐ Improvement since 1991/1992	Lower for Mäori children	☐ Lower than OECD median
Hearing test failure at school entry	6.6 percent of primary school entrants failed hearing screening test (2005/2006)	☐ Improvement since 1991/1992	Higher for Mäori and Pacific children; regional differences	⊖ No comparison available
Oral health	Caries free at 5 years: 53 percent (2006); average number of decayed, missing or filled teeth per child at 12 years (Year 8): 1.6 (2006)	☐ Caries free at 5 years: little change since 1990; DMFT score at age 12 (Year 8): no change since 1997	Poorer outcomes for Mäori and Pacific children; those in schools without fluoridated water	⊖ (Caries free at 5 years)□ Higher thanOECD median onDMFT index
Obesity	8.4 percent of 5–14 year olds were obese (2006/07)	☐ No statistically significant change since 2002	Higher for Pacific, Mäori, those in deprived areas	⊖ No comparison available
Physical activity	55 percent of 15–24 year olds physically active (2006/07)	☐ No statistically significant change since 2002/03	Higher for males, lowest for Asian youth	⊖ No comparison available
Cigarette smoking at 14–1 years	13 percent of 14–15 year olds smoked cigarettes regularly (at least monthly) (2007)	☐ Considerable improvement since 1999	Higher for females, Mäori, those at low decile schools; regional differences	⊖ No comparison available
Youth suicide	Suicide deaths: Three- year moving average rate of 18.1 per 100,000 15–24 year olds (2003–2005); Suicide attempts: 299.9 per 100,000 15–24 year olds (2006)	□ Suicide death rate declined substantially from 1995–1997 to 2003–2005 but still higher than 1984–1986 rate	Much higher suicide death rate for males and Mäori; much higher attempted suicide rate for females	☐ Male rate second highest and female rate third highest among 13 OECD countries

Indicator	Most recent level	Trend □ better □ same □ worse Ø not updated Ø not comparable	Variation within the population	International comparison □ better □ same □ worse ⊖ not comparable
Care and supp	ort			
Positive relationships with parents	More than 90 percent of students reported that Mum and Dad cared about them a lot (2001)	⊖ No trend available	Lower proportion for Mäori	⊖ No comparison available
Witnessing violence in the home	In last 12 months, youth witnessing (1) adults hurting other adults: 6 percent; (2) adults hurting children:	⊖ No trend available	Mäori, Pacific and Asian students more likely to witness adults hurting other adults;	→ No comparison available
	16 percent; (3) adults yelling/swearing at other adults: 49 percent; (4) adults yelling/swearing at children: 48 percent		Mäori and Pacific students more likely to witness adults hurting a child;	
Early childbearing	31.6 births to females under 20 per 1,000 females aged 15–19 years (2007)	☐ Increased between 2002 and 2007, but lower than rate in early-to-mid 1990s.	Higher rates for Mäori and Pacific and those in deprived areas; wide regional differences	☐ Fourth highest among 30 OECD countries in 2004— 2006
Education				
Children of parents without educational qualifications	12 percent of dependent children under 18 years lived in families in which no parent had a formal qualification (2006)	☐ Considerable improvement since 1986	Higher for Mäori and Pacific children; children living in one- parent families	⊖ No comparison available
Participation in early childhood education	'Apparent' participation rate of 97 percent for 3 year olds and 102 percent for 4 year olds (2007)	☐ Continuous increase since 1988	Lower for Pacific and Mäori children and those in low decile schools; regional differences	☐ Higher than OECD median
School truancy	Standardised unjustified absence rate of 2.3 percent of students enrolled (2006)	☐ Increased since 2004	Higher for Mäori, Pacific and older students; those at low- decile schools; regional differences	⊖ No comparison available
Reading literacy at age 15	Combined mean reading literacy score of 521 (2006)	☐ No change between 2000 and 2006	Lower mean scores for Mäori, Pacific and male students	☐ Higher than OECD average
Mathematical literacy at age 15	Mean score in mathematics literacy of 522 (2006)	☐ No change between 2003 and 2006	Lower mean scores for Mäori and Pacific students	☐ Higher than OECD average

Indicator	Most recent level	Trend □ better □ same □ worse ∅ not updated ⊖ not comparable	Variation within the population	International comparison □ better □ same □ worse ⊖ not comparable
Scientific literacy at age 15	Mean score in science literacy of 530 (2006)	 → Different method of measuring scientific literacy 	Lower mean scores for Mäori and Pacific students	☐ Higher than OECD average
Retention of students in senior secondary schools	71.1 percent of students stayed on at school to age 17 (2006, individuals); 60.8 percent of all students stayed at school to age 17.5 (2007, aggregate)	☐ Little change in past four years; similar to level in 1992	Lower proportions for Mäori, European, males, and those from low-decile schools	→ No comparison available
School leavers with higher qualifications	66 percent of school leavers gained NCEA Level 2+ (2007)	☐ Improvement since 2003	Lower proportions for Mäori, Pacific and male students, and those from low-decile schools	→ No comparison available
Participation in tertiary education	36.8 percent of 18–24 year olds enrolled at some time during 2007	☐ Steady	Lower proportions for Mäori, Pacific, males	☐ Higher than OECD median for 18–24 year olds
Tertiary qualification completion	8.3 percent of 18–24 year olds in 2006	☐ Steady	Lower for Mäori, males	⊖ No comparison available
Economic secu	rity			
Children without a parent in paid work	17 percent of children under 15 years had no parent in paid work in 2006	☐ Improved since 1991	Higher proportions for Mäori, Pacific, children of sole parents	⊖ No comparison available
Children and young people with low incomes	16 percent of children under 18 years, 17 percent of 18– 24 year olds live in households with incomes below 60 percent of the 1998 median adjusted for inflation and housing costs (2007)			☐ Children: higher than OECD median (50 percent threshold) but at Eurostat median (60 percent threshold)
Unemployment	Unemployment rate for 15–24 year olds: 9.7 percent in 2007	☐ Improved since 1998, steady from 2004	Higher rates for 15–19 year olds, for Mäori and Pacific peoples; regional differences	☐ Lower than OECD average
Employment	Employment rate for 15–24 year olds: 58.6 percent in 2007	☐ Steady	Lower rates for females, Mäori, Pacific	☐ Higher than OECD average

Indicator	Most recent level	Trend □ better □ same □ worse ⊘ not updated ⊖ not comparable	Variation within the population	International comparison □ better □ same □ worse ⊖ not comparable
Median hourly earnings	Half of employees aged 15–19 years earned more than \$11.25 an hour and half of employees aged 20–24 years earned more than \$14.19 an hour (2007)	☐ Improved since 1997, particularly for 15–19 year olds since 2001	Lower for 15–19 year olds	⊖ No comparison available
Safety				
Unintentional injury mortality	9 children per 100,000 under 15 years died as a result of an unintentional injury (2005)	☐ Improved	Higher rate for males, children under 5 years, Mäori children	⊖ No comparison available
Assault mortality	Assault deaths in 2001–2005: 36 children under 15 years, five-year average rate of 0.8 per 100,000 0–14 year olds per year;	☐ 2001–2005 lower than 1996–2000 for children under 15	Higher for children under 5 years and Mäori children;	⊖ No recent comparison available
		☐ 2001–2005 slightly higher than 1996–2000	15–24 years: higher for males and Mäori	
	62 15–24 year olds, five- year average rate of 2.2 per 100,000 15–24 year olds per year	for 15–24 year olds Lower than 1986–1990 for both age groups		
Bullying at school	30 percent of secondary school students reported that they were bullied at school in the last 12 months (2001)	⊖ No trend data available	Higher for younger students	☐ Similar to a range of mainly European countries
Criminal victimisation	55 percent of 15–24 year olds were victims of crime (2005)	⊖ Not comparable with earlier survey data	Victimisation of confrontational offences higher for Mäori	⊖ No comparison available
Fear of crime	41 percent of 15–24 year olds reported that fear of crime had a moderate or high impact on their quality of life	⊖ No trend data available	Higher for females, Other ethnic groups (in this case including Pacific and Asian)	⊖ No comparison available
Road casualties	10 deaths per 100,000 population under 25 years; 21 deaths per 100,000 population 15–24 years (2007) 417 injuries per 100,000	□ Road death rate: substantial decline since 1990; injury rate: substantial decline to 2000, little change since 2002	Higher for males, Mäori	☐ Road death rate for 15–24 year olds above OECD median in 2006 (27 countries)
	417 injuries per 100,000 aged under 25 years (2007)	2002		

Indicator	Most recent level	Trend □ better □ same □ worse ⊘ not updated ⊖ not comparable	Variation within the population	International comparison □ better □ same □ worse ⊖ not comparable
Civil and politi	ical rights			
Voter turnout	An estimated 76 percent of 18–24 year olds voted in the 2005 election; 85 percent of 18–29 year olds were registered on the electoral roll at the 2005 election	□ Voter turnout and voter registration have fluctuated but were higher in 2005 than in 1987	Voter registration varied widely by electorate	⊖ No comparison available
Justice				
Police apprehensions of 14–16 year olds	1,591 police apprehensions per 10,000 14–16 year olds (2006)	☐ Improved since 2003	Males and Mäori over- represented	⊖ No comparison available
Cases proved in the Youth Court	88 cases proved per 10,000 14–16 year olds (2006)	☐ Improved since 2004 (new recording system in 2004 means not comparable with earlier years)	Males and Mäori over- represented	⊖ No comparison available
Culture and id	entity			
Te reo Mäori speakers	18 percent of Mäori under 15 years and 23 percent of Mäori aged 15–24 years able to speak te reo Mäori (2006)	☐ Census measure shows slight decline between 2001 and 2006	Higher for females, older age groups, those in regions with high proportions of Mäori residents	⊖ No comparison available
Language retention	Varied from 6 percent of Cook Islands Mäori to 81 percent of Koreans aged under 25 years (2006)	☐ Little change for most groups between 2001 and 2006	Not relevant	⊖ No comparison available
Social connecto	edness			
Telephone/ mobile access in the home	98 percent of children under 18 years and 97 percent of 18–24 year olds had access to a telephone in the home (2006)	☐ Improved since 2001, particularly for Mäori and Pacific children and young people	Lower for Mäori, Pacific children and young people	⊖ No comparison available
Internet access in the home	70 percent of children under 18 years and 65 percent of 18–24 year olds had access to the internet at home (2006)	☐ Much improved since 2001, particularly for Mäori and Pacific children and young people	Lower for Mäori Pacific children and young people; one parent families, families without at least one parent employed full-time	☐ Higher than OECD average

Indicator	Most recent level	Trend □ better □ same □ worse ⊘ not updated ⊖ not comparable	Variation within the population	International comparison better same worse ⊖ not comparable
Environment				
Children living with a parent who smokes	33 percent of dependent children under 18 years lived with at least one parent who was a regular smoker (2006)	☐ Improved since 1996	Higher for Mäori, Pacific children, children in one-parent families, young children	⊖ No comparison available
Household crowding	17 percent of children under 15 years and 17 percent of 15–24 year olds were living in crowded households (2006)	☐ Steady for children under 15; ☐ Improved for 15–24 year olds	Higher for Pacific children and young people; wide regional differences	⊖ No comparison available

Annex 3

Statistical information as per United Nations Guidelines

Contents

Notes on	the data
Part 4: C	vil Rights and Freedoms
Nan	ne and nationality (art. 7)
	Table 1. Number of live births, by gender of baby, 2000–2007
	Table 2. Number of live births,(1) by ethnicity of mother and child, 2000–2006
Part 5: Fa	amily Environment and Alternative Care
Sep	aration from parents (art. 9)
	le 3. Number of Children 0–17 years separated from their parents and put in care protection placements, by gender, 2004–2007
	le 4. Number of Children 0–17 years separated from their parents and put in care protection placements, by age, 2004–2007
Ado	ption (art. 21)
	Table 5. Number of Adoptions granted or recognised in New Zealand, 2000–2007
	se and neglect (art. 19), including physical and psychological recovery and al reintegration (art. 39)
	Table 6. Number of Client (0–17 years) Investigation Assessments by category, in the fiscal years ending June 2004–June 2008
	Table 7. Number of children aged 0 to 17 years who have suffered abuse or neglect, according to substantiated findings, by ethnicity, in the fiscal years ending June 2004 and 2007
Part 6: Ba	asic Health and Welfare
Chi	ld health
	Table 8. Mortality numbers of children under 5, by age and gender, 2005–2007
	Table 9. Number of deaths attributed to Sudden Infant Death Syndrome by ethnicity and gender 2003 & 2004
	Table 10. Number and percentage of births of low birth weight, 2000–2006
	Table 11. Number and percentage of children fully vaccinated by age 2 years (1 July 2007 and 1 July 2008), by ethnicity
	Table 12. Number of children aged 0–14 years diagnosed with HIV (by antibody test), and AIDS by gender, 1996–2007
Ado	elescent health
	Table 13. Three-year moving average suicide death rate (per 100,000) aged 15–19 by gender, selected years 1985–2005

	Table 14. Age-specific youth (age 15–19) suicide death rate (per 100,000) by ethnic group, 2000–2005
	Table 15. Age-specific fertility rates for the population aged 0–24, 1991–2006
	Table 16. Number of live births by mother's age and ethnicity for the period 2000–2006
	Table 17. Frequency of alcohol consumption in the last 4 weeks (among students who currently drink alcohol)
	Table 18. Number of road deaths in the population aged 0–19, by age, 2002–2007
	Table 19. Prevalence of daily smoking (%) Year 10 students, by gender and ethnicity, 1999–2005
	Table 20. Rates of mental health clients seen (per 100,000 population), by ethnicity, gender and age, 2004
Star	ndard of living (art. 27, paras. 1–3)
	Table 21. Median family incomes of dependent children, by family type and ethnicity of child, 2006
	Table 22. Proportion (%) of children (age 0–17) living in low-income households, 2001 to 2007
	Table 23. Proportion (%) of dependent children living with one parent, by ethnicity of child, 1986–2006
	Table 24. Household size for population aged 0–17, by ethnicity, 2006
Part 7: E	ducation, Leisure and Cultural Activities
Edu	cation (art. 28)
	Table 25. Age-adjusted public expenditure on educational institutions, gross and as a percentage of GDP, 2000/01–2005/06
	Table 26. Government expenditure on support for tertiary study, by student loans, student allowances and tuition subsidies, 2000–2007
	Table 27. Number of students attending school, by school type, 2000–2007
	Table 28. Number of Homeschoolers aged 0–19 years, as at 1 July 2007, by ethnicity and gender
	Table 29. Number of Homeschoolers as at 1 July 2007, by age and gender
	Table 30. Ethnic distribution (%) of all domestic school students, 2000–2007
	Table 31. Distribution (number) of domestic school students, by age, 2000–2007
	Table 32. Age-standardised exclusion rates (per 1,000 students) for students aged 0–18 years, by ethnicity, 2000–2007
	Table 33. Age-standardised stand-down and suspension rates (per 1,000 students) for students aged 0–18 years, by ethnicity and gender, 2007
	Table 34. Estimated percentage of domestic students staying on at school, by age and ethnicity, 2000–2007
	Table 35. Estimated percentage of domestic students staying on at school, by age and gender (2000–2007)

	Table 36. Estimated percentage of domestic students staying on at school, by ethnicity and age, 2006–2007
	Table 37. Early leaving exemption (rates per 1000 15 year old students), by ethnicity, 2000–2007
	Table 38. Proportion (%) of standardised frequent and infrequent truancy, by ethnicity and gender, 2006
	Table 39. Percentage of school leavers with little or no formal attainment, by ethnicity, 1993–2006
	Table 40. Percentage of school leavers making a direct transition to tertiary education, by gender and ethnicity, 2004–2005
	Table 41. Participation rates in tertiary education, by ethnicity, age group and gender 2001–2007
	Table 42. Proportion of school-leavers with Higher School Certificate or above, and with NCEA Level 2 or above, by ethnic group, 1993–2007
	Table 43. Participation of 15 to 17 year olds in industry training (including Modern Apprenticeships) by selected industry, 2006
Part 8: Sp	pecial Protection Measures
Chil	dren in situations of emergency (arts. 22, 38, and 39)
	Table 44. Child refugee status claimants (asylum seekers) in New Zealand from 1 July 1997 to 13 February 2008, by age and gender
	Table 45. Child refugees granted Refugee Status by Immigration New Zealand (approvals) from 1 July 1997 to 13 February 2008, by age and gender
	Table 46. Children resettled to New Zealand under the Refugee Quota Programme from 1 July 1997 to 13 February 2008, by age and gender
	Table 47. ESOL funding for students from migrant and refugee backgrounds, 2004/05–2007/08
	dren in armed conflicts (art 38), including physical and psychological recovery social reintegration (art. 39)
	Table 48. Number of young people aged under 18 years in the defence force 2007
	dren in conflict with the law & the administration of Juvenile Justice (arts. 37, and 40)
	Table 49. Number of Detentions in Child, Youth and Family residences, by ethnicity, from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2007
	Table 50. Number of under-18-year-old remand prisoners as at 27 February 2008, by ethnicity and gender
	Table 51. Number of sentenced under-18-year-olds as at 27 February 2008, ethnicity and gender
Disability	Chapter 9
Chil	dren with disabilities (art. 23)
	Table 52. Number of population (000) aged 0–14 with disability, by gender, and main cause 2006

Notes on the data

Data provided in this report is from the most up-to-date (at the time of writing) information about children in New Zealand. The data is provided, where possible, to meet the requirements of UNCROC related to disaggregation by indigenous population, gender and age. Where up-to-date data is available this has been provided. Where data is not available in the required detail and format the closest alternative is provided and the population covered by the data and its breakdown is specified.

There are however, some constraints on the use and reporting of data especially with the disaggregation of data due to size of New Zealand's population, where small differences can be magnified and trends can be misleading. It is important to maintain confidentiality with disaggregated data (in general, cells representing fewer than five individuals have been suppressed, indicated with "...c") and minimise data volatility regarding trend reporting. This is particularly important when dealing with sensitive data requests, such as child abuse statistics and youth suicide.

Part 4 Civil rights and freedoms

Name and nationality (art. 7)

Registered births

Table 1 Number of live births, by gender of baby, 2000–2007

December Year	Male	Female	Total Live Births
2000	29 157	27 448	56 605
2001	28 333	27 466	55 799
2002	27 577	26 444	54 021
2003	28 820	27 314	56 134
2004	29 744	28 329	58 073
2005	29 546	28 199	57 745
2006	30 240	28 953	59 193
2007	33 013	31 031	64 044

Source: Statistics New Zealand, Miscellaneous birth and fertility rates tables, Table 10. [Online]. Available from: http://www.stats.govt.nz/tables/births-tables.htm#regional.

Notes:

⁽¹⁾ Data from 1991 onwards are based on births registered in New Zealand to mothers resident in New Zealand by date of registration.

⁽²⁾ Excludes late registrations under section 16 of the Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration Act 1995. These are births which were not registered in the ordinary way at the time the birth occurred.

Table 2 Number of live births,⁽¹⁾ by ethnicity of mother and child, 2000–2006

Ethnicity(2)									
December Year	Mäori	Pasifika	Asian	European (3)	MELAA (4)	Other (pre 2006)(5)	Other (from 2006)(6)	All live births (7)	
			M	lother					
2000	12 753	6 302	4 314	38 789		486		56 605	
2001	12 689	6 321	4 133	38 307		559		55 799	
2002	11 968	6 209	4 618	36 679		511		54 021	
2003	12 462	6 363	5 285	37 561		681		56 134	
2004	13 066	6 690	5 739	38 615		752		58 073	
2005	13 092	6 553	5 662	38 573		772		57 745	
2006	13 654	6 643	5 610	39 666	750		698	59 193	
			Ch	ild (8)					
2000	15 851	8 184	4 659	40 460		649		56 605	
2001	15 839	8 218	4 505	39 868		719		55 799	
2002	14 871	8 023	5 054	38 259		682		54 021	
2003	15 657	8 299	5 706	39 196		874		56 134	
2004	16 259	8 671	6 266	40 307		892		58 073	
2005	16 437	8 605	6 168	40 375		951		57 745	
2006	17 342	8 926	6 028	41 575	942		947	59 193	

Source: Statistics New Zealand, Demographic Trends 2007, Table 2.02. [Online] Available from: http://www.stats.govt.nz/analytical-reports/dem-trends-07/downloadable-excel-tables.htm.

Notes:

- (1) Excludes late registrations under section 16 of the Births, Deaths, and Marriages Registration Act 1995. (Births that were not registered in the ordinary way at the time the birth occurred.)
- (2) Each birth has been included in every ethnic group specified. For this reason, some births are counted more than once.
 - (3) Before 2006, New Zealanders were included in the European ethnic group.
 - (4) Middle Eastern, Latin American and African.
 - (5) Includes MELAA and other ethnicities not elsewhere included.
 - (6) Includes New Zealander and other ethnicities not elsewhere included.
 - (7) Includes ethnicity not stated or response out of scope.
- (8) From July 1998, if no ethnic group was stated for a child, the child was assigned the ethnic groups of its parents.

Part 5
Family environment and alternative care

Separation from parents (art. 9)

Children separated from their parents and put in Child, Youth and Family care and protection placement.

Table 3 Number of children 0–17 years separated from their parents and put in care and protection placements, by gender, 2004–2007

		Year		
Gender	2004	2005	2006	2007
Male	2 455	2 545	2 681	2 697
Female	2 176	2 258	2 348	2 307
Not recorded	43	50	48	45
Total	4 674	4 853	5 077	5 049

Source: Ministry of Social Development: from Child, Youth and Family 2004–2007 (CYRAS database).

Table 4 Number of children 0–17 years separated from their parents and put in care and protection placements, by age, 2004–2007

		Year		
Age	2004	2005	2006	2007
0–5	1 210	1 293	1 436	1 445
6–10	1 391	1 343	1 427	1 391
11+	2 073	2 217	2 214	2 213
Total	4 674	4 853	5 077	5 049

Source: Ministry of Social Development: from Child, Youth and Family 2004–2007 (CYRAS database).

Adoption (art. 21)

Inter-country adoption

Table 5 **Number of adoptions granted or recognized in New Zealand, 2000–2007**

				Year			
Adoption type	2000/01	2001/02	2002/03	2003/04	2004/05	2005/06	2006/07
Adoption of New Zealand children	319	325	323	275	314	294	213
Adoption of foreign children	408	311	316	387	262	417	406
Total adoptions recognised or granted by New Zealand	727	636	639	662	576	711	619

Source: Ministry of Social Development: from Child, Youth and Family 2000–2007 (Child, Youth and Family Adoptions Unit).

Note:

(1) A registration may occur in a different fiscal year from the adoption report hence the total adoptions may not always equal the sum of the adoption reports written by the Department for the same period.

Abuse and neglect (art. 19), including physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration (art. 39)

Table 6 Number of Client (0–17 years) Investigation Assessments by category, in the fiscal years ending June 2004–June 2008

		Fiscal ye	ear ending J u	ne	
Assessment finding	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
Emotionally abused	2 571	4 592	6 142	8 256	8 664
Physically abused	1 864	2 351	2 336	2 274	2 321
Sexually abused	1 149	1 424	1 291	1 194	1 003
Neglected	2 878	4 074	4 199	4 486	4 302
Behavioural/relationship difficulties	3 325	4 355	4 657	4 461	4 154
Self-harm/suicidal	100	173	172	138	116
Not found	15 860	23 388	26 011	22 921	19 334
Total	27 747	40 357	44 808	43 730	39 894

Source: Ministry of Social Development: from Child, Youth and Family 2004–June 2007 (CYRAS database).

Notes:

- (1) Fiscal year figures as at June each year.
- (2) The figures represent the number of findings, not the number of distinct clients. Some clients may have multiple findings in an assessment and also multiple assessments in a fiscal year.
 - (3) Not found relates to investigations where there is no positive finding.

Table 7
Number of children aged 0–17 years who have suffered abuse or neglect, according to substantiated findings, by ethnicity, in the fiscal years ending June 2004–2007

		Fiscal year ending	Fiscal year ending June		
Ethnicity	2004	2005	2006	2007	
NZ Mäori	3 267	4 926	5 486	6 276	
Pacific	890	1 335	1 655	2 113	
NZ Päkehä	2 848	3 535	3 725	3 824	
Other	328	503	540	626	
Not recorded	288	412	461	477	
Total	7 621	10 711	11 867	13 316	

Source: Ministry of Social Development: from Child, Youth and Family 2004–2008 (CYRAS database).

Part 6 Basic health and welfare

Child health

Mortality of children under 5 years

Table 8

Mortality numbers of children under 5, by age and gender, 2005-2007

		Numb	per of deaths by age	
Registration year	Gender	0	1–4	Total
2005	Female	42	10	52
	Male	67	12	79
	Total	109	22	131
2006	Female	56	7	63
	Male	60	13	73
	Total	116	20	136
2007	Female	55	14	69
	Male	66	18	84
	Total	121	32	153

Source: Ministry of Health, New Zealand Health Information Service 2007.

Infant mortality

Table 9

Number of deaths attributed to Sudden Infant Death Syndrome by ethnicity and gender 2003 and 2004

		Year	
Ethnicity	Gender	2003	2004
Mäori	Female	12	17
	Male	25	17
	Total	37	34
Pasifika	Female	1	1
	Male	1	1
	Total	2	2
Other (non-Mäori, non-Pasifika peoples)	Female	3	3
	Male	9	6
	Total	12	9
Total	Female	16	21
	Male	35	24
	Total	51	45

Source: The Ministry of Health, New Zealand Health Information Service. Foetal and Infant Deaths 2003 and 2004. (2007) Tables B13 and A13.

Low birth weight

Table 10 Number and percentage of births of low birth weight, 2000–2006

Year	Live births	Live births < 2 500 g	Proportion (%) LBW
2000	56 994	3 614	6.3
2001	56 224	3 643	6.5
2002	54 515	3 537	6.5
2003	56 576	3 442	6.1
2004	58 723	3 602	6.1
2005	58 727	3 500	6.0
2006	60 274	3 505	5.8

Source: The Ministry of Health, New Zealand Health Information Service (2007) unpublished data.

Immunization

Table 11 Number and percentage of children fully vaccinated by age 2 years (1 July 2007 and 1 July 2008), by ethnicity

Ethnicity	No. eligible	Fully immunized for age	Proportion (%)
Mäori	11 982	8 110	68
Pacific	5 900	4 409	75
Asian	4 734	3 786	80
European	24 863	20 373	82
Other	4 791	3 295	69
Total	52 270	39 973	76

Source: Ministry of Health (2007), The National Childhood Immunization Coverage Survey; Ministry of Health (2007), The National Childhood Immunization Register. Cited in Ministry of Social Development (2008), Children and Young People: Indicators of Wellbeing in New Zealand.

HIV/AIDS

Table 12 Number of children aged 0–14 years diagnosed with HIV (by antibody test), and AIDS by gender, 1996–2007

Gender	HIV	AIDS
Female	16	7
Male	21	11
Total	37	18

Source: Ministry of Health (2008). Available from: http://www.moh.govt.nz/.

Adolescent health

Suicide prevention

Table 13
Three-year moving average suicide death rate (per 100,000) aged 15–19 by gender, selected years 1985–2005

		15–19	
Period	Male	Female	Total
1985–1987	17.8	4.7	11.4
1988–1990	29.1	4.9	17.2
1991–1993	26.9	3.7	15.5
1994–1996	31.5	12.1	22.0
1997–1999	29.2	16.2	22.9
2000-2002	20.0	9.5	14.9
2003-2005	22.7	9.3	16.2

Source: NZ Health Information Service, the Ministry of Health (2007). Cited in Ministry of Social Development (2008), Children and Young People: Indicators of Wellbeing in New Zealand.

Table 14 Age-specific youth (age 15–19) suicide death rate (per 100,000) by ethnic group, 2000–2005

Total	European/other	Asian	Pasifika	Mäori	
15.4	13.2	6.3	11.0	28.8	
(13.6–17.3)	(11.2–15.6)	(3.1–11.2)	(6.0–18.5)	(23.4–35.2)	15-19

Source: NZ Health Information Service, Ministry of Health (2007). Cited in Ministry of Social Development (2008), Children and Young People: Indicators of Wellbeing in New Zealand. *Note*:

(1) If the respective confidence intervals (in brackets) do not overlap, the difference between rates is likely to be statistically significant.

Fertility rates

Table 15
Age-specific fertility rates for the population aged 0–24, 1991–2006

	Aga	e of mother (years)	
December year	Under 15	15–19	20–24
1991	0.2	33.9	95.2
1992	0.2	32.9	91.0
1993	0.2	32.2	88.8
1994	0.3	31.4	83.4
1995	0.3	33.4	83.0
1996	0.2	33.0	81.2
1997	0.4	32.8	79.1

	Age	e of mother (years)	
December year	Under 15	15–19	20–24
1998	0.2	29.2	75.3
1999	0.2	28.9	77.4
2000	0.2	28.2	77.5
2001	0.2	27.5	76.1
2002	0.2	25.6	70.1
2003	0.2	25.9	68.6
2004	0.2	27.1	70.4
2005	0.2	27.2	67.6
2006	0.2	28.1	70.9

Source: Statistics New Zealand, Demographic Trends (2007). Table 2.14, Available from: http://www.stats.govt.nz/analytical-reports/dem-trends-07/downloadable-excel-tables.htm.

Notes:

- (1) Age-specific rates are the rates per 1,000 mean estimated female population in each age group. For the age group under 15 years old, the population aged 10–14 has been used as a denominator.
- (2) Rates are based on live births registered in New Zealand to mothers resident in New Zealand by date of registration, and the mean estimated resident population.
- (3) Rates for 1998 are lower than expected because of a small change to the rate at which births were registered during 1998.

Table 16
Number of live births by mother's age and ethnicity for the period 2000–2006

	Mother's age	
Ethnicity	Under 15	15–19
Mäori	160	14 265
Pacific	40	4 146
Asian	c	792
European	87	14 579
Other	0	181
Total	225	27 325

Source: Statistics New Zealand Statistics New Zealand, Demographic Trends (2007). Table 2.05, available from: http://www.stats.govt.nz/analytical-reports/dem-trends-07/downloadable-exceltables.htm.

Notes

- (1) Excludes late registrations under section 16 of the Births, Deaths, and Marriages Registration Act 1995. (Births that were not registered in the ordinary way at the time the birth occurred.)
- (2) Each birth has been included in every ethnic group stated. For this reason, some births are counted more than once.
 - (3) Before 2006, New Zealanders were included in the European ethnic group.
- (4) 2006 "Other" ethnicity data is a total of those who identified as MELAA (Middle Eastern, Latin American and African) under the new ethnicity coding, other ethnicity and not elsewhere included. Prior to 2006 "Other" always included MELAA.
- (5) Births data are based on live births registered in New Zealand to mothers resident in New Zealand by date of registration.

Alcohol consumption

Table 17

Frequency of alcohol consumption in the last four weeks (among students who currently drink alcohol)

			Not in the last 4 weeks	Once in the last 4 weeks	Two or three times in the last 4 weeks	About once a week	Several times a week or more often
		n	% (95% CI)	% (95% CI)	% (95% CI)	% (95% CI)	% (95% CI)
Total		5 018	23.5 21.9–25.2	20.6 19.4–21.8	26.4 25.1–27.7	20.0 18.8–21.2	9.5 8.2–10.7
	Male	2 674	21.8 19.6–24.0	20.2 18.4–22.0	26.0 24.3–27.8	20.6 19.0–22.3	11.3 9.5–13.1
By gender	Female	2 344	25.5 23.5–27.5	21.1 19.6–22.6	26.8 24.8–28.7	19.3 17.7–20.8	7.4 6.2–8.5

Source: Adolescent Health Research Group (2007) Youth '07: The Health and Well-being of Secondary School Students in New Zealand. Initial Findings. Auckland. The University of Auckland (embargoed until 15 December 2008).

Road safety

Table 18 Number of road deaths in the population aged 0–19, by age, 2002–2007

				Year			
Age	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	Total
0–4	8	10	10	8	6	8	50
5–9	8	8	10	10	11	6	53
10–14	15	9	5	13	8	13	63
15–19	54	73	81	84	61	65	418
Total	85	100	106	115	86	92	584

 $\label{eq:source:monotone} Source: \ \ \mbox{Ministry of Transport, Road Toll Deaths for last five years, available from: $http://www.transport.govt.nz/road-toll 1/.$

Note:

(1) The age of eligibility for a drivers licence is 15 years.

Cigarette smoking

Table 19
Prevalence of daily smoking (%) year 10 students, by gender and ethnicity, 19992005

					Year			
Gender	Ethnicity	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005
Female	Mäori	36.2	37.1	34.3	34.3	34.2	29.1	26.5
	Pasifika	23.0	19.4	19.5	17.6	18.1	13.2	14.5
	Asian	5.9	5.1	3.2	3.9	4.5	2.9	2.9

					Year			
Gender	Ethnicity	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005
	European/Other	13.1	12.2	11.4	10.8	9.8	7.2	7.3
Male	Mäori	23.6	24.2	19.1	16.8	19.4	16.2	14.0
	Pasifika	16.6	16.8	14.3	10.8	12.5	11.8	10.2
	Asian	7.9	9.4	7.2	7.5	6.4	3.8	5.3
	European/Other	12.6	12.1	10.0	8.6	7.6	5.9	5.4

Source: ASH Year 10 Smoking Survey, published New Zealand Tobacco Use Survey, 2006. *Note*:

Mental health

 $\begin{tabular}{ll} Table~20\\ Rates~of~mental~health~clients~seen~(per~100,000~population),~by~ethnicity,~gender~and~age,~2004\\ \end{tabular}$

				Ag	e	
Ethnicity	Gender	Crude rate	0–4	5–9	10–14	15–19
Mäori	Female	2 217.6	58.7	410.5	1 486.3	2 755.2
	Male	2 802.1	171.8	1 234.6	2 348.4	3 218.7
	Total	2 506.2	116.8	834.5	1 930.0	2 987.9
Pasifika	Female	1 106.6	54.3	162.3	497.8	1 614.7
	Male	1 472.1	36.9	528.9	570.8	1 643.4
	Total	1 287.9	45.4	348.9	535.5	1 629.4
Non-Mäori,	Female	2 147.0	152.9	838.2	1 829.9	3 654.6
Non-Pasifika	Male	2 214.4	237.6	1 883.6	2 805.8	2 899.8
	Total	2 180.1	196.1	1 376.6	2 331.2	3 268.2
Total	Female	2 097.1	118.8	670.0	1 642.3	3 321.5
	Male	2 259.0	201.1	1 600.8	2 516.2	2 870.6
	Total	2 176.6	160.9	1 148.8	2 091.6	3 091.5

 $Source: \ \ Ministry \ of \ Health, NZ \ Health \ Information \ Service, \ 2007.$

⁽¹⁾ Year 10 is aged 14-15 years.

⁽¹⁾ The crude rate applies to all age groups, not just 0–19.

⁽²⁾ The "non-Mäori, non-Pasifika" group includes all clients in the "Other" or "Asian" groups according to their prioritised ethnicity.

⁽³⁾ The "Other" ethnic group includes those with a prioritised ethnicity of Statistics New Zealand ethnic codes other and not stated.

Standard of living (art. 27, paras. 1-3)

Monitoring and evaluation - Parental income

Table 21 Median family incomes of dependent children, by family type and ethnicity of child, 2006

		F	Family type		
Ethnicity of child	Total population	One-parent (father)	One-parent (mother)	One-parent (total)	Two-parents
Mäori	\$40 700	\$25 200	\$21 100	\$21 500	\$61 100
Pasifika	\$41 800	\$27 100	\$21 000	\$21 600	\$57 300
Asian	\$47 500	\$26 600	\$20 900	\$21 600	\$55 400
European	\$63 900	\$36 186	\$24 300	\$25 200	\$75 600
Other	\$41 500	\$24 000	\$21 300	\$21 500	\$54 500
Total	\$58 300	\$31 900	\$23 000	\$23 800	\$69 900

Source: Statistics New Zealand, the census of Populations and Dwellings (2006) (unpublished census data).

Notes:

- (1) Ethnicity is based on a total count (some children will be counted in more than one ethnic group). New Zealander is included in European.
- (2) Dependent children are defined in the Census as those who are aged under 18 years and are not in full-time employment.

Table 22 **Proportion** (%) of children (age 0–17) living in low-income households, 2001 to 2007

	1	Before housii	ng costs			After housin	g costs	"fixed line" %	
	"moving	"moving line" % "fixed line"%		"moving line" %		"fixed line" %			
Year	50%	60%	50%	60%	50%	60 %	50 %	60 %	
2001	12	24	10	22	21	30	20	29	
2004	15	26	11	19	19	28	15	23	
2007	13	20	7	13	16	22	12	16	

Source: Adapted from tables F4 and F5 of Perry, B. (2008), Household Incomes in New Zealand: Trends in Indicators of Inequality and Hardship 1982 to 2007. Wellington: Ministry of Social Development. This report presents data derived by the Ministry of Social Development from Statistics New Zealand's Household Economic Survey. For extensive methodological information pertaining to the calculations, please see the full report, available online at http://www.msd.govt.nz/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/monitoring/household-incomes/index.html.

Notes:

- (1) The thresholds of 50 and 60 percent represent a percentage of the median national household income.
 - (2) Housing costs are calculated at 25 percent of income.
 - (3) Fixed-line (constant value) calculations are adjusted for inflation, benchmarked at 1998.

Table 23

Proportion (%) of dependent children living with one parent, by ethnicity of child, 1986–2006

Ethnicity			Year		
	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Mäori	28	39	41	44	42
Pasifika	21	30	32	34	36
Asian	11	13	16	20	18
European	13	17	20	23	22
Other	21	23	24	29	27
Total	16	21	24	27	26

Source: Statistics New Zealand, New Zealand Census of Population and Dwellings 1986, 1991, 1996, 2001 and 2006 (unpublished census data).

Notes:

- (1) To maintain consistency over time, children identified as New Zealander in 2006 have been included in the European ethnic group.
- (2) A "parent" is the mother, father (natural, step, adopted or foster), or "person in a parent role" of a "child in a family nucleus". A "person in a parent role" is a person who is not a mother or father (natural, step, adopted or foster) of the young person (as defined by the survey) but who nevertheless usually resides with that young person.
- (3) Dependent children are defined in the Census as those who are aged under 18 years and are not in full-time employment.

Table 24 **Household size for population aged 0–17 by ethnicity, 2006**

	Numb	per of usual residents (p	proportion %)				
Ethnicity	Total population	1–3	4–5	6 or more			
Mäori	100	22	48	30			
Pasifika	100	12	37	51			
Asian	100	21	57	22			
European	100	23	62	15			
Other	100	20	53	27			
Total	100	21	57	22			

Source: Statistics New Zealand, New Zealand Census of Population and Dwellings 2006 (unpublished census data).

Part 7
Education, leisure and cultural activities

Education (art. 28)

Investment in education

percentage of GDP, 2000/01-2005/06

Table 25

Age-adjusted public expenditure on educational institutions, gross and as a

Year	Expenditure on education (\$ million)	Total government expenditure (\$ million)	GDP (\$ million)	Expenditure on education as percentage of GDP	Expenditure on education as percentage of total government expenditure
2000/01	6 136	36 699	118 407	5.18	16.7
2001/02	6 473	37 970	125 758	5.15	17.0
2002/03	7 016	41 749	132 227	5.31	16.8
2003/04	7 585	41 608	141 889	5.35	18.2
2004/05	7 930	46 234	150 629	5.26	17.2
2005/06	9 914	49 900	156 933	6.32	19.9

Source: Ministry of Education (2006), Total Investment in Education, table 1, available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/technical_info/indicator_definition/resources/4029.

Table 26
Government expenditure on support for tertiary study, by student loans, student allowances and tuition subsidies, 2000–2007

		\$ Million						
Fiscal year	Student loans	Student allowances	Tuition subsidies					
2000	701	376	1 262					
2001	873	391	1 344					
2002	934	401	1 551					
2003	952	387	1 751					
2004	997	380	1 907					
2005	969	359	1 882					
2006	1 046	354	1 924					
2007	1 176	382	2 087					

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), annual reports of the Ministry of Education, Ministry of Social Development and Tertiary Education Commission, Financial Support for Students, table SLS.1, available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/statistics/tertiary_education/financial_support_for_students.

Notes

- (1) Student allowances amounts are before tax or gross amounts.
- (2) Tuition subsidies include appropriations to the performance-based research fund.
- (3) Student loan amounts are capital amounts.
- (4) Funding is GST inclusive where applicable.

Types of education

Table 27 **Number of students attending school, by school type, 2000–2007**

					Year	r			
School Type	•	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007
Full Primary	y (Year 1–8)	175 679	175 694	177 238	178 105	175 721	174 257	173 537	173 484
Contributing	g (Year 1–6)	215 509	213 213	212 304	213 959	212 360	211 531	210 590	208 524
Intermediate	e (Year 7 & 8)	59 016	60 584	63 704	64 718	62 115	58 658	57 643	57 279
Composite ((Year 1–15)	32 818	33 865	35 301	36 910	39 268	41 216	41 027	42 189
Secondary (Year 7–15)	42 244	42 459	43 310	45 330	48 817	56 726	58 601	59 534
Secondary (Year 9–15)	194 191	197 022	204 683	212 256	215 705	210 986	210 695	210 551
Special Sch	ools	2 113	2 248	2 409	2 605	2 672	2 784	2 795	2 799
Correspond	ence School	8 119	8 839	9 135	7 872	7 996	6 632	5 873	5 546
Total		729 689	733 924	748 084	761 755	764 654	762 790	760 761	759 906
State	Number	631 454	632 737	642 856	652 929	653 826	650 280	647 443	644 678
	%	86.5	86.2	85.9	85.7	85.5	85.3	85.1	84.8
Integrated	Number	74 143	75 440	77 636	79 966	81 678	83 152	83 423	84 490
	%	10.2	10.3	10.4	10.5	10.7	10.9	11.0	11.1
Private	Number	24 092	25 747	27 592	28 860	29 150	29 358	29 895	30 738
	%	3.3	3.5	3.7	3.8	3.8	3.8	3.9	4.0

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), Student Numbers as at 1 July 2007, table 1, available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/statistics/Mäori_education/schooling/6028/student_numbers_as_at_1_july_2007.

Home schooling

Table 28 Number of homeschoolers aged 0–19 years, as at 1 July 2007, by ethnicity and gender

	Gend		
Ethnicity	Male	Female	Total
NZ Mäori	304	272	576
Pasifika	48	56	104
Asian	42	41	83
NZ European/European/Päkehä	2 556	2 465	5 021
Other groups	99	107	206
Unspecified	221	262	483
Total	3 270	3 203	6 473

 $Source: \ Ministry \ of Education \ (2007), \ Home \ Schoolers \ at \ 1 \ July \ 2007, \ table \ 1, \ available \ from: \ http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/statistics/schooling/homeschooling2/homeschooling/homeschooling_as_at_1_july_2007.$

Table 29 Number of homeschoolers as at 1 July 2007, by age and gender

Age	Male	Female	Total
5	5	10	15
6	270	257	527
7	277	297	574
8	329	302	631
9	331	315	646
10	330	290	620
11	312	273	585
12	303	288	591
13	308	293	601
14	262	295	557
15	245	246	491
16	173	173	346
17	88	118	206
18	31	41	72
19	6	5	11
Total	3 270	3 203	6 473

 $Source: \ \ Ministry \ of \ Education \ (2007), \ Home \ Schoolers \ at \ 1 \ July \ 2007, \ table \ 2, \ available \ from: \ http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/statistics/schooling/homeschooling2/homeschooling/homeschooling_as_at_1_july_2007.$

Domestic schooling

Table 30 Ethnic distribution (%) of all domestic school students, 2000–2007

		Ethnicity									
	Mäori	<u> </u>	Pasifik	Pasifika			European/F	Päkehä	All NZ Students*		
Year	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	Total		
2000	146 913	20.3	56 389	7.8	42 367	5.9	468 002	64.8	722 227		
2001	149 590	20.7	58 402	8.1	43 653	6.0	462 311	63.9	723 123		
2002	152 556	20.8	60 313	8.2	49 294	6.7	459 699	62.7	732 644		
2003	157 270	21.1	62 707	8.4	56 024	7.5	455 868	61.3	744 181		
2004	160 732	21.4	64 121	8.5	58 737	7.8	453 473	60.5	750 111		
2005	162 534	21.6	66 088	8.8	60 358	8.0	448 218	59.6	751 421		
2006	162 385	21.6	68 059	9.1	61 857	8.2	443 361	59.0	751 044		
2007	164 021	21.9	69 888	9.3	62 867	8.4	436 717	58.3	749 628		

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), School numbers at 1 July 2007, table 6, available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/statistics/schooling/july_school_roll_returns/6028/student_numbers_as_at_1_july_2007.

Table 31 Distribution (number) of domestic school students, by age, 2000–2007

		Year										
Age	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007				
5	56 454	55 143	54 958	56 674	55 384	57 442	56 228	54 527				
6	58 278	58 026	57 518	57 533	58 258	56 929	58 877	58 204				
7	59 413	58 198	58 636	58 280	57 991	58 578	57 289	59 176				
8	60 237	59 269	58 778	59 467	58 671	58 188	58 814	57 482				
9	62 018	60 246	59 996	59 593	59 907	58 953	58 474	59 100				
10	60 747	62 024	61 032	61 246	60 194	60 349	59 483	58 956				
11	58 505	60 477	62 539	61 431	61 013	60 095	60 317	59 440				
12	57 598	58 632	61 271	63 196	62 046	61 540	60 495	60 627				
13	54 823	57 372	58 675	61 586	63 565	61 952	61 432	60 441				
14	53 592	54 576	57 634	59 061	61 621	63 196	61 707	60 977				
15	50 783	51 271	52 805	55 521	56 847	58 850	60 569	59 465				
16	43 076	42 322	42 790	44 720	46 793	47 516	49 503	51 406				
17	30 816	30 127	30 193	31 128	33 043	34 571	35 592	37 472				
18	7 226	6 677	6 881	7 203	7 271	7 345	7 639	7 714				
19	1 192	1 089	1 211	1 159	1 219	1 148	1 021	1 100				
Total	722 227	723 123	732 644	744 181	750 111	751 421	751 044	749 628				

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), School Numbers at 1 July 2007, table 9, available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/statistics/schooling/july_school_roll_returns/6028/student _numbers_as_at_1_july_2007.

School exclusions, stand downs and suspensions

Table 32 Age-standardized exclusion rates (per 1,000 students) for students aged 0-18 years, by ethnicity, 2000-2007

	Year								
Ethnicity	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	
Mäori	6.4	5.3	5.5	5.5	5.1	5.6	5.6	5.0	
Pasifika	3.5	3.3	3.9	3.3	3.6	3.9	4.2	3.4	
Asian	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	
Other	1.8	2.0	1.8	2.0	3.0	2.8	2.4	3.4	
NZ European	1.7	1.4	1.5	1.5	1.3	1.5	1.3	1.3	
Total	2.7	2.3	2.5	2.4	2.3	2.5	2.5	2.3	

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), Exclusions and Expulsions from School (2007), table 2, available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/indicators/student_participation/schooling/1947.

Table 33
Age-standardized stand-down and suspension rates (per 1,000 students) for students aged 0–18 years, by ethnicity and gender, 2007

Ethnicity	Gender	Stand-downs	Suspensions
Mäori	Female	35.7	8.5
	Male	74.2	20.1
Pasifika	Female	23.2	5.0
	Male	51.3	12.3
Asian	Female	2.5	0.3
	Male	13.0	2.1
Other	Female	19.5	3.5
	Male	44.3	11.1
European/Päkehä	Female	10.8	1.9
	Male	30.6	5.9
Total	Female	17.1	3.6
	Male	41.0	9.4

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), Stand downs and Suspensions from School (2007), table 1, available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/indicators/student_participation/schooling/1939.

- (1) NZAID students (foreign students sponsored by the New Zealand Agency for International Development a branch of MFAT), foreign fee paying students, correspondence school students, adult students (age>19), and private students are excluded.
- (2) For this indicator ethnicity is prioritised in the order of Mäori, Pasifika, Asian, other groups except European/Päkehä, and European/Päkehä.
- (3) For this indicator European/Päkehä refers to people who affiliate as New Zealand European, Other European or European (not further defined). For example, this includes and is not limited to people who consider themselves as Australian (excluding Australian Aborigines), British and Irish, American, Spanish, and Ukrainian.

School engagement

Table 34
Estimated percentage of domestic students staying on at school, by age and ethnicity, 2000–2007

	Age									
	16.5				17.5			18.5		
Year	Total %	Mäori (%)	Pasifika %	Total %	Mäori %	Pasifika %	Total %	Mäori %	Pasifika %	
2000	82.3	66.4	83.3	59.8	40.3	64.4	14.2	9.5	24.0	
2001	79.8	62.6	84.0	57.6	38.4	64.3	13.0	9.6	22.5	
2002	79.8	61.6	81.4	56.9	36.2	64.9	13.1	8.8	21.7	
2003	81.9	62.7	84.1	58.1	36.7	63.7	13.6	8.6	23.0	
2004	81.2	63.7	82.2	60.5	39.5	65.6	13.6	9.2	20.5	
2005	80.5	62.7	83.7	60.0	39.4	66.2	13.5	8.2	19.6	

	Age									
	16.5			17.5			18.5			
Year	Total %	Mäori (%)	Pasifika %	Total %	Mäori %	Pasifika %	Total %	Mäori %	Pasifika %	
2006	80.3	60.8	84.1	60.3	38.9	67.2	13.3	7.8	19.0	
2007	81.3	62.6	85.7	60.8	39.1	68.1	13.1	8.8	18.1	

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), Retention of Students in Secondary Schools (2007), table 3, available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/indicators/student_participation/schooling/1955.

- (1) NZAID students (foreign students sponsored by the New Zealand Agency for International Development a branch of MFAT), and foreign fee paying students are excluded.
- (2) These measures are calculated from aggregate roll return data which capture the age of the students in whole years. Therefore, a student aged 16 on 1 July, could be between 16 years and 0 days and 16 years and 364 days. Statistically it is a measure of those who stay at school to age 16.5 years on average. The same issue applies to retention to the age of 17 and 18.

Table 35
Estimated percentage of domestic students staying on at school, by age and gender (2000–2007)

		Age										
		16.5			17.5			18.5				
Year	Male %	Female %	Total %	Male %	Female %	Total %	Male %	Female %	Total %			
2000	79.7	85.0	82.3	56.3	63.4	59.8	14.7	13.8	14.2			
2001	76.5	83.2	79.8	54.2	61.1	57.6	13.3	12.6	13.0			
2002	76.5	83.3	79.8	52.5	61.6	56.9	13.3	12.9	13.1			
2003	78.6	85.5	81.9	53.9	62.4	58.1	13.7	13.5	13.6			
2004	77.9	84.6	81.2	56.4	64.9	60.5	13.4	13.7	13.6			
2005	77.1	83.9	80.5	55.6	64.5	60.0	13.4	13.6	13.5			
2006	77.1	83.7	80.3	55.9	64.9	60.3	13.3	13.2	13.3			
2007	78.5	84.3	81.3	56.7	65.1	60.8	13.0	13.2	13.1			

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), Retention of Students in Secondary Schools (2007), table 2, available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/indicators/student_participation/schooling/1955.

Notes:

- (1) NZAID students (foreign students sponsored by the New Zealand Agency for International Development a branch of MFAT), and foreign fee paying students are excluded.
- (2) These measures are calculated from aggregate roll return data which capture the age of the students in whole years. Therefore, a student aged 16 on 1 July, could be between 16 years and 0 days and 16 years and 364 days. Statistically it is a measure of those who stay at school to age 16.5 years on average. The same issue applies to retention to the age of 17 and 18.

Table 36
Estimated percentage of domestic students staying on at school, by ethnicity and age, 2006–2007

			Age at leaving s	chool (%)		
	16 years-old and above		17 years-old and above		18 years-old and above	
Ethnicity	2006	2007	2006	2007	2006	2007
Mäori	80.6	91.1	53.4	57.5	20.2	24.1
Pasifika	93.8	96.2	75.4	80.1	36.0	43.8
Asian	98.7	99.3	91.9	94.1	52.6	58.7
Other	98.1	98.7	86.4	88.2	48.7	54.6
European/Päkehä	92.0	96.8	72.2	76.6	31.3	37.0
Total	90.8	95.9	71.1	75.0	32.0	37.4

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), Retention of Students in Secondary Schools (2007), Table 1, available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/indicators/student_participation/schooling/1955.

Table 37 **Early leaving exemption, by ethnicity, 2000–2007**(rates per 1,000 15 year old students)

Ethnicity	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007
Mäori	134.2	139.5	151.5	153.4	138.7	156.9	150.5	73.4
Pasifika	54.9	48.3	52.4	58.4	54.0	62.7	54.3	32.6
Asian	5.1	4.7	6.0	3.9	5.0	3.9	5.1	1.5
European/Päkehä	48.6	53.9	55.2	53.8	55.7	54.9	48.8	23.2
Total	63.4	66.4	69.7	68.9	67.3	71.2	65.3	32.5

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz.

- (1) NZAID students (foreign students sponsored by the New Zealand Agency for International Development a branch of MFAT) and foreign fee paying students are excluded.
- (2) For this indicator ethnicity is prioritised in the order of Mäori, Pasifika, Asian, other groups except European/Päkehä, and European/Päkehä.
- (3) Due to poor coding of the other ethnic group in 2000 and 2001, the ethnic group Other is not shown separately but is included under Total.
- (4) For this indicator European/Päkehä refers to people who affiliate as New Zealand European, Other European or European (not further defined). For example, this includes and is not limited to people who consider themselves as Australian (excluding Australian Aborigines), British and Irish, American, Spanish, and Ukrainian.

Truancy

Table 38 Proportion (%) of standardised frequent and infrequent truancy, by ethnicity and gender, 2006 $\,$

			Standare	dised %
Ethnicity	Gender	Total roll	Frequent truants	Infrequent truants
Mäori	Female	70 190	2.8	18.3
	Male	74 109	2.5	18.5
	Total	144 299	2.7	18.4
Pasifika	Female	30 123	1.9	15.3
	Male	31 201	2.1	17.1
	Total	61 324	2.0	16.2
Asian	Female	25 796	0.4	6.8
	Male	27 451	0.5	8.2
	Total	53 247	0.5	7.5
NZ European	Female	185 607	0.6	7.6
	Male	194 690	0.6	7.3
	Total	380 297	0.6	7.4
Other	Female	9 541	1.0	12.0
	Male	10 531	1.0	11.6
	Total	20 072	1.0	11.8
Total	Female	321 257	1.2	10.5
	Male	337 982	1.1	10.6
	Total	659 239	1.1	10.6

Source: Ministry of Education (2006), Truancy (2006), Table 3, Available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/indicators/student_participation/schooling/1935. Notes:

- (1) Intermittent unjustified absences are absences for part of the day without justification. Students who were unjustifiably absent (but not on an intermittent basis) for three or more days during the week of the survey were identified as frequent truants. All other students who were unjustifiably absent, including on an intermittent basis, at any time during the week were identified as infrequent truants.
 - (2) This measure relates to the number of individuals that truant.
 - (3) Standardised by year level.

School leavers

Table 39

Percentage of school leavers with little or no formal attainment, by ethnicity, 1993–2006

		1	Ethnicity %			
Year	Mäori	Pasifika	Asian	NZ European	Other	Total
1993	33.5	24.8	10.8	10.9	23.4	16.0
1994	34.6	23.7	10.3	11.1	20.5	16.3
1995	35.4	24.3	14.6	12.8	26.7	18.1
1996	39.0	26.6	9.7	13.6	25.6	19.1
1997	37.7	26.2	8.8	12.2	16.9	17.6
1998	38.2	27.4	6.9	12.6	18.0	18.1
1999	35.0	26.7	7.6	12.3	21.2	17.2
2000	32.5	24.4	7.4	12.5	21.7	16.5
2001	33.4	24.8	8.0	12.4	23.6	17.0
2002	34.9	26.3	9.1	13.8	22.1	18.2
2003	30.2	21.4	7.4	11.5	17.1	15.3
2004	25.4	15.9	5.2	9.6	13.4	12.8
2005	25.0	15.2	4.6	9.9	16.4	12.9
2006	21.8	12.2	4.5	8.8	9.0	11.1

Source: Ministry of Education (2006) Data Management Unit, (available from http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/indicators/education_and_learning_outcomes/qualifications/753).

Table 40

Percentage of school leavers making a direct transition to tertiary education, by gender and ethnicity, 2004–2005

		Proportion of school lea	vers
Ethnic group	Gender	2004	2005
Mäori	Female	40%	42%
	Male	35%	37%
	Total	38%	34%
Pasifika	Female	46%	51%
	Male	35%	38%
	Total	40%	45%
Asian	Female	59%	69%
	Male	55%	64%
	Total	57%	66%
European	Female	58%	59%
	Male	58%	60%
	Total	58%	59%

		Proportion of school leavers		
Ethnic group Gender		2004	2005	
Total	Female	53%	56%	
	Male	51%	55%	
	Total	52%	56%	

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), School to Tertiary Transitions (2004-2005), Table TRAN 3, Available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/statistics/tertiary_education/participation.

Notes:

- (1) Data excludes Foreign Fee-Paying students and NZAID scholarship students but include Exchange students.
- (2) Students are identified as a school leaver if they are not in the subsequent years senior secondary school achievement dataset.
- (3) Direct transitions include all those students who entered tertiary education up until the end of the year after they left school.
- (4) School leavers who have a tertiary enrolment in the same year as they left school are assumed to be still at school, and therefore not transitioned, unless the tertiary enrolment is in targeted training, industry training or is full-time.
- (5) Ethnic group relates to the ethnicity that students identify with while in senior secondary school.
- (6) Students who identify with more than one ethnic group have been counted in each group. Consequently, the sum of the students in each group may not add to the total.
- (7) Data relates to students enrolled at any time during the year with a tertiary education provider in formal qualifications of greater than 0.03 EFTS and learners in industry training.
- (8) Data excludes those Private Training Establishments which neither received tuition subsidies nor were approved for student loans or allowances.
 - (9) Totals also include those students with unknown values.

Accessible higher education

Table 41

Participation rates in tertiary education, by ethnicity, age group and gender 2001–2007

						Year			
Ethnicity	Age	Gender	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007
Mäori	Under 18	Female	17.2%	14.1%	13.3%	14.5%	16.8%	13.4%	12.8%
		Male	14.3%	11.5%	12.0%	12.2%	15.0%	12.7%	12.3%
		Total	15.8%	12.8%	12.6%	13.4%	15.9%	13.1%	12.6%
	18–19	Female	41.3%	44.1%	42.0%	41.5%	39.9%	39.5%	39.3%
		Male	28.3%	27.9%	27.7%	27.7%	28.1%	29.3%	29.9%
		Total	34.7%	36.0%	34.9%	34.6%	33.9%	34.5%	34.6%
	20–24	Female	33.1%	39.8%	41.7%	41.4%	38.5%	35.1%	32.8%
		Male	23.2%	24.0%	23.9%	24.2%	23.5%	23.9%	24.3%
		Total	28.3%	32.0%	32.9%	32.8%	31.0%	29.7%	28.7%
Pasifika	Under 18	Female	9.0%	9.3%	8.7%	8.7%	11.3%	8.4%	8.2%
		Male	8.8%	8.0%	8.0%	7.0%	9.4%	6.9%	7.3%

						Year			
Ethnicity	Age	Gender	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007
		Total	8.9%	8.6%	8.3%	7.8%	10.3%	7.6%	7.7%
	18–19	Female	37.6%	40.7%	43.6%	43.2%	44.6%	42.7%	45.1%
		Male	27.7%	29.5%	29.6%	29.8%	29.3%	30.0%	29.9%
		Total	32.7%	35.1%	36.5%	36.5%	36.9%	36.3%	37.4%
	20–24	Female	26.0%	29.6%	31.7%	33.8%	33.1%	30.6%	30.7%
		Male	21.0%	22.1%	22.4%	22.4%	22.9%	22.1%	22.8%
		Total	23.6%	25.9%	27.1%	28.1%	28.0%	26.4%	26.8%
Asian	Under 18	Female	3.7%	4.1%	3.7%	4.6%	7.1%	4.5%	4.0%
		Male	4.1%	4.1%	4.1%	4.7%	7.6%	4.8%	4.2%
		Total	3.9%	4.1%	3.9%	4.6%	7.3%	4.6%	4.1%
	18–19	Female	34.2%	30.3%	30.5%	35.8%	42.4%	45.3%	48.1%
		Male	31.5%	26.6%	27.2%	33.1%	39.2%	43.5%	45.6%
		Total	32.8%	28.3%	28.8%	34.4%	40.7%	44.4%	46.8%
	20–24	Female	33.4%	28.2%	24.1%	24.1%	25.9%	26.2%	27.6%
		Male	34.8%	27.9%	22.6%	21.3%	22.7%	25.8%	27.5%
		Total	34.1%	28.0%	23.3%	22.6%	24.2%	26.0%	27.5%
European	Under 18	Female	8.3%	8.2%	7.9%	8.0%	10.5%	8.0%	7.7%
		Male	9.6%	9.8%	9.5%	10.1%	14.2%	10.5%	10.1%
		Total	9.0%	9.0%	8.7%	9.0%	12.4%	9.2%	8.9%
	18–19	Female	49.1%	48.5%	48.0%	47.8%	47.4%	48.3%	48.7%
		Male	42.5%	43.1%	41.5%	40.7%	41.4%	43.3%	43.7%
		Total	45.7%	45.8%	44.7%	44.2%	44.3%	45.8%	46.1%
	20–24	Female	33.5%	34.8%	35.7%	36.0%	36.2%	34.6%	34.8%
		Male	30.6%	31.4%	31.4%	31.2%	31.6%	32.1%	32.3%
		Total	32.0%	33.1%	33.5%	33.6%	33.9%	33.4%	33.5%
Total	Under 18	Female	11.1%	10.0%	9.0%	9.4%	12.3%	9.2%	8.7%
		Male	10.9%	10.1%	9.9%	10.5%	14.5%	10.8%	10.3%
		Total	11.0%	10.1%	9.5%	10.0%	13.4%	10.0%	9.5%
	18–19	Female	48.6%	47.2%	46.7%	47.9%	48.6%	48.8%	49.6%
		Male	40.6%	39.7%	38.6%	39.5%	40.9%	42.3%	42.7%
		Total	44.6%	43.4%	42.6%	43.6%	44.6%	45.5%	46.0%
	20–24	Female	35.0%	36.1%	36.0%	36.4%	35.9%	34.8%	34.6%
		Male	31.1%	30.8%	29.8%	29.6%	29.7%	30.7%	31.2%
		Total	33.0%	33.5%	32.9%	32.9%	32.8%	32.8%	32.9%

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), Participation (2004-2005), Table PPN 1, Available from: http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/statistics/tertiary_education/participation.

Table 42
Proportion of school-leavers with Higher School Certificate or above, and with NCEA
Level 2 or above, by ethnic group, 1993–2007

Year	Mäori (%)	Pasifika (%)	Asian (%)	Other (%)	European (%)
1993	16.3	23.5	61.7	45.3	42.6
1994	16.0	25.8	62.9	42.2	42.3
1995	14.9	23.7	58.9	35.0	42.5
1996	15.7	25.6	64.1	40.6	44.6
1997	17.9	26.6	66.1	46.4	47.8
1998	18.8	25.8	69.9	49.5	48.0
1999	18.7	24.2	67.2	42.0	44.0
2000	16.5	24.9	64.2	43.0	41.5
2001	16.3	25.2	65.6	37.7	41.4
2002	20.0	30.2	67.6	48.2	46.2
2003	28.8	42.3	75.1	54.2	57.4
2005	32.7	45.3	79.9	55.8	63.0
2006	36.7	49.6	82.2	63.5	65.4
2007	43.9	56.0	84.2	67.0	70.6

Source: Ministry of Education (2007), http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz.

- (1) Due to methodological changes in the allocation of attainment levels in 2004, for leavers achieving a qualification between little or no formal attainment and UE standard, the percentages of leavers with at least NCEA Level 2 in 2004 is not comparable with other years, and has been omitted.
- (2) A direct comparison can not be made between rates up to and including 2002 with rates for 2003 on, due to the change in qualification structure.
- (3) For this indicator ethnicity is prioritised in the order of Mäori, Pasifika, Asian, other groups except European/Päkehä, and European/Päkehä.
- (4) For this indicator European/Päkehä refers to people who affiliate as New Zealand European, Other European or European (not further defined). For example, this includes and is not limited to people who consider themselves as Australian (excluding Australian Aborigines), British and Irish, American, Spanish, and Ukrainian.

Table 43

Participation of 15 to 17 year olds in industry training (including Modern Apprenticeships) by selected industry, 2006

Industry	Age 15	Age 16	Age 17
Agriculture	17	162	286
Horticulture	2	20	54
Building and construction	4	93	319
Building service contractors	0	10	7
Infrastructure	0	8	28
Joinery	2	15	39
Plumbers, etc.	0	20	63
Engineering, food, and manufacturing	4	91	258
Painting	0	20	51

Industry	Age 15	Age 16	Age 17
Retail meat	4	20	46

Source: Tertiary Education Commission.

Part 8 Special protection measures

Children in situations of emergency (arts. 22, 38, and 39)

Refugee children (art. 22)

NB: We do not have internally displaced children in New Zealand – therefore, the data provided does not include this. The data provided does not include country of origin, only nationality.

Table 44 Child refugee status claimants (asylum-seekers) in New Zealand from 1 July 1997 to 13 February 2008, by age and gender

		Gender		
Age	Male	Female	Unknown	Total
0	42	42	0	84
1	57	45	0	102
2	65	41	0	106
3	55	58	1	114
4	70	57	2	129
5	49	40	0	89
6	60	56	0	116
7	58	57	0	115
8	59	56	1	116
9	48	56	1	105
10	63	48	0	111
11	46	44	0	90
12	64	52	0	116
13	48	44	1	93
14	47	36	0	83
15	52	35	1	88
16	55	47	0	102
17	61	49	1	111
Total	999	863	8	1 870

Source: The Department of Labour (Immigration New Zealand's Application Management System).

Table 45 Child refugees granted Refugee Status by Immigration New Zealand (approvals) from 1 July 1997 to 13 February 2008, by age and gender

		Gender				
Age	Male	Female	Unknown	Total		
0	18	19	0	37		
1	17	12	0	29		
2	21	10	0	31		
3	25	16	0	41		
4	22	13	0	35		
5	13	11	0	24		
6	22	13	0	35		
7	21	14	0	35		
8	19	13	0	32		
9	13	13	0	26		
10	18	8	0	26		
11	14	12	0	26		
12	18	18	0	36		
13	20	13	0	33		
14	18	9	0	27		
15	14	8	0	22		
16	25	17	0	42		
17	15	18	1	34		
Total	333	237	1	571		

Source: The Department of Labour (Immigration New Zealand's Application Management System).

Table 46 Children resettled to New Zealand under the Refugee Quota Programme from 1 July 1997 to 13 February 2008, by age and gender

	Gender		
Age	Male	Female	Total
0	71	72	143
1	47	61	108
2	65	51	116
3	59	51	110
4	53	59	112
5	58	64	122
6	61	65	126
7	75	64	139
8	72	65	137

	Gender		
Age	Male	Female	Total
9	79	63	142
10	66	66	132
11	72	79	151
12	66	69	135
13	89	61	150
14	74	83	157
15	76	63	139
16	83	70	153
17	77	77	154
Total	1 243	1 183	2 426

Source: The Department of Labour (Immigration New Zealand's Application Management System).

Programmes to support the integration of refugee children into New Zealand society

Table 47
ESOL funding for students from migrant and refugee backgrounds, 2004/05–2007/08

		\$Million		
ESOL allocation to schools	2004/5	2005/6	2006/7	2007/8
Previous level of funding	14.274	14.061	14.061	14.061
Funding increase	2.857	6.599	9.446	10.180
Total	17.131	20.660	23.507	24.242

Source: Ministry of Education, English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) Funding Policy, Available from: http://www.minedu.govt.nz/educationSectors/Schools/SchoolOperations/English ForSpeakersOfOtherLanguages/ESOLFundingPolicy.aspx.

Children in armed conflicts (art. 38), including physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration (art. 39)

Age of recruitment into the armed services

Table 48
Number of young people aged under 18 years in the defence force 2007

Non-civilians				G: :I:	NZ Defence
Navy	Army	Air	Regular Force	Civilians	Force Total
48	87	18	153	2	155

 $Source: \ New \ Zealand \ Defence \ Force \ (ATLAS \ database).$

Note:

(1) All under 18 year old defence force personnel are aged 17.

Children in conflict with the law & the administration of Juvenile Justice (art. 37, 29, and 40)

Juvenile Justice (art. 37 (b), (c) and (d))

Table 49

Number of detentions in child, youth and family residences, by ethnicity, from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2007

	Ethnicity					
Gender	NZ Mäori	Pasifika	NZ/Päkehä	Other	Not recorded	Total
Male	489	114	205	26	8	842
Female	91	7	28	10	c	140
Unknown or not entered	8	6	c	c	c	16
Total	588	127	234	37	12	998

Source: Ministry of Social Development: from Child, Youth and Family June 2003–June 2007 (Child, Youth and Family Residential Services).

Note:

(1) ...c represents numbers suppressed for confidentiality reasons due to being under 5.

Table 50 Number of under-18-year-old remand prisoners as at 27 February 2008, by ethnicity and gender

				Total		
Mäori	Pasifika	European	Other	Male	Female	Total
16	9	12	0	36	1	37

Source: Department of Corrections, (Corrections Analysis and Reporting System).

Table 51 Number of sentenced under-18-year-olds as at 27 February 2008, ethnicity and gender

				Total		
Mäori	Pasifika	Asian	European	Male	Female	Total
28	11	1	12	48	4	52

Source: Department of Corrections, (Corrections Analysis and Reporting System).

Disability - Chapter 9

Children with disabilities (art. 23)

Table 52

Number of population	(000) aged	0–14 with	disability,	by gender,	and main cau	ıse
2006						

Gender	Main cause	0–4	5–9	10–14	Total
Female	Disease/illness	1.8	3.8	3.3	8.9
	Birth	2.9	8	7.9	18.8

Gender	Main cause	0–4	5–9	10–14	Total
	Accident or injury	c	c	1.3	1.5
	Other cause	2.2	2.8	2.8	7.8
	Not specified	c	1.8	1.5	4.2
	Total	6.9	14	15.6	36.5
Male	Disease/illness	2.3	5.3	7	14.6
	Birth	4.7	10.5	12.7	27.8
	Accident or injury	c	c	c	с
	Other cause	c	2.9	5.5	9.3
	Not specified	c	2.8	2.8	6.4
	Total	8.1	19.4	2.6	53.5
Total	Disease/illness	4.1	9.1	10.4	23.5
	Birth	7.6	18.5	20.6	46.6
	Accident or injury	c	c	2	2.5
	Other cause	3.1	5.6	8.3	17.1
	Not specified	1.6	4.6	4.4	10.6
	Total	15	33.4	41.6	90

Source: Statistics New Zealand (2007) Disability Survey 2006, data from Table Builder, Available from http://wdmzpub01.stats.govt.nz/wds/TableViewer/dimView.aspx.

Notes

⁽¹⁾ Any individual may appear in the table more than once. Therefore the columns will not sum to the given totals.

⁽²⁾ Some estimates in the datacubes have been suppressed for quality reasons because they are too unreliable for most practical purposes. In 2006, estimates of less than 1000 have been suppressed.